QUANTUM GROTHENDIECK RING ISOMORPHISMS, CLUSTER ALGEBRAS AND KAZHDAN-LUSZTIG ALGORITHM

DAVID HERNANDEZ AND HIRONORI OYA

ABSTRACT. We establish ring isomorphisms between quantum Grothendieck rings of certain remarkable monoidal categories $C_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ and $C_{\mathcal{Q},A_{2n-1}}$ of finite-dimensional representations of quantum affine algebras of types $B_n^{(1)}$ and $A_{2n-1}^{(1)}$, respectively. Our proof relies in part on the corresponding quantum cluster algebra structures. Moreover, we prove that our isomorphisms specialize at t = 1 to the isomorphisms of (classical) Grothendieck rings obtained recently by Kashiwara, Kim and Oh by other methods. As a consequence, we prove a conjecture formulated by the first author in 2002 : the multiplicities of simple modules in standard modules in $C_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ are given by the specialization of certain analogues of Kazhdan-Lusztig polynomials and the coefficients of these polynomials are positive.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Quantum loop algebras and their representation theory	5
3.	The monoidal subcategories associated with quivers	10
4.	Quantum tori	19
5.	Quantum tori for quantized coordinate algebras	23
6.	The isomorphism between quantum tori	26
7.	Quantum Grothendieck rings	31
8.	Quantized coordinate algebras	35
9.	Quantum T -system for type B	38
10.	The isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}$	40
11.	Corollaries of the isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}$	44
12.	Comparison between type A and B	48
Ap	pendix A. The inverse of the quantum Cartan matrix of type B_n	56
Ap	pendix B. Quantum cluster algebras	59
Ap	pendix C. Unipotent quantum minors	60
Ref	Terences	62

1. INTRODUCTION

Cluster algebras can be realized in terms of various important monoidal categories, such as finite-dimensional representations of quantum affine algebras, perverse sheaves on quiver varieties, representations of quiver-Hecke algebras, equivariant perverse coherent sheaves on the affine Grassmannian... (see the very recent [6] and [28] for a review).

Key words and phrases. Quantum affine algebras, Quantum Grothendieck rings, Kazhdan-Lusztig algorithm, T-systems, Quantum cluster algebras, Dual canonical bases.

In this paper, inspired by this general framework of monoidal categorifications, we get new results on the representation theory of quantum affine algebras and on the positivity of certain corresponding Kazhdan-Lusztig polynomials.

Let $\mathcal{U}_q(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ be an untwisted quantum affine algebra of quantum parameter $q \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ which is not a root of unity. Consider \mathcal{C} to be the monoidal category of finite-dimensional representations of the algebra $\mathcal{U}_q(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ (those representations are also regarded as representations of a quantum loop algebra $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$). This category has been studied from several geometric, algebraic, combinatorial perspectives in connections to various fields, see [51, 38, 17] for important recent developments and [11] for a very recent point of view in the context of physics.

The category C is non-semisimple, and non-braided. It has a very intricate structure and many basic questions are still open. The simple objects in C have been classified by Chari-Pressley in terms of Drinfeld polynomials [8], but the dimensions and characters of these simple objects are not known in general.

The fundamental modules in \mathcal{C} are distinguished simple modules whose classes generate its Grothendieck ring $K(\mathcal{C})$. (We do not distinguish the term "module" from "representation" in this paper.) For simply-laced types, Nakajima established in [54] a remarkable Kazhdan-Lusztig algorithm to compute the multiplicity $P_{m,m'}$ of a simple module L(m') in a standard module M(m), that is, a tensor product of fundamental modules. Here m, m' belong to an ordered set of monomials \mathcal{M} which parametrizes both simple and standard objects. This allows one to calculate the classes of simple modules $[L(m)] \in K(\mathcal{C})$ in terms of the classes of fundamental modules. As the dimensions and characters of the latter are known, this gives an answer to the problem of calculating the dimensions and characters of arbitrary simple objects : the multiplicities $P_{m,m'}$ are proved to be the evaluation at t = 1 of analogues $P_{m,m'}(t)$ of Kazhdan-Lusztig polynomials. These polynomials are constructed from the structure of the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C})$, which is a t-deformation of $K(\mathcal{C})$ in a certain quantum torus [54, 60]. Besides it is proved that the coefficients of the polynomials $P_{m,m'}(t)$ are positive, as well as the structure constants of the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C})$ on a canonical basis whose elements are called (q, t)-characters of simple modules. These results are based on the geometric construction of standard modules in terms of quiver varieties known only for simply-laced types (note however that geometric character formulas for standard modules have been obtained in [31] for all types).

The existence of an algorithm to compute the multiplicity of a simple module in a standard module is still not known in the case of non-simply-laced untwisted quantum affine algebras. A conjectural answer was proposed by the first author in [23] by giving another construction of the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C})$ and the corresponding polynomials $P_{m,m'}(t)$ which can be extended to general types. This leads to a general precise conjectural formula for the multiplicity of simple modules in standard modules

(1.1)
$$[M(m)] = [L(m)] + \sum_{m' < m} P_{m,m'}(1)[L(m')],$$

where < is the partial ordering on monomials as above. Besides it is not clear from [23] that the polynomials $P_{m,m'}(t)$ have positive coefficients (although it has been checked in numerous cases by computer). As far as the authors know, these two independent conjectures, (1.1) and positivity, are completely open at the moment. In the present paper, we establish these conjectures for certain remarkable monoidal categories in the case of type $B_n^{(1)}$.

For a simply-laced type $X_n^{(1)}$, the category \mathcal{C} has interesting monoidal subcategories $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},X_n}$ introduced in [30] depending on a quiver \mathcal{Q} whose underlying graph is the Dynkin diagram of type X_n. This monoidal subcategory C_{Q,X_n} is sometimes called a Hernandez-Leclerc subcategory. It is proved in [30] that the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{Q,X_n})$ is isomorphic to the quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_{-}^{X_n}]$ of type X_n (it was recently established [16] that certain completions of these categories have a structure of affine highest weight category). For type $B_n^{(1)}$, analogues $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ of the categories \mathcal{C}_{Q,X_n} were defined in [57]. In this paper, we establish an analogue of the isomorphism in [30] for $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$:

(1.2)
$$K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}) \simeq \mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]$$

(Theorem 10.1, Corollary 10.2). One notable point about this isomorphism is that the quantized coordinate algebra side is of type A_{2n-1} , and not of type B_n .

In the proof of (1.2), we use the quantum cluster structure of the quantized coordinate algebras as follows. We first show the isomorphism between ambient quantum tori of $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{Q},B_n})$ and $\mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_{-}^{A_{2n-1}}]$. The former arises from the definition of (truncated) (q,t)-characters and the latter comes from the quantum cluster algebra structure of $\mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_{-}^{A_{2n-1}}]$. Then we prove the correspondence between distinguished systems of relations : the quantum *T*-system of type B that we establish in $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{Q},B_n})$ (Theorem 9.6) and some specific mutation sequence in the quantum cluster algebra structure. This strategy is partially in line with the one in [30] aside from some technical differences. For example, we do not know a priori some positivity properties of (truncated) (q, t)-characters for type $B_n^{(1)}$.

As an immediate corollary of (1.2), we can say that $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n})$ has a quantum cluster algebra structure coming from that of $\mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_{-}^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]$. Then the initial quiver for this quantum cluster algebra structure is nothing but a subquiver of the quiver introduced by the first author and Leclerc [31] which is defined for a subcategory of the category \mathcal{C} of type $B_n^{(1)}$. See Remarks 6.2 and 10.3.

We also show that the isomorphism (1.2) maps a basis $\{L_t(m)\}_m$ of $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{Q},B_n})$ parametrized by simple modules L(m) in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{Q},B_n}$ (called the (q,t)-characters of the simple modules L(m) as above) to the dual canonical basis of the quantized coordinate algebra in the sense of Lusztig and Kashiwara. This implies the positivity property conjectured in [23] for the category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{Q},B_n}$:

(P1) The positivity of the coefficients of the polynomials $P_{m,m'}(t)$.

As a by-product we also establish two additional positivity properties :

- (P2) The positivity of structure constants of the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n})$.
- (P3) The positivity of the coefficients of the truncated (q, t)-characters of L(m).

As mentioned before, the following isomorphism was proved in [30]:

(1.3)
$$K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},A_{2n-1}}) \simeq \mathcal{A}_{t^{-1}}[N_-^{A_{2n-1}}].$$

Combining (1.3) with our isomorphism (1.2), we obtain an isomorphism between quantum Grothendieck rings

(1.4)
$$K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}) \simeq K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},A_{2n-1}}).$$

Here we should note that $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ is determined by the Dynkin quiver \mathcal{Q}' of type A_{2n-2} , which is irrelevant to the A_{2n-1} -quiver \mathcal{Q} , and some additional data $\flat \in \{>,<\}$. See section 3 for details (the category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ above is denoted by $\mathcal{C}_{(\mathcal{Q}')^{\flat}}$ there). Since the isomorphism (1.3) also restricts to a bijection between the basis consisting of the (q, t)-characters of simple modules and the dual canonical basis, the isomorphism (1.4) induces a bijection between the (q, t)-characters of simple modules in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},A_{2n-1}}$. See also Remark 12.3.

We note that similarities between finite-dimensional modules of type A and B quantum affine algebras had been observed in [26]. The Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules are certain simple objects in \mathcal{C} generalizing fundamental modules. It is proved they are *thin* in types A and B, that is, they have multiplicity-free Frenkel-Reshetikhin q-characters [15], and that these qcharacters have analogous explicit formulas in both types (certain (q, t)-characters of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules are used in the construction of $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n})$).

To prove that the elements $\{L_t(m)\}_m$ specialize to the classes of simple modules as $t \to 1$, and to establish the formula (1.1) in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$, we combine our results with those of Kashiwara, Kim and Oh [43, 42]. These authors used different tools as in the present paper, namely generalized quantum affine Schur-Weyl duality [33], to construct an isomorphism $K(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}) \simeq$ $K(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},A_{2n-1}})$ between *classical* Grothendieck rings. Moreover they proved their isomorphism preserves the basis of simple modules. We show that our isomorphism (1.4) of quantum Grothendieck rings specializes at t = 1 to their isomorphism (note that, as far as the authors know, the isomorphism (1.4) can not be deduced directly from the results of the papers [43, 42]). This coincidence implies for the category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ that the (q,t)-character $L_t(m)$ specializes to the q-character of L(m) as conjectured by the first author in [23]. In particular the conjectural formula (1.1) holds for this category ¹.

We obtain also the explicit correspondence of (q, t)-characters of simple modules under (1.4) for special quivers. This is computed from the formulas for the change of the Lusztig parametrizations of the dual canonical basis associated with a change of reduced words. We observe that (1.4) does not preserve any of the classes of modules one might naturally expect (e.g. fundamental or Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules). See Examples 12.11 and 12.12. When the authors started to work on this correspondence, the paper [42] of Kashiwara, Kim and Oh appeared, and they also compute such correspondence in a different way. Our correspondence from type $A_{2n-1}^{(1)}$ to type $B_n^{(1)}$ coincides with the correspondence in [42, section 3] up to shift of spectral parameters when we restrict it to $C_{Q,A_{2n-1}}$. We note that we also describe the correspondence from type $B_n^{(1)}$ to type $A_{2n-1}^{(1)}$ in this paper, which seems not to be written in [43] and [42].

Some parts of the proof in this paper, in particular for the quantum T-systems, rely on the thinness of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules discussed above. Although this property is not satisfied in general, it is satisfied by fundamental modules in types C and G₂ [26], which gives hope to get analogous results in these situations. We plan to come back to this in another paper.

We expect that we could also study the whole category \mathcal{C} of type $B_n^{(1)}$ by "gluing" (infinitely many) copies of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$ together (cf. [30, subsection 1.5, sections 7, 8]). For example, we hope that we could describe a structure of $K_t(\mathcal{C})$ by revealing how the copies of $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n})$ are "patched" in $K_t(\mathcal{C})$. In simply-laced cases, a "patching" of $K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},X_n})$ was calculated in a uniform manner in [30] by means of derived Hall algebras, whose analogues for non-simplylaced cases are not known now. We also plan to discuss the whole category \mathcal{C} in a future paper.

Moreover, the meaning of the quantum Grothendieck ring $K_t(\mathcal{C})$ in terms of the structure of the category \mathcal{C} has not been clarified in non-simply-laced cases yet. Hence it is not known

¹Another approach is also developed by the first author in a paper in preparation.

at the moment whether the isomorphism (1.4) arises as an equivalence of categories, but it is certainly a question we would like to address.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we briefly recall the definitions of quantum loop algebras and their finite-dimensional representation theory. In section 3, we explain the definition of the remarkable monoidal categories considered in this paper following [30] and [57]. Here we also show the important *convexity* of twisted Auslander-Reiten quivers (Lemma 3.22). In section 4, we recall the definition of quantum tori which will be ambient spaces of (q, t)-characters. The important data are the inverses of quantum Cartan matrices. Their explicit form for type B is provided in Example 4.2 and 4.3, and its calculation is explained in Appendix A. In section 5, we explain another kind of quantum tori, that is, the quantum tori arising from the quantum cluster algebra structures of quantized coordinate algebras. In section 6, we prove the isomorphism between these two kinds of quantum tori as explained just after (1.2). In section 7, we recall the definition of the quantum Grothendieck rings and the (q, t)-characters of standard modules and simple modules. In section 8, we briefly recall the basics of quantized coordinate algebras including (normalized) unipotent quantum minors, quantum determinantal identities, (normalized) dual Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt type bases and dual canonical bases. In section 9, we prove the quantum T-system for type $B_n^{(1)}$ relying on a feature of type $B_n^{(1)}$: the thinness of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules. In section 10, we prove the isomorphism (1.2) together with the correspondence between (q, t)-characters of simple modules and dual canonical basis elements. In section 11, we give the proof of the positivities (P1)-(P3) and explain the coincidence between our isomorphism and the isomorphism established by Kashiwara and Oh [43], which implies (1.1) in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q},B_n}$. In section 12, we provide the explicit correspondence of simple modules under (1.4) for some explicit quivers.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank Bernard Leclerc for helpful comments. They are also thankful to the anonymous referee whose suggestions improve the present paper. The authors were supported by the European Research Council under the European Union's Framework Programme H2020 with ERC Grant Agreement number 647353 Qaffine.

- 1.1. The following are general notation and convention in this paper.
 - (1) For some proposition \wp , we set

$$\delta(\wp) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \wp \text{ holds,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

(2) For a totally ordered set $J = \{ \dots < j_{-1} < j_0 < j_1 < j_2 < \dots \}$, write

$$\overrightarrow{\prod}_{j\in J} A_j := \cdots A_{j_{-1}} A_{j_0} A_{j_1} A_{j_2} \cdots, \qquad \overrightarrow{\bigotimes}_{j\in J} A_j := \cdots A_{j_{-1}} \otimes A_{j_0} \otimes A_{j_1} \otimes A_{j_2} \cdots.$$

(3) For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, a subset $\sigma \subset \mathbb{Z}$ is called a *k*-segment if σ is of the form $\{\ell + sk \mid s = 0, \ldots, t\}$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $t \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

2. QUANTUM LOOP ALGEBRAS AND THEIR REPRESENTATION THEORY

In this section, we give reminders on quantum loop algebras, their finite-dimensional modules and the corresponding q-character theory. **2.1.** Quantum loop algebras. Let \mathfrak{g} be a complex simple Lie algebra of type X_N ($X_N = A_N, B_N, C_N, \ldots, G_2$), and \mathfrak{h} be a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} . Set $I := \{1, \ldots, N\}$ and let $\{\alpha_i \mid i \in I\}$ (resp. $\{h_i \mid i \in I\}$) be the set of simple roots (resp. coroots), Δ_+ the set of positive roots. Let $C = (c_{ij})_{i,j\in I} = (\langle h_i, \alpha_j \rangle)_{i,j\in I}$ be the Cartan matrix of \mathfrak{g} . We follow the labelling in [32, §4.8]. Write $Q := \sum_{i\in I} \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$, called the root lattice of \mathfrak{g} , and set $P := \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^* \mid \langle h_i, \lambda \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all $i \in I\}$, called the weight lattice of \mathfrak{g} . For $i \in I$, define $\varpi_i \in P$ as the element such that $\langle h_j, \varpi_i \rangle = \delta_{ij}$ for $j \in I$, which is called an fundamental weight. Set $P_+ := \sum_{i\in I} \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \varpi_i$, $Q_+ := \sum_{i\in I} \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \alpha_i$, and $\rho := \sum_{i\in I} \varpi_i \in P_+$. We define a partial order \leq on P by $\beta \leq \beta'$ if and only if $\beta' - \beta \in Q_+$.

Let W be the Weyl group of \mathfrak{g} , that is, the group generated by $\{s_i\}_{i\in I}$ with the defining relations $s_i^2 = e$ for $i \in I$ and $(s_i s_j)^{m_{ij}} = e$ for $i, j \in I$, $i \neq j$, where e is the unit of W and $m_{ij} := 2$ (resp. 3, 4, 6) if $c_{ij}c_{ji} = 0$ (resp. 1, 2, 3). We have the group homomorphisms $W \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathfrak{h}$ and $W \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathfrak{h}^*$ given by

$$s_i(h) = h - \langle h, \alpha_i \rangle h_i$$
 $s_i(\mu) = \mu - \langle h_i, \mu \rangle \alpha_i$

for $h \in \mathfrak{h}$ and $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}^*$. For an element w of W, $\ell(w)$ denotes the length of w, that is, the smallest integer ℓ such that there exist $i_1, \ldots, i_\ell \in I$ with $w = s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_\ell}$. It is well-known that there exists a unique element w_0 such that $\ell(w) \leq \ell(w_0)$ for all $w \in W$, which is called the longest element of W. For $w \in W$, set

$$I(w) := \{ \mathbf{i} = (i_1, \dots, i_{\ell(w)}) \in I^{\ell(w)} \mid w = s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_{\ell(w)}} \}.$$

An element of I(w) is called a reduced word of w.

Let (-, -) the symmetric \mathbb{C} -bilinear form on \mathfrak{h}^* such that

- (a) $\langle h_i, \alpha_j \rangle = 2 \frac{(\alpha_i, \alpha_j)}{(\alpha_i, \alpha_i)}$ for $i, j \in I$, here left-hand side is the canonical paring of h_i and α_j ,
- (b) $\min\{(\alpha_i, \alpha_i) \mid i \in I\} = 2.$

Note that this bilinear form (-, -) is W-invariant. Set

$$r_i := \frac{(\alpha_i, \alpha_i)}{2}$$

for $i \in I$, and $D := (\delta_{ij}r_i)_{i,j \in I}$. Let $B = (b_{ij})_{i,j \in I} := DC$. Then we have

$$b_{ij} = (\alpha_i, \alpha_j)$$

for $i, j \in I$, in particular, B is symmetric.

Notation 2.1. Let x be a non-zero complex number which is not a root of unity or an indeterminate. Set

$$x_{i} := x^{r_{i}}, [n]_{x} := \frac{x^{n} - x^{-n}}{x - x^{-1}} \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{x} := \begin{cases} \frac{[n]_{x}[n-1]_{x} \cdots [n-k+1]_{x}}{[k]_{x}[k-1]_{x} \cdots [1]_{x}} & \text{if } n \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}, \\ 1 & \text{if } n \in \mathbb{Z}, k = 0, \end{cases}$$

Note that $[n], \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}[x^{\pm 1}]$ if x is an indeterminate.

Let q be a non-zero complex number which is not a root of unity.

Definition 2.2 ([12, 2]). The quantum loop algebra $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})(=\mathcal{U}_q(X_N^{(1)}))$ of type $X_N^{(1)}$ is the \mathbb{C} -algebra defined by the generators

$$k_i^{\pm 1}(i \in I), x_{i,r}^{\pm}((i,r) \in I \times \mathbb{Z}), h_{i,r}((i,r) \in I \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\})),$$

and the relations below :

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{(I)} \ k_{i}k_{i}^{-1} = 1 = k_{i}^{-1}k_{i}, \ k_{i}k_{j} = k_{j}k_{i} \ \text{for } i, j \in I, \\ \text{(II)} \ k_{i}x_{j,r}^{\pm} = q_{i}^{\pm c_{ij}}x_{j,r}^{\pm}k_{i} \ \text{for } i, j \in I, \\ r \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ \text{(III)} \ [k_{i},h_{j,r}] = 0 \ \text{for } i, j \in I, \\ r \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}, \\ \text{(IV)} \ [k_{i,r}^{+}, x_{j,s}^{-}] = \delta_{ij}\frac{\phi_{i,r+s}^{+} - \phi_{i,r+s}^{-}}{q_{i} - q_{i}^{-1}} \ \text{for } (i, r), \\ (j, s) \in I \times \mathbb{Z}, \\ \text{(V)} \ [h_{i,r}, x_{j,s}^{\pm}] = \pm \frac{[rc_{ij}]q_{i}}{r}x_{j,r+s}^{\pm} \ \text{for } (i, r) \in I \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}), \\ (j, s) \in I \times \mathbb{Z}, \\ \text{(VI)} \ [h_{i,r}, h_{j,s}] = 0 \ \text{for } (i, r), \\ (j, s) \in I \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}), \\ (\text{VII)} \ x_{i,r+1}^{\pm}x_{j,s}^{\pm} - q^{\pm(\alpha_{i},\alpha_{j})}x_{i,r}^{\pm}x_{j,s+1}^{\pm} = q^{\pm(\alpha_{i},\alpha_{j})}x_{j,s}^{\pm}x_{i,r+1}^{\pm} - x_{j,s+1}^{\pm}x_{i,r}^{\pm} \ \text{for } (i, r), \\ (j, s) \in I \times \mathbb{Z}, \\ (\text{VIII)} \ \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{1-c_{ij}}} \sum_{k=0}^{1-c_{ij}} (-1)^{k} \left[\begin{array}{c} 1 - c_{ij} \\ k \end{array} \right]_{q_{i}} x_{i,r_{\sigma(1)}}^{\pm} \cdots x_{i,r_{\sigma(k)}}^{\pm}x_{j,s}^{\pm}x_{i,r_{\sigma(k+1)}}^{\pm} \cdots x_{i,r_{\sigma(1-c_{ij})}}^{\pm} = 0 \ \text{for } i, j \in I \times \mathbb{Z}, \\ I \ \text{with } i \neq j, \ \text{and } r_{1}, \dots, r_{1-c_{ij}}, s \in \mathbb{Z}, \end{array} \right$$

where

$$\phi_i^{\pm}(z) := \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \phi_{i,\pm r}^{\pm} z^{\pm r} = k_i^{\pm 1} \exp\left(\pm (q_i - q_i^{-1}) \sum_{r>0} h_{i,\pm r} z^{\pm r}\right).$$

The quantum loop algebra is a quotient of the corresponding quantum affine algebra and has a Hopf algebra structure which is defined via another realization of $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ (called the Drinfeld-Jimbo presentation). See, for example, [7] for more details.

2.2. Finite-dimensional representations. A finite-dimensional $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ -module is said to be of *type 1* if the eigenvalues of $\{k_i \mid i \in I\}$ are of the form $q^m, m \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let \mathcal{C} be the category of type 1 finite-dimensional $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ -modules.

Since the elements $\{h_{i,r}, k_i \mid (i,r) \in I \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\})\}$ mutually commute, we have a decomposition

$$V = \bigoplus_{\boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_{i,\pm r}^{\pm})_{i \in I, r \ge 0}} V_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}$$

such that

 $V_{\gamma} = \{ v \in V \mid \text{for all } i, r, \text{ there exists } p_{i,\pm r} > 0 \text{ such that } (\phi_{i,\pm r}^{\pm} - \gamma_{i,\pm r}^{\pm})^{p_{i,\pm r}} . v = 0 \}.$

The series γ is called *l*-weights and V_{γ} is called an *l*-weight space if $V_{\gamma} \neq 0$.

Let L be a simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} . Then there uniquely exists an l-weight space L_{γ_0} such that $x_{i,r}^+.L_{\gamma_0} = 0$ for all $i \in I$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ [8, subsection 12.2]. The isomorphism class of a simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} is determined by such γ_0 (called *the l-highest weight*). Moreover, we have the following :

Theorem 2.3 ([9, Theorem 3.3], [8, Theorem 12.2.6]). If $\gamma = (\gamma_{i,\pm r}^{\pm})_{i\in I,r\geq 0}$ is an *l*-highest weight of a simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} , then there uniquely exists $P_i(z) \in \mathbb{C}[z]$ with $P_i(0) = 1$

for $i \in I$ such that

(2.1)
$$\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{i,\pm r}^{\pm} z^{\pm r} = q_i^{\deg(P_i)} \frac{P_i(zq_i^{-1})}{P_i(zq_i)}$$

as elements of $\mathbb{C}[\![z]\!]$ and $\mathbb{C}[\![z^{-1}]\!]$, respectively. Conversely, for any $(P_i(z))_{i\in I} \in \mathbb{C}[z]^I$ with $P_i(0) = 1$ for $i \in I$, we have a simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} with the *l*-highest γ given by (2.1).

This *I*-tuple of polynomials $(P_i(z))_{i \in I}$ corresponding to a simple module *L* is called the Drinfeld polynomials of *L*.

2.3. *q*-characters. The *q*-character, introduced by Frenkel and Reshetikhin [15], is an important tool for the study of finite-dimensional modules over quantum loop algebras. In this subsection, we briefly recall their definition and properties. See, for example, [7] for the survey of this topic.

Frenkel and Reshetikhin [15, Proposition 1] proved that any *l*-weight γ of a $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ -module in \mathcal{C} is of the form

$$\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{i,\pm r}^{\pm} z^{\pm r} = q_i^{\deg(Q_i) - \deg(R_i)} \frac{Q_i(zq_i^{-1})R_i(zq_i)}{Q_i(zq_i)R_i(zq_i^{-1})}$$

as elements of $\mathbb{C}[\![z]\!]$ and $\mathbb{C}[\![z^{-1}]\!]$, respectively, for some $Q_i(z), R_i(z) \in \mathbb{C}[z]$ with $Q_i(0) = R_i(0) = 1$. For this γ , define a monomial m_{γ} in the Laurent polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,a}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}]$ over \mathbb{Z} with infinitely many variables by

$$m_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} := \prod_{i \in I, a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}} Y_{i,a}^{q_{i,a}-r_{i,a}},$$

where

$$Q_i = \prod_{a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}} (1 - za)^{q_{i,a}} \qquad \qquad R_i = \prod_{a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}} (1 - za)^{r_{i,a}}.$$

Let $K(\mathcal{C})$ be the Grothendieck ring of \mathcal{C} .

Theorem 2.4 ([15, Theorem 3]). The assignment

$$[V] \mapsto \sum_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}: l\text{-weights}} \dim(V_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}) m_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}.$$

defines an injective algebra homomorphism $\chi_q \colon K(\mathcal{C}) \to \mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,a}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}].$

The map χ_q is called the *q*-character homomorphism. A monomial which is a product of only positive powers of $Y_{i,a}$'s is said to be *dominant*. Write the simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} with *l*-highest weight γ as $L(m_{\gamma})$. Then, by Theorem 2.3, m_{γ} is dominant, and the dominant monomials classify the simple $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module in \mathcal{C} up to isomorphism.

Proposition 2.5 ([9, Corollary 3.5]). Let m and m' be dominant monomials. Then L(mm') is isomorphic to a quotient of the submodule of $L(m) \otimes L(m')$ generated by the tensor product of vectors in their *l*-highest weight spaces.

For
$$i \in I$$
 and $a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, set

$$A_{i,a} := Y_{i,aq_i^{-1}} Y_{i,aq_i} \left(\prod_{j: c_{ji} = -1} Y_{j,a}^{-1} \right) \left(\prod_{j: c_{ji} = -2} Y_{j,aq^{-1}}^{-1} Y_{j,aq}^{-1} \right) \left(\prod_{j: c_{ji} = -3} Y_{j,aq^{-2}}^{-1} Y_{j,a}^{-1} Y_{j,aq^{2}}^{-1} \right).$$

Define a partial ordering on the set of monomials in $\mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,a}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}]$ as follows :

 $m \leq m'$ if and only if $m(m')^{-1}$ is a product of elements of $\{A_{i,a}^{-1} \mid i \in I, a \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}\}$.

This is called *the Nakajima ordering*, which is considered as a refinement of the usual Chevalley ordering \leq on *P*.

Theorem 2.6 ([13, Theorem 4.1]). Let m be a dominant monomial. Then all monomials appearing in $\chi_q(L(m)) - m$ are strictly less than m with respect to the Nakajima ordering.

Let \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} be the full subcategory of \mathcal{C} consisting of the objects all of whose composition factors are isomorphic to simple modules whose Drinfeld polynomials have their roots in $\{q^r \mid r \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. In fact, the description of the simple modules in \mathcal{C} essentially reduces to the description of the simple modules in \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} . See [29, subsection 3.7] for more details. Note that \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} is stable by taking subquotient, tensor product and extension.

Let $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$ be the Grothendieck ring of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} . Then this is a subalgebra of $K(\mathcal{C})$ and the q-character homomorphism restricts to the \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism

$$K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,q^r}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}],$$

which will be also denoted by χ_q [13, Lemma 6.1].

In this paper, we always work in the subcategory \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} . From now on, we write $Y_{i,r} := Y_{i,q^r}$, $A_{i,r} := A_{i,q^r}$ and $\mathcal{Y} := \mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,r}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}].$

Proposition 2.7 ([15, Corollary 2]). The \mathbb{Z} -algebra $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$ is isomorphic to the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[X_{i,r} \mid i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}]$ via $[L(Y_{i,r})] \mapsto X_{i,r}$.

For a monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , write

(2.2)
$$m = \prod_{i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}} Y_{i,r}^{u_{i,r}(m)}$$

with $u_{i,l}(m) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition 2.8. For $i \in I$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, set

$$W_{k,r}^{(i)} := L(m_{k,r}^{(i)}), \ m_{k,r}^{(i)} := \prod_{s=1}^{k} Y_{i,r+2r_i(s-1)}.$$

These simple modules are called *Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules*. Note that $W_{0,r}^{(i)}$ is the trivial $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module. The modules of the form $W_{1,r}^{(i)}$ are called *fundamental modules*.

Theorem 2.9 ([53, Theorem 3.2], [25, Theorem 4.1, Lemma 4.4]). Let $i \in I$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. Suppose that m is a monomial appearing in $\chi_q(W_{k,r}^{(i)})$. Then $m = m_{k,r}^{(i)}$ or $m \leq m_{k,r}^{(i)}A_{i,r+r_i(2k-1)}^{-1}$.

In particular, dominant monomials do not occur in $\chi_q(W_{k,r}^{(i)}) - m_{k,r}^{(i)}$. This property is called the affine-minuscule property.

3. The monoidal subcategories associated with quivers

In [30], the first author and Leclerc introduced specific monoidal subcategories C_Q of C_{\bullet} in the case that the quantum loop algebra is of type $X_N^{(1)}$ with X = A, D or E. These subcategories are constructed from a Dynkin quiver Q of type X_N . In particular, the essential datum is the Auslander-Reiten quiver Γ_Q associated with Q. It is known that the subcategory C_Q has interesting properties. For example, its complexified Grothendieck ring is isomorphic to the coordinate algebra $\mathbb{C}[N_-]$ of the unipotent group N_- of type X_N , and the simple modules in C_Q categorify the dual canonical basis of $\mathbb{C}[N_-]$ (see Theorem 12.1). Moreover it is a "heart" of the whole category (cf. [30, subsection 1.5]). See subsection 3.2 for the definition of C_Q , and see subsection 12.1 and [30, 16] for detailed properties.

In this paper, we deal also with an analogue of these subcategories in the case of type $B_n^{(1)}$, which is introduced by Oh and Suh [57]. To define these subcategories, we need combinatorially generalized Auslander-Reiten quivers, called *the twisted Auslander-Reiten quivers* [56, 57]. We emphasize that the combinatorial generalization of Auslander-Reiten quivers of type A_{2n-1} are used in order to define the subcategories of C_{\bullet} of type $B_n^{(1)}$.

3.1. The adapted reduced words and Auslander-Reiten quivers. In this subsection, we assume that \mathfrak{g} is of type X_N with X = A, D, E. Let $\mathcal{Q} = (\mathcal{Q}^0 = I, \mathcal{Q}^1)$ be a Dynkin quiver of type X_N , where \mathcal{Q}^0 is the set of vertices (identified with the index set I of simple roots) and \mathcal{Q}^1 is the set of arrows. If there is an arrow from i to j in \mathcal{Q} , then we write $i \to j$. A vertex $i \in I$ is called a *sink* (resp. *a source*) if there is no arrow exiting out of (resp. entering into) i.

Let *i* be a sink or a source of Q. Then define $s_i(Q)$ as the quiver obtained from Q by reversing the orientation of each arrows connected with *i* in Q. A reduced word $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \ldots, i_\ell)$ of an element *w* of *W* is said to be *adapted to* Q if

 i_k is a sink of $s_{i_{k-1}} \cdots s_{i_2} s_{i_1}(\mathcal{Q})$

for all $k = 1, \ldots, \ell$. There is a unique element $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}} \in W$ such that

$$(3.1) \qquad \qquad \phi_{\mathcal{Q}} = s_{i_1} s_{i_2} \cdots s_{i_N}$$

where $\{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_N\} = I$, and (i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_N) is adapted to \mathcal{Q} . The element $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is called the Coxeter element associated with \mathcal{Q} .

Now we shall recall the combinatorial construction [22, 30] of the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ of the category of finite-dimensional modules over the path algebra $\mathbb{C}\mathcal{Q}$. By definition, the vertex set of $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is the set of isomorphism classes of indecomposable $\mathbb{C}\mathcal{Q}$ -modules. Gabriel's theorem states that this set is identified with the set Δ_+ of positive roots by taking their dimension vectors. Hence, we consider the vertex set of $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ as Δ_+ in this paper. We do not review (in fact, do not need) here the details of the representation theory of $\mathbb{C}\mathcal{Q}$. See, for instance, [1] for more details.

Fix a map $\xi \colon I \to \mathbb{Z}$ such that

 $\xi(j) = \xi(i) + 1$ whenever there exists an arrow $i \to j$ in \mathcal{Q} . Such a map is called *a height function associated with* \mathcal{Q} . Set

$$\widehat{I} := \{ (i, r) \in I \times \mathbb{Z} \mid r - \xi(i) \in 2\mathbb{Z} \}.$$

Let $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}$ be the quiver whose vertex set is \widehat{I} and whose arrow set $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^1$ is given by

 $\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}^1 = \{(j, r-1) \to (i, r) \mid \text{there is an arrow between } i \text{ and } j \text{ in } \mathcal{Q}\}.$

Recall that $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is the Coxeter element associated with \mathcal{Q} . Take $(i_1, \ldots, i_N) \in I(\phi_{\mathcal{Q}})$. For $i \in I$, set

$$\gamma_i = s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_{k-1}}(\alpha_{i_k})$$
 with $i_k = i$.

Note that γ_i does not depend on the choice of $(i_1, \ldots, i_N) \in I(\phi_Q)$. Consider the map $\Omega_{\xi} \colon \Delta_+ \to \widehat{I}$ such that

$$\gamma_i \mapsto (i, \xi(i)), \qquad \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}(\beta) \mapsto (i, p-2) \text{ if } \Omega_{\xi}(\beta) = (i, p) \text{ and } \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}(\beta), \beta \in \Delta_+.$$

Proposition 3.1 (see, for example,[30, subsection 2.2]). The full subquiver of \hat{Q} whose vertex set is $\Omega_{\xi}(\Delta_{+})$ is isomorphic to the Auslander-Reiten quiver Γ_{Q} via Ω_{ξ} .

According to this proposition, the vertices of the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ are also labelled by the subset $\Omega_{\xi}(\Delta_{+})$ of \widehat{I} . We write $\widehat{I}_{\xi} := \Omega_{\xi}(\Delta_{+})$.

Example 3.2. Consider the case of type A_4 .

(i) Let \mathcal{Q} be the following quiver :

 $1 \leftarrow 2 \leftarrow 3 \leftarrow 4$

Then $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}} = s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4$. Take an associated height function ξ such that $\xi(1) = 0$. Then the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ and its labelling \hat{I}_{ξ} are described as follows :



(ii) Let \mathcal{Q} be the following quiver :

$$1 \longrightarrow 2 \longleftarrow 3 \longleftarrow 4$$

Then $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}} = s_2 s_1 s_3 s_4$. Take an associated height function ξ such that $\xi(1) = 0$. Then the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ and its labelling \hat{I}_{ξ} are described as follows :



In the following, we frequently use the following convexity of $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

Lemma 3.3 (Convexity of $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$. cf. [30, Proof of Lemma 5.8]). For $i \in I$, the set $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (i,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}\}$ is a 2-segment. Moreover, if (i,r-1) and (i,r+1) belong to \widehat{I}_{ξ} , then

$$\{(j,r) \mid j \in I, (\alpha_i, \alpha_j) < 0\} \subset \widehat{I_{\xi}}.$$

Remark 3.4. There are arrows from (i, r - 1) to the vertices $\{(j, r) \mid j \in I, (\alpha_i, \alpha_j) < 0\}$ and arrows from them to (i, r + 1). Moreover, those arrows are all the arrows exiting out of (i, r - 1) and entering into (i, r + 1), respectively. **3.2.** The monoidal category $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$. Let \mathcal{Q} be the Dynkin quiver of type X_N with X = A, D, E, and ξ an associated height function. As mentioned in the beginning of section 3, we provide the definition of the monoidal subcategory $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$ of C_{\bullet} of type $X_N^{(1)}$. In fact, we do not use $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$ until section 12, but the definition of the nice monoidal subcategories in the case of type $B_n^{(1)}$ is a generalization of this construction (subsection 3.5). See subsection 12.1 and [30] for properties of $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

Definition 3.5 ([30, subsection 5.11]). Recall the labelling \widehat{I}_{ξ} of the positive roots Δ_+ defined just after Proposition 3.1. Set $\mathbb{Y}^{\xi} := \{Y_{i,r} \mid (i,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}\} \subset \mathcal{Y}$, and \mathbb{B}^{ξ} be the set of dominant monomials in the variables in \mathbb{Y}^{ξ} .

Define $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\xi}$ as the full subcategory of the category of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} of type $X_N^{(1)}$ whose objects have all their composition factors isomorphic to L(m) for some $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi}$.

Remark 3.6. In the following, we write $C_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\xi}$ simply as $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$. Note that the height function is uniquely determined by the quiver \mathcal{Q} up to shift, that is, if ξ' is another height function corresponding to \mathcal{Q} , then $\xi - \xi'$ is a constant function. Hence the categories $C_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\xi}$ and $C_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\xi'}$ are isomorphic via appropriate shift of the spectral parameter.

Remark 3.7. The monoidal subcategory $C_{\mathcal{Q}}$ corresponds to the monoidal subcategory $C_{\mathcal{Q}^{\text{op}}}$ in [30], here \mathcal{Q}^{op} is the Dynkin quiver obtained from \mathcal{Q} by reversing the orientation of all arrows. This difference arises from conventional difference of the definitions of adaptedness and height functions.

By using convexity of $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$, we can prove the following :

Lemma 3.8 ([30, Lemma 5.8]). The subcategory C_Q is closed under tensor product.

Example 3.9. Let \mathcal{Q} and ξ be the ones in Example 3.2 (i). Then $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is the full subcategory of the category of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} of type $A_4^{(1)}$ whose objects have all their composition factors isomorphic to

$$L(Y_{1,0}^{u_{1,0}}Y_{1,-2}^{u_{1,-2}}Y_{1,-4}^{u_{1,-4}}Y_{1,-6}^{u_{1,-6}}Y_{2,-1}^{u_{2,-1}}Y_{2,-3}^{u_{2,-3}}Y_{2,-5}^{u_{2,-5}}Y_{3,-2}^{u_{3,-2}}Y_{3,-4}^{u_{3,-4}}Y_{4,-3}^{u_{4,-3}})$$

for some $(u_{i,r})_{(i,r)\in \widehat{I}_{\xi}} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I_{\xi}}$. In fact, $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is the smallest abelian full subcategory of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} such that

(1) it is stable by taking subquotient, tensor product and extension,

(2) it contains the simple modules $L(Y_{i,r})$ with $(i,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}$ and the trivial module.

See the proof of Lemma 3.26 below.

3.3. Combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers. The Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$, by definition, describes the category of finite-dimensional modules over the path algebra $\mathbb{C}\mathcal{Q}$. Interestingly, it is known that $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ also visualizes a certain partial ordering on the set Δ_+ of positive roots determined from \mathcal{Q} (see Proposition 3.11 below). This point of view leads to a combinatorial generalization of Auslander-Reiten quivers [56], which is an important tool in this paper.

We consider the general setting in subsection 2.1 unless otherwise specified.

Definition 3.10. Two sequences i and i' of elements of I are said to be *commutation equiv*alent if i is obtained from i by a sequence of transformations of adjacent components from (i, j) with $(\alpha_i, \alpha_j) = 0$ into (j, i). This is an equivalence relation, and the equivalence class of i is called the commutation class of i, denoted by [i]. Let w_0 be the longest element of the Weyl group W. For $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, i_2, \dots, i_\ell) \in I(w_0)$, set

(3.2)
$$\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{\imath}} := s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_{k-1}}(\alpha_{i_k})$$

for $k = 1, ..., \ell$. Then it is well-known that $\beta_k^i \neq \beta_{k'}^i$ if $k \neq k'$ and the set $\{\beta_k^i \mid k = 1, ..., \ell\}$ coincides with the set Δ_+ of positive roots of \mathfrak{g} [5]. For $k = 1, ..., \ell$, i_k is called *the residue* of β_k^i . Write

$$\operatorname{res}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{i}}) := i_k.$$

Note that the residues of the positive roots depend only on the commutation class of i.

We consider the total ordering $<_i$ on Δ_+ such that

$$\beta_k^i <_i \beta_{k'}^i$$
 if and only if $k < k'$.

There is also the partial ordering $\prec_{[i]}$ on Δ_+ associated with the commutation class [i] of i such that, for $\beta, \beta' \in \Delta_+$,

$$\beta \prec_{[i]} \beta'$$
 if and only if $\beta <_{i'} \beta'$ for all $i' \in [i]$.

Proposition 3.11 ([48, section 4], [59, section 6], [3, section 2]). Suppose that \mathfrak{g} is of type X_N with X = A, D, E. Let \mathcal{Q} be a Dynkin quiver of type X_N . Then the following hold :

(1) A reduced word $i \in I(w_0)$ is adapted to at most one Dynkin quiver Q.

(2) For each Dynkin quiver Q, there exists a reduced word i_Q of w_0 adapted to Q. Moreover, all reduced words in its commutation class $[i_Q]$ are adapted to Q, and all reduced words adapted to Q belong to $[i_Q]$. Hence this commutation class is denoted by [Q].

(3) There exists $\mathbf{i}_c = (i_1, i_2, \dots, i_\ell) \in [\mathcal{Q}]$ such that $(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_N) \in I(\phi_{\mathcal{Q}})$ (recall (3.1)).

(4) For $\beta, \beta' \in \Delta_+$, we have $\beta \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}]} \beta'$ if and only if there is a path from β' to β in $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

(5) For $\beta \in \Delta_+$ with $\Omega_{\xi}(\beta) = (i, r)$ (recall Proposition 3.1), we have res^[Q](β) = i.

Proposition 3.11 (4) states that the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is regarded as a visualization of the partial ordering $\prec_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$. A visualization of an arbitrary $\prec_{[i]}$ (of an arbitrary type) is given by a combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver, introduced by Oh and Suh [56]. The following is their explicit constructive definition :

Definition 3.12 ([56, Algorithm 2.1]). Let $i \in I(w_0)$. The combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[i]}$ associated with [i] is constructed as follows :

- (i) the set of vertices consists of $\ell(w_0)$ elements labelled by Δ_+ .
- (ii) there is an arrow from β_k^i to $\beta_{k'}^i$ (see (3.2)) if and only if

(a)
$$k > k'$$
 (b) $(\alpha_{i_k}, \alpha_{i_{k'}}) < 0$ and (c) $\{t \mid k' < t < k, i_t = i_{k'} \text{ or } i_k\} = \emptyset$.

In (ii), we use the reduced word i but it is easy to show that, even if we choose another reduced word i' commutation equivalent to i, we obtain the same quiver. Hence the quiver $\Upsilon_{[i]}$ depends only on the commutation class [i] of i.

Remark 3.13. Oh and Suh considered the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers associated with (commutation classes of) reduced words of any element $w \in W$ in the same manner. Moreover, they considered colors of each arrow. However, we do not need them in this paper.

The combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers defined above satisfy the desired property :

Theorem 3.14 ([56, Theorem 2.22, Theorem 2.29]). Two reduced words $i, i' \in I(w_0)$ are commutation equivalent if and only if $\Upsilon_{[i]} = \Upsilon_{[i']}$. Moreover, for $\beta, \beta' \in \Delta_+$, we have $\beta \prec_{[i]} \beta'$ if and only if there is a path from β' to β in $\Upsilon_{[i]}$.

A sequence (j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_l) is called a *compatible reading* of $\Upsilon_{[i]}$ if

(3.3)
$$(j_1, j_2, \dots, j_l) = (\operatorname{res}^{[i]}(\gamma_1), \operatorname{res}^{[i]}(\gamma_2), \dots, \operatorname{res}^{[i]}(\gamma_\ell))$$

for a total ordering of its vertex set $\Delta_+ = \{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \ldots, \gamma_\ell\}$ such that k' < k whenever there is an arrow from γ_k to $\gamma_{k'}$.

Theorem 3.15 ([56, Theorem 2.23]). Every reduced expression of i' in [i] can be obtained by a compatible reading of $\Upsilon_{[i]}$.

The following theorem guarantees that the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver is a combinatorial generalization of the usual Auslander-Reiten quiver.

Theorem 3.16 ([56, Theorem 2.28]). Let \mathcal{Q} be a Dynkin quiver of type X_N with X = A, D, E. Then the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[Q]}$ is isomorphic to the Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$, here the correspondence between their vertex sets is given by Gabriel's theorem.

In the following, we identify $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ with $\Gamma_{\mathcal{Q}}$ by Theorem 3.16.

3.4. Twisted adapted classes of type A_{2n-1} . To define an analogue of C_Q in the case of type $B_n^{(1)}$, we need the twisted Auslander-Reiten quivers [57], which are specific combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers for type A_{2n-1} .

Let \mathcal{Q} be a Dynkin quiver of type A_{2n-2} , and $\xi \colon I = \{1, 2, \dots, 2n-2\} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be an associated height function. We identify the vertex set of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ with I_{ξ} (see the definition after Proposition 3.1). We construct the quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\geq}]}$ (resp. $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\leq}]}$), called a twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver, from $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ as follows :

- (T1) Any vertex (i, r) in \widehat{I}_{ξ} with $i \ge n$ is renamed by (i + 1, r). (T2) Put a vertex $(n, r \frac{1}{2})$ $(r \in \mathbb{Z})$ if there is an arrow $(n 1, r 1) \rightarrow (n + 1, r)$ or $(n+1, r-1) \to (n-1, r).$
- (T3) Each arrow of the form $(n-1, r-1) \rightarrow (n+1, r)$ is replaced by two arrows (n-1, r-1) $(1) \rightarrow (n, r - \frac{1}{2}) \rightarrow (n+1, r)$, and each arrow of the form $(n+1, r-1) \rightarrow (n-1, r)$ is replaced by two arrows $(n+1, r-1) \rightarrow (n, r-\frac{1}{2}) \rightarrow (n-1, r)$.
- (T4) Let $r_{\rm M} := \max\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (n-1,r), (n,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}\}$ (resp. $r_{\rm m} := \min\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (n-1,r), (n,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}\}$) $(1,r), (n,r) \in \widehat{I}_{\mathcal{E}}\}$, and

$$n_{\rm M} := \begin{cases} n-1 & \text{if } (n-1, r_{\rm M}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}, \\ n+1 & \text{if } (n, r_{\rm M}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}. \end{cases} \qquad \left(n_{\rm m} := \begin{cases} n-1 & \text{if } (n-1, r_{\rm m}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}, \\ n+1 & \text{if } (n, r_{\rm m}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}. \end{cases} \right)$$

Then we put a vertex $(n, r_{\rm M} + \frac{1}{2})$ (resp. $(n, r_{\rm m} - \frac{1}{2})$) (on the quiver obtained in (T3)) and add an arrow $(n_{\rm M}, r_{\rm M}) \rightarrow (n, r_{\rm M} + \frac{1}{2})$ (resp. $(n, r_{\rm m} - \frac{1}{2}) \rightarrow (n_{\rm m}, r_{\rm m})$).

Let $\flat \in \{>,<\}$. For a vertex $(i, \frac{r}{2})$ of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, set $\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((i, \frac{r}{2})) := i$. Then we can define a compatible reading of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{O}^b]}$ in the same way as (3.3). The following theorem justifies these notations.

Theorem 3.17 ([57, Theorem 4.17, Remark 4.20, Algorithm 5.1]). Let $\flat \in \{>, <\}$. Then a compatible reading of $\Upsilon_{[Q^{\flat}]}$ gives a reduced word of the longest element of the Weyl group of type A_{2n-1} . Moreover, the quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ is isomorphic to its combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver in a residue preserving way.

Definition 3.18. Let $\flat \in \{>, <\}$. The commutation class corresponding to the twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ is called *a twisted adapted class of type* A_{2n-1} , and denoted by $[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]$.

Remark 3.19. Our definition of twisted adapted classes of type A_{2n-1} is equivalent to the one in [57, Definition 4.2] by the results of [57, section 4].

Remark 3.20. Every twisted adapted class of type A_{2n-1} is non-adapted [57, section 4].

Let $\flat \in \{>, <\}$. In the following, we regard the vertex set of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ as Δ_+ , as before. Its another labelling set obtained by (T1)–(T4) will be written as $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. Moreover, this relabelling is written as $\Omega_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}: \Delta_+ \to \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. In addition to $\Omega_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$, define $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}: \Delta_+ \to \{1, 2, \ldots, n\} \times \mathbb{Z}$ as follows : for $\beta \in \Delta_+$ with $\Omega_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}(\beta) = (\imath, \frac{r}{2})$,

$$\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}(\beta) = \begin{cases} (\imath,r) & \text{if } \imath \le n, \\ (2n-\imath,r) & \text{if } \imath > n. \end{cases}$$

Then $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ is also injective, and set

$$\overline{I}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}_{\xi} := \mathrm{Im}(\overline{\Omega}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}_{\xi})$$

Example 3.21. Consider the case of type A_5 (n = 3).

(i) Let \mathcal{Q} and ξ be the ones in Example 3.2 (i). The twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{>}]}$ and its labellings $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},>}$, $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},>}$ are described as follows :



For example, $(3, 1, 2, 3, 4, 1, 5, 3, 2, 3, 4, 1, 3, 2, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 4, 1, 3, 5, 2, 3, 4, 1, 3, 2, 1) \in [\mathcal{Q}^{>}].$

The twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[Q^{<}]}$ and its labellings $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},<}$, $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},<}$ are described as follows :



(ii) Let \mathcal{Q} and ξ be the ones in Example 3.2 (ii). The twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{>}]}$ and its labellings $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$, $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ are described as follows :



The twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[Q^{\leq}]}$ and its labellings $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\leq}$, $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\leq}$ are described as follows :



The following is an analogue of convexity (Lemma 3.3) for twisted Auslander-Reiten quivers. We call it *twisted convexity*. Remark the difference between $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ and $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ in the statement.

Lemma 3.22 (Twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^b]}$). Let $\flat \in \{>,<\}$. For $\imath \in \{1, 2, \ldots, 2n-1\}$, the set $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (\imath, \frac{r}{2}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$ is a 4-segment if $\imath \neq n$, and is a 2-segment if $\imath = n$. Moreover, we have the following :

- (1) If (i, r-2) and (i, r+2) with $i \leq n-2$ belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$, then $(i-1,r), (i+1,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ and there are arrows from (i, r-2) to them and from them to (i, r+2). Moreover, they are all the arrows exiting out of (i, r-2) and entering into (i, r+2), respectively. (When i = 1, we ignore (0, r) in the statement. We adopt a similar convention below.)
- (2) If (n-1, r-2) and (n-1, r+2) belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$, then $(n-2, r), (n, r-1), (n, r+1) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ and there are arrows from (n-1, r-2) to (n-2, r), (n, r-1) and from (n-2, r), (n, r+1) to (i, r+2). Moreover, they are all the arrows exiting out of (n-1, r-2)and entering into (n-1, r+2), respectively.
- (3) If (n, r-1) and (n, r+1) belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$, then $(n-1, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ and there are arrows from (n, r-1) to (n-1, r) and from (n-1, r) to (n, r+1). Moreover, they are all the arrows exiting out of (n, r-1) and entering into (n, r+1), respectively.

Proof. We only prove the statements for $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$. The proof for $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},<}$ is exactly the same.

The construction of $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ implies that the full subquiver of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}>]}$ consisting of the vertices $\{\beta \mid \overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}(\beta) = (i,r) \text{ with } i \leq n-1\}$ is isomorphic to the quiver obtained from $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ by deleting the arrows between vertices of residue n-1 and n. Hence it follows from convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ and Remark 3.4 that (1) holds and the set $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (i, \frac{r}{2}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}\}$ is a 4-segment for $i \neq n$.

Next, we consider the setting of (2). It also follows from the argument above that $(n-2,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ and there are arrows $(n-1,r-2) \to (n-2,r)$ and $(n-2,r) \to (n-1,r+2)$. Following (T1)–(T4) in reverse order, we obtain that the vertices $\{(n-1,r-2), (n-1,r+2)\}$ in $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ correspond to the vertices $\{(n-1,\frac{r}{2}-1), (n-1,\frac{r}{2}+1)\}$ or $\{(n+1,\frac{r}{2}-1), (n+1,\frac{r}{2}+1)\}$ in $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ (with the vertex set labelled by \widehat{I}_{ξ}). We consider the former case. The latter case is exactly the same. By convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ and Remark 3.4, there are arrows $(n-1,\frac{r}{2}-1) \to (n,\frac{r}{2})$ and $(n,\frac{r}{2}) \to (n-1,\frac{r}{2}+1)$. Hence it follows from (T1)–(T4) and the definition of $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ that the vertices (n,r-1) and (n,r+1) belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ and there are the arrows $(n-1,r-2) \to (n,r-1)$ and $(n,r+1) \to (n-1,r+2)$, which prove (2). Since any vertices of residue n in $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}>]}$ are obtained in this way except for $(\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>})^{-1}((n,2r_{\mathrm{M}}+1))$, and since the sets $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (n-1,\frac{r}{2}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}\}$ and $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (n+1,\frac{r}{2}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}\}$ are 4-segments, we obtain that $\{r \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (n,\frac{r}{2}) \in \widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}\}$ is a 2-segment.

The assertion (3) immediately follows from (T1)–(T4) and the definition of $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$.

The following technical lemma will be used in the proof of Theorem 6.3. The proof is immediate from the definition of $\widehat{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$.

Lemma 3.23. Let $\flat \in \{>,<\}$. For $i \in \{1, 2, ..., 2n - 1\}$, set $\Xi_i := \max\{r \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z} \mid (i, r) \in \widehat{I}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$. Then

$$\Xi_{i} = \begin{cases} \xi(i) & \text{if } 1 \leq i \leq n-1, \\ \frac{1}{2}(\xi(n-1) + \xi(n)) + 1 & \text{if } i = n \text{ and } \flat =>, \\ \frac{1}{2}(\xi(n-1) + \xi(n)) & \text{if } i = n \text{ and } \flat =<, \\ \xi(i-1) & \text{if } n+1 \leq i \leq 2n-1. \end{cases}$$

3.5. The monoidal subcategories $C_{Q>}$ and $C_{Q>}$. Let Q be a Dynkin quiver of type $A_{2n-2}, \xi: I = \{1, 2, \ldots, 2n-2\} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}$ an associated height function, and $\flat \in \{>, <\}$. Since the first components of elements of $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ are elements of $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$, we regard them as elements of the index set of the simple roots of type B_n .

Definition 3.24. Consider \mathcal{Y} for type $B_n^{(1)}$ (see subsection 2.3 for the definition of \mathcal{Y}). Let $\mathbb{Y}^{\xi,\flat} := \{Y_{i,r} \mid (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\} \subset \mathcal{Y}$, and $\mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$ be the set of dominant monomials in the variables in $\mathbb{Y}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Define $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}^{\xi}$ as the full subcategory of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} of type $\mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)}$ consisting of the objects all of whose composition factors are isomorphic to L(m) for some $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Note that, by definition, a simple module in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ is isomorphic to L(m) for some $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Remark 3.25. In the following, we write $C_{Q^{\flat}}^{\xi}$ simply as $C_{Q^{\flat}}$ for the same reason as in Remark 3.6.

Our definition of $C_{Q^{\flat}}$ is apparently different from the original definition in [57, Definition 9.2]. The following lemma guarantees that this subcategory coincides with the one in [57]:

Lemma 3.26. The category $C_{Q^{\flat}}$ is the smallest abelian full subcategory of C_{\bullet} of type $B_n^{(1)}$ such that

(1) it is stable by taking subquotient, tensor product and extension,

(2) it contains the simple modules $L(Y_{i,r})$ with $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ and the trivial module.

Proof. Let \mathcal{C}' be the full subcategory of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} defined as in the statement of the lemma. We shall prove that $\mathcal{C}' = \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$. By Proposition 2.5, any module L(m) with $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$ belongs to \mathcal{C}' . Since \mathcal{C}' is closed under the extension, all objects in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ are contained in \mathcal{C}' . Therefore, we only have to check that $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ satisfies (1) and (2) in the definition of \mathcal{C}' .

The category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ is obviously stable by taking subquotient and extension, and satisfies (2). Therefore it suffices to show that $L(m) \otimes L(m')$ is an object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ for all $m, m' \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Suppose that L(m'') is a composition factor of $L(m) \otimes L(m')$. Then m'' is a product of monomials of $\chi_q(L(m))$ and $\chi_q(L(m'))$. Hence, by Theorem 2.6, we have m'' = mm'M where M is a monomial in the variables $A_{i,r}^{-1}$. If M contains the term $A_{i,r}^{-1}$, then, by the explicit form of $A_{i,r}^{-1}$ (cf. the left and right negativity of $A_{i,r}^{-1}$ [13]) and twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ (the segment property), we have $(i, r + r_i), (i, r - r_i) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. Hence it follows from twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ again that m'' contains only the variables in $\mathbb{Y}^{\xi,\flat}$, hence, $L(m) \otimes L(m')$ is an object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$.

Example 3.27. Let \mathcal{Q} and ξ be the ones in Example 3.2 (i). See also Example 3.21. Then $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}>}$ is the full subcategory of the category of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} of type $B_3^{(1)}$ whose objects have all their composition factors isomorphic to

$$L\left(\left(\prod_{s=0}^{3} Y_{1,-4s}^{u_{1,-4s}}\right) \cdot Y_{1,-6}^{u_{1,-6}} \cdot \left(\prod_{s=0}^{2} Y_{2,-2-4s}^{u_{2,-2-4s}}\right) \cdot \left(\prod_{s=0}^{1} Y_{2,-4-4s}^{u_{2,-4-4s}}\right) \cdot \left(\prod_{s=0}^{4} Y_{3,-1-2s}^{u_{3,-1-2s}}\right)\right)$$

for some $(u_{i,r})_{(i,r)\in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}}$. By Lemma 3.26, $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}>}$ is the smallest abelian full subcategory of \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} such that

- (1) it is stable by taking subquotient, tensor product and extension,
- (2) it contains the simple modules $L(Y_{i,r})$ with $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},>}$ and the trivial module.

Remark 3.28. The notation for fundamental modules in [57, 43] is different from ours. The correspondence is given as follows :

- $q_s(=q^{1/2})$ in [57, 43] for type $B_N^{(1)}$ corresponds to our q. More precisely, they treat q_s as an indeterminate, however this difference does not cause essential difference concerning the topics of this paper.
- $V(\varpi_i)_{(-1)^s q^r}$ in [57, 43] corresponds to our $L(Y_{i,o(i)(-1)^{-h+1+s}q^{-dh^{\vee}+dr}})$, where (1) $o: I \to \{\pm 1\}$ is a map such that o(i)o(j) = -1 whenever $a_{ij} < 0$, (2) $h = \begin{cases} N+1 & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = A_N^{(1)}, \\ 2N & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = B_N^{(1)}, \end{cases}$, $h^{\vee} = \begin{cases} N+1 & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = A_N^{(1)}, \\ 2N-1 & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = B_N^{(1)}, \end{cases}$, $d = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = A_N^{(1)}, \\ 2 & \text{if } X_N^{(1)} = B_N^{(1)}. \end{cases}$

The number h (resp. h^{\vee}) is called the Coxeter number (resp. the dual Coxeter number). A map o of the above kind is needed to construct an isomorphism between the quantum loop algebra defined in Definition 2.2 and the one defined by the Drinfeld-Jimbo presentation. See [2], [55, Proposition 3.1, Remark 3.3] and [34, subsection 1.3] for more details.

In particular, our $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}^{\xi-2h^{\vee}}$ corresponds to the subcategory in [57] if we choose o(i) as $o(1) = (-1)^{-h+2}$.

4. QUANTUM TORI

In the following, we deal with a t-deformed q-character homomorphism, called a (q, t)character. First, we define a t-deformed version of $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{Z}[Y_{i,r}^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}]$ following [23]. The definition in [23] comes from the original construction of q-characters in [15] : the variables $Y_{i,p}$ are defined as formal power series that pairwise commute. In [23], these formal power series are replaced by certain infinite sums which can be seen as vertex operators and give rise to the t-commutative variables (the parameter t itself appears as a formal power series). In [54, 60], a slightly different quantum torus is defined for the simply-laced case from a convolution operation for certain perverse sheaves on quiver varieties.

4.1. Quantum Cartan matrices. We return to the general setting in subsection 2.1 again. Recall that C is a Cartan matrix of finite type. Define $C(z) := (C(z)_{ij})_{i,j\in I}, D(z) := (D(z)_{ij})_{i,j\in I}, B(z) := (B(z)_{ij})_{i,j\in I} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{I\times I}(\mathbb{Z}[z^{\pm 1}])$ by

$$C(z)_{ij} = \begin{cases} z_i + z_i^{-1} & \text{if } i = j \\ [c_{ij}]_z & \text{if } i \neq j \end{cases} \qquad D(z)_{ij} = \delta_{ij} [r_i]_z \qquad B(z) = D(z)C(z).$$

(See Notation 2.1.) Note that

$$B(z) = ([(\alpha_i, \alpha_j)]_z)_{i,j \in I},$$

in particular, B(z) is symmetric. The inverse of C(z) is denoted by $\widetilde{C}(z) = (\widetilde{C}(z)_{ij})_{i,j \in I}$.

Example 4.1. If
$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (type A₂), then

$$C^{-1} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \quad C(z) = \begin{pmatrix} z+z^{-1} & -1 \\ -1 & z+z^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \quad \widetilde{C}(z) = \frac{1}{z^2+1+z^{-2}} \begin{pmatrix} z+z^{-1} & 1 \\ 1 & z+z^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
If $C = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ (type A₃), then

$$C^{-1} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 4 & 2 \\ 1 & 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix} \quad C(z) = \begin{pmatrix} [2]_z & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & [2]_z & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & [2]_z \end{pmatrix} \quad \widetilde{C}(z) = \frac{1}{[4]_z} \begin{pmatrix} [3]_z & [2]_z & 1 \\ [2]_z & ([2]_z)^2 & [2]_z \\ 1 & [2]_z & [3]_z \end{pmatrix}.$$
If $C = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ -2 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ (type B₂), then

$$C^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \quad C(z) = \begin{pmatrix} z^2+z^{-2} & -1 \\ -z-z^{-1} & z+z^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \quad \widetilde{C}(z) = \frac{1}{z^3+z^{-3}} \begin{pmatrix} z+z^{-1} & 1 \\ z+z^{-1} & z^2+z^{-2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $\mathbb{Z}((z^{-1}))$ be the ring of series of the form $P = \sum_{r \leq R_P} P_r z^r$ such that $R_P, P_r \in \mathbb{Z}$. We will regard $\widetilde{C}(z)_{ij}$ as an element of $\mathbb{Z}((z^{-1}))$, and write

$$\widetilde{C}(z)_{ji} = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r) z^r \in \mathbb{Z}((z^{-1})).$$

It follows from [13, Lemma 1.1] that

$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(r) = 0$$

for $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. By definition, we have

(4.1)
$$\sum_{k \in I, r \leq -1} C(z)_{jk} \widetilde{c}_{ki}(r) z^r = \delta_{ji}$$

Example 4.2. Consider the case of type B_2 . By Example 4.1, we have

$$\widetilde{C}(z)_{11} = \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k (z^{-6k-2} + z^{-6k-4}), \qquad \widetilde{C}(z)_{12} = \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k z^{-6k-3},$$

$$\widetilde{C}(z)_{21} = \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k (z^{-6k-2} + z^{-6k-4}), \qquad \widetilde{C}(z)_{22} = \sum_{k \ge 0} (-1)^k (z^{-6k-1} + z^{-6k-5}).$$

Hence $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(r)$'s are summarized as follows (blanks stand for 0) :

				1	r				
$\widetilde{c}_{j1}(r)$	-2	-4	-6	-8	-10	-12	-14	-16	•••
i 1	1	1		-1	-1		1	1	
9 2	1	1		-1	-1		1	1	
	İ			1	r				
$\widetilde{c}_{j2}(r)$	-1	-3	-5	-7	-9	-11	-13	-15	
. 1		1			-1			1	
J N			_	-1		1	-		•••

We can also calculate $\tilde{c}_{ji}(r)$ inductively by using (4.1). Focusing on the coefficient of z^r with $r \leq -1$ in (4.1), we have

$$\widetilde{c}_{1i}(r-2) + \widetilde{c}_{1i}(r+2) - \widetilde{c}_{2i}(r) = 0 \text{ for } i = 1, 2,$$

$$\widetilde{c}_{2i}(r-1) + \widetilde{c}_{2i}(r+1) - \widetilde{c}_{1i}(r-1) - \widetilde{c}_{1i}(r+1) = 0 \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$

These equalities determine all $c_{ji}(r)$'s from the condition that $\tilde{c}_{ji}(r) = 0$ for $r > -r_j$ and $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j) = \delta_{ji}$. For example,

$$\widetilde{c}_{21}(-2) = -\widetilde{c}_{21}(0) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(-2) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(0) = 1,$$

$$\widetilde{c}_{11}(-4) = -\widetilde{c}_{11}(0) + \widetilde{c}_{21}(-2) = 1,$$

$$\widetilde{c}_{21}(-4) = -\widetilde{c}_{21}(-2) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(-4) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(-2) = 1,$$

$$\widetilde{c}_{11}(-6) = -\widetilde{c}_{11}(-2) + \widetilde{c}_{21}(-4) = 0,$$

$$\widetilde{c}_{21}(-6) = -\widetilde{c}_{21}(-4) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(-6) + \widetilde{c}_{11}(-4) = 0,$$

...

In fact, this method is valid for all B_n with $n \ge 2$. See Lemma A.1 and Example 4.3 below. Moreover, the periodicity of $c_{ji}(r)$'s as in the tables above is also a general phenomenon. See Remark A.3.

Example 4.3. Consider the case of type B_n with $n \ge 2$. Then, by the method explained in Example 4.2, we can calculate the tables of $\tilde{c}_{ji}(r)$'s as follows. See Lemma A.1 for more details (the following is a visualization of the statements of Lemma A.1) :

Case 1 : $i \neq n$.



4.2. Quantum tori. Following [23], we define a *t*-deformed version \mathcal{Y}_t of \mathcal{Y} (quantum torus) associated with a quantum Cartan matrix C(z).

Definition 4.4. The quantum torus \mathcal{Y}_t associated with a quantum Cartan matrix C(z) is defined as the \mathbb{Z} -algebra given by the generators $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{\pm 1}$ $(i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}), t^{\pm 1/2}$ and the following relations²:

(1) $t^{\pm 1/2}$ are central, (2) $t^{1/2}t^{-1/2} = 1$ and $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{-1} = 1 = \widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{-1}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$, (3) for $i, j \in I$ and $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}\widetilde{Y}_{j,s} = t^{\gamma(i,r;j,s)}\widetilde{Y}_{j,s}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$,

where $\gamma \colon (I \times \mathbb{Z})^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ is given by

$$\gamma(i,r;j,s) = \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j-r+s) + \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r_j+r-s) - \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r_j-r+s) - \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j+r-s).$$

Remark 4.5. If r > s, then

(4.2)
$$\gamma(i,r;j,s) = \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j-r+s) - \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r_j-r+s),$$

since $\tilde{c}_{ij}(r') = 0$ for $r' > -r_i$ (see the proof of Lemma A.1).

Moreover, $\gamma(i, r; j, r) = 0$, that is,

(4.3)
$$\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}\widetilde{Y}_{j,r} = \widetilde{Y}_{j,r}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$$

for $i, j \in I$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}$.

There exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism $ev_{t=1} \colon \mathcal{Y}_t \to \mathcal{Y}$ given by

$$t^{1/2} \mapsto 1$$
 $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r} \mapsto Y_{i,r}$

This map is called the specialization at t = 1.

An element $\widetilde{m} \in \mathcal{Y}_t$ is called *a monomial* if it is a product of the generators $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{\pm 1}$ $(i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z})$ and $t^{\pm 1/2}$. For a monomial \widetilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t , we set $u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m}) := u_{i,r}(\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\widetilde{m}))$ (recall the notation (2.2)). A monomial \widetilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t is said to be *dominant* if $\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\widetilde{m})$ is dominant, that is, $u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m}) \ge 0$ for all $i \in I$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, for monomials $\widetilde{m}, \widetilde{m}'$ in \mathcal{Y}_t , set

 $\widetilde{m} \leq \widetilde{m}'$ if and only if $\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\widetilde{m}) \leq \operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\widetilde{m}')$.

It is shown in [23, section 6.3] that there is a \mathbb{Z} -algebra anti-involution (·) on \mathcal{Y}_t given by

$$t^{1/2} \mapsto t^{-1/2} \qquad \qquad \widetilde{Y}_{i,r} \mapsto t^{-1}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}.$$

It is easy to show that, for any monomial \widetilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t , there uniquely exists $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $t^{r/2}\widetilde{m}$ is $\overline{(\cdot)}$ -invariant, and this element is denoted by $\underline{\widetilde{m}}$. Note that $(t^{k/2}\widetilde{m}) = \underline{\widetilde{m}}$ for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

²There are typos in [23, Lemma 3.5 (2), Theorem 3.11] : $t_{\tilde{C}_{j,i}(z)(z^{r_j}-z^{-r_j})(-z^{(l-k)}+z^{(k-l)})}$ in Lemma 3.5 (2) should be replaced by $t_{\tilde{C}_{j,i}(z)(z^{r_j}-z^{-r_j})(z^{(l-k)}-z^{(k-l)})}$. Hence, in the equality of $\gamma(i,l,j,k)$ in Theorem 3.11, we should multiply the right-hand side by -1.

Hence $\underline{\widetilde{m}}$ depends only on $\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\widetilde{m})$. Therefore, for every monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , the element \underline{m} is well-defined. The elements of this form are called *commutative monomials*. For example, $\underline{Y}_{i,r} = t^{-1/2} \widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$. Note that, for every monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , we have $(\underline{m^{-1}}) = (\underline{m})^{-1} (=: \underline{m}^{-1})$.

Remark 4.6. In [23], the quantum torus \mathcal{Y}_t is a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1}]$ -algebra. However, to guarantee the existence of commutative monomials, we need the square root of $t^{\pm 1}$. This is the reason why we add $t^{\pm 1/2}$.

We have

$$\mathcal{Y}_t = \bigoplus_{m: \text{monomial in } \mathcal{Y}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]\underline{m}$$

as $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -modules. For $i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}$, set

$$\widetilde{A}_{i,r} := A_{i,r} \in \mathcal{Y}_t.$$

Proposition 4.7 ([23, Proposition 3.12]). The $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{Y}_t generated by $\{\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{-1} \mid i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ is, in an obvious way, isomorphic to the \mathbb{Z} -algebra defined by the generators $\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{\pm 1}$ ($i \in I, r \in \mathbb{Z}$), $t^{\pm 1/2}$ and the following relations :

- (1) $t^{\pm 1/2}$ are central,
- (2) $t^{1/2}t^{-1/2} = 1$.
- (3) for $i, j \in I$ and $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$,

(4.4)
$$\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{-1}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1} = t^{\alpha(i,r;j,s)}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1}\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{-1}$$

where $\alpha \colon (I \times \mathbb{Z})^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(i,r;j,s) &= 2(-\delta_{r-s,(\alpha_i,\alpha_j)} + \delta_{r-s,-(\alpha_i,\alpha_j)}) \\ &= \begin{cases} 2(-\delta_{r-s,2r_i} + \delta_{r-s,-2r_i}) & \text{if } i = j, \\ 2\sum_{l=0}^{-c_{ij}-1} (-\delta_{r-s,-r_i+c_{ij}+1+2l} + \delta_{r-s,r_i+c_{ij}+1+2l}) & \text{if } i \neq j. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, we have the following relations in \mathcal{Y}_t :

(4.5)
$$\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1} = t^{\beta(i,r;j,s)}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$$

where $\beta \colon (I \times \mathbb{Z})^2 \to \mathbb{Z}$ is given by

$$\beta(i,r;j,s) = 2\delta_{ij}(-\delta_{r-s,-r_i} + \delta_{r-s,r_i}).$$

5. QUANTUM TORI FOR QUANTIZED COORDINATE ALGEBRAS

We prepare the other quantum tori which arise from quantum cluster algebra structures of quantized coordinate algebras [4]. Quantum cluster algebras are specific subalgebras of skew field of fractions (and, *a posteriori*, subalgebras of quantum tori) with infinitely many generators in general. It is known that many quantized coordinate algebras in Lie theory have quantum cluster algebra structures. See [19, 20, 21] and references therein.

In this section, we only recall the definitions concerning these quantum tori, and review the quantum tori associated with quantum cluster algebra structures of some quantized coordinate algebras. See Appendix B for the complete definition of quantum cluster algebras.

5.1. Quantum tori in the theory of quantum cluster algebras. Let v be an indeterminate. Fix a finite set J and take a subset $J_f \subset J$. Set $J_e := J \setminus J_f$.

Let $\Lambda = (\lambda_{ij})_{i,j \in J}$ be a skew-symmetric integer matrix and $\widetilde{B} = (b_{ij})_{i \in J, j \in J_e}$ an integer matrix. The pair (Λ, \widetilde{B}) is said to be *compatible* if, there exists $d := (d_i)_{i \in J_e} \in (\mathbb{Z}_{>0})^{J_e}$ such that

$$\sum_{k\in J} b_{ki}\lambda_{kj} = d_i\delta_{ij}$$

for all $i \in J_e$ and $j \in J$. Note that, if (Λ, \widetilde{B}) is compatible, then the rank of \widetilde{B} is $\#J_e$ and

$$(5.1) d_i b_{ij} = -d_j b_{ji}$$

for all $i, j \in J_e$ [4, Proposition 3.3]. The skew-symmetric integer matrix Λ determines a skewsymmetric \mathbb{Z} -bilinear form $\mathbb{Z}^J \times \mathbb{Z}^J \to \mathbb{Z}$ by $\Lambda(\boldsymbol{e}_i, \boldsymbol{e}_j) = \lambda_{ij}, i, j \in J$, and vice versa. Here, $\{\boldsymbol{e}_i \mid i \in J\}$ is a standard basis of \mathbb{Z}^J . Hence we also write this form as Λ . Then the quantum torus $\mathcal{T}(=\mathcal{T}(\Lambda))$ associated with the bilinear form Λ is the free $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -module with a basis $\{X^a \mid a \in \mathbb{Z}^J\}$ equipped with the $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -algebra structure given by

$$X^{\boldsymbol{a}}X^{\boldsymbol{b}} = v^{\Lambda(a,b)/2}X^{\boldsymbol{a}+\boldsymbol{b}}$$

for $\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^J$. Then

- $X^{\boldsymbol{a}}X^{\boldsymbol{b}} = v^{\Lambda(\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b})}X^{\boldsymbol{b}}X^{\boldsymbol{a}}.$
- $X^0 = 1$ and $(X^a)^{-1} = X^{-a}$ for $a \in \mathbb{Z}^J$.

Since the quantum torus \mathcal{T} is an Ore domain [4, Appendix A], it is regarded as a subalgebra of the skew-field $\mathcal{F}(=\mathcal{F}(\Lambda))$ of fractions. Note that \mathcal{F} is a $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra.

For $i \in J$, set $X_i := X^{e_i}$. The quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda, \tilde{B})$ is the $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{F} generated by the union of the elements (called the quantum cluster variables) obtained from $\{X_i \mid i \in J\}$ by arbitrary sequence of mutations in direction k with $k \in J_e$. See Appendix B for details. A fundamental theorem in the theory of quantum cluster algebras, called quantum Laurent phenomena [4, Corollary 5.2], states that

$$\mathcal{A}(\Lambda, B) \subset \mathcal{T}(\Lambda).$$

For $j \in J_e$, write $\hat{X}_j := X^{\tilde{b}^j}$ where $\tilde{b}^j := (b_{ij})_{i \in J} \in \mathbb{Z}^J$. By the definition of compatibility and (5.1), we have

$$\Lambda(\boldsymbol{e}_i, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{b}}^j) = -d_i \delta_{ij} \ (i \in J, j \in J_e) \qquad \qquad \Lambda(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{b}}^i, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{b}}^j) = d_i b_{ij} \ (i, j \in J_e).$$

Therefore, we have

(5.2)
$$X_i \hat{X}_j = v^{-d_i \delta_{ij}} \hat{X}_j \hat{X}_i \ (i \in J, j \in J_e) \qquad \hat{X}_i \hat{X}_j = v^{d_i b_{ij}} \hat{X}_j \hat{X}_i \ (i, j \in J_e).$$

In particular, these v-commutation relations depend only on the vector d and the submatrix $B = (b_{ij})_{i,j \in J_e}$ (called the principal part of \widetilde{B}).

There exists a \mathbb{Z} -linear automorphism $\overline{(\cdot)}$ on \mathcal{T} given by

$$v^{r/2}X^{\boldsymbol{c}} \mapsto v^{-r/2}X^{\boldsymbol{c}}$$

for $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}^J$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}$. By the defining relation of \mathcal{T} , $\overline{(\cdot)}$ is an algebra anti-involution. By [4, Proposition 6.2], it restricts to a \mathbb{Z} -algebra anti-involution on the quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda, \tilde{B})$. This is called *the bar involution*.

5.2. Quantum tori for quantized coordinate algebras. Recall the setting in subsection 2.1.

Notation 5.1. When we fix $w \in W$ and $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \ldots, i_\ell) \in I(w)$, we write

$$w_{\leq k} := s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_k}, \ w_{\leq 0} := e,$$

$$k^+ := \min(\{\ell + 1\} \cup \{k + 1 \leq j \leq \ell \mid i_j = i_k\}),$$

$$k^- := \max(\{0\} \cup \{1 \leq j \leq k - 1 \mid i_j = i_k\}),$$

$$k^-(i) := \max(\{0\} \cup \{1 \leq j \leq k - 1 \mid i_j = i, c_{ii_k} \neq 0\}).$$

for $k = 1, \ldots, \ell$ and $i \in I$.

Remark 5.2. In [19, subsection 5.4], $k^-(i)$ is defined as $\max(\{0\} \cup \{1 \le j \le k-1 \mid i_j = i\})$. See also Notation 5.4.

The following compatible pairs give quantum tori for quantized coordinate algebras. See Theorem 8.2 for the precise relation to quantized coordinate algebras.

Proposition 5.3 ([19, Proposition 10.1, Lemma 11.3],[21, Proposition 10.4]). Let w_0 be the longest element of W. Fix $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \dots, i_{\ell(w_0)}) \in I(w_0)$. Set

$$J := \{1, \dots, \ell(w_0)\}, J_f = \{j \in J \mid j^+ = \ell(w_0) + 1\} and J_e := J \setminus J_f.$$

Define the $J \times J_e$ -integer matrix $\widetilde{B}^i = (b_{st})_{s \in J, t \in J_e}$ as

$$b_{st} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t = s^+, \\ c_{i_s i_t} & \text{if } s < t < s^+ < t^+, \\ -1 & \text{if } t^+ = s, \\ -c_{i_s i_t} & \text{if } t < s < t^+ < s^+, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Define $J \times J$ -skew-symmetric integer matrix $\Lambda^{i} = (\lambda_{st})_{s,t \in J}$ as

$$\lambda_{st} = (\varpi_{i_s} - w_{\leq s} \varpi_{i_s}, \varpi_{i_t} + w_{\leq t} \varpi_{i_t}) \text{ for } s < t.$$

Then $(\Lambda^{i}, \widetilde{B}^{i})$ is a compatible pair, and

$$\sum_{k\in J} b_{ks}\lambda_{kt} = 2r_{i_s}\delta_{st}$$

for all $s \in J_e$ and $t \in J$, (that is, $d_s = 2r_{i_s}$ for all $s \in J_e$).

Notation 5.4. It is easy to show that, if we take another reduced word i' of w_0 commutation equivalent to i in Proposition 5.3, we can obtain the same compatible pair up to an obvious simultaneous renaming of indices in J. In this sense, we may say that (Λ^i, \tilde{B}^i) depends only on the commutation class of i, and we will write it as $(\Lambda^{[i]}, \tilde{B}^{[i]})$. Moreover, the index set J can be regarded as the vertex set Δ_+ of the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver of [i]. See Theorem 3.14. After this identification, the operations k^+ and k^- and $k^-(i)$ on Δ_+ in Notation 5.1 depends only on the commutation class of i (see, for example, [56, Proposition 2.9]). Note that, if we exclude " $c_{ii_k} \neq 0$ " from the definition of $k^-(i)$, the operation $k^-(i)$ on Δ_+ depends on a choice of reduced words in [i]. When \mathfrak{g} is of type A_N , D_N or E_N , the entries of $\widetilde{B}^{[i]}$ are 0 or ± 1 , and the principal part of $\widetilde{B}^{[i]}$ is skew-symmetric. Hence, $\widetilde{B}^{[i]}$ is described as the quiver whose vertex set is the same as the vertex set of $\Upsilon_{[i]}$ and whose arrow set is given by

$$\{\beta \to \beta' \mid b_{\beta,\beta'} = 1 \text{ or } b_{\beta',\beta} = -1\}.$$

Note that there are no arrows between the vertices in J_f .

Example 5.5. (i) Let \mathcal{Q} be the one in Example 3.2 (i). Then the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}]}$ is described as follows :



(ii) Let \mathcal{Q} and ξ be the ones in Example 3.21 (ii). Then the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{>}]}$ is described as follows (here we consider the labelling $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},>}$):



6. The isomorphism between quantum tori

In this section, we prove an isomorphism between two kinds of quantum tori (Theorem 6.3) : the appropriate subalgebra $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ of \mathcal{Y}_t of type B_n , which will be defined before Theorem 6.3, and the quantum torus corresponding to the compatible pair $(\Lambda^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}, \widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]})$ (Proposition 5.3, Notation 5.4).

Recall the setting in subsection 3.5, that is, let \mathcal{Q} be a Dynkin quiver of type A_{2n-2} , $\xi \colon I = \{1, 2, \ldots, 2n-2\} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be an associated height function, and $\flat \in \{>, <\}$. Denote by $W^{A_{2n-1}}$ the Weyl group of type A_{2n-1} , and set $I_A := \{1, \ldots, 2n-1\}$, $I_B := \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Recall that the first component of an element of $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ is in I_B and the set I_B is regarded as an index set of the simple roots of type B_n . (However, note that the residue of an element of $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ is an element of I_A .) In the following, we usually use the symbols i, j, \ldots for the elements of I_B and use the symbols i, j for the elements of I_A .

By Proposition 5.3 and Notation 5.4, we have a compatible pair $(\Lambda^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}, \widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]})$. We write the corresponding quantum torus $\mathcal{T}(\Lambda^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]})$ as $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ for short. The twisted Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ and the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ are closely related as follows. Compare the quiver in Example 3.21 (ii) with 5.5 (ii) :

Proposition 6.1. We regard the vertex set of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ as $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ via $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. Then the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ is obtained from $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ by

- (B1) attaching the arrows of the form $(i, r) \to (i, r-2r_i)$ whenever $(i, r), (i, r-2r_i) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw,b}}$,
- (B2) removing all the arrows of the form $(n,r) \rightarrow (n-1,r+1)$,
- (B3) attaching the arrows of the form $(n,r) \to (n-1,r+3)$ whenever $(n,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ and $(n-1, r+3) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e,$
- (B4) removing the arrows between the vertices in $(\overline{I}_{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_f$.

More explicitly, the set of arrows of the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[Q^{\flat}]}$ is equal to the union of the following sets :

- (1) $\{(i,r) \rightarrow (i,r-2r_i) \mid (i,r), (i,r-2r_i) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$
- $\begin{array}{l} (2) \ \{(i,r) \to (j,r+2) \mid i,j \leq n-1, |i-j| = 1, (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}, (j,r+2) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e\} \\ (3) \ \{(n-1,r) \to (n,r+1) \mid (n-1,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}, (n,r+1) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e\} \\ (4) \ \{(n,r) \to (n-1,r+3) \mid (n,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}, (n-1,r+3) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e\}. \end{array}$

Proof. By the definition of compatible reading and twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{O}^{\flat}]}$, we have

$$(i,r)^+ = (i,r-2r_i)$$

for $(i, r) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e$ (recall Notation 5.1, 5.4). Hence the arrows (1), which are not the arrows of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, are in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$. The remaining arrows in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ are of the form $(i, r) \to (j, s)$ such that

- $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ and $(j,s) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_{e}$,
- $|\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((i,r)) \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((j,s))| = 1,$

•
$$(j,s) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (i,r) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (j,s-2r_j) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (i,r)^+.$$

Here we regard $(i,r)^+$ as a maximum element with respect to $\prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ if $(i,r)^+ \notin \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. From now, we assume the first condition. Note that all arrows in $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ whose target is in $(\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_f$ are removed by (B2) and (B4) because of the twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$.

Assume that $i, j \leq n - 1$. Then we have

$$|\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((i,r)) - \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((j,s))| = 1 \text{ and } (j,s) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (i,r) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (j,s-4)$$

if and only if

$$|i - j| = 1$$
 and $r = s - 2$

by twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[Q^b]}$. Moreover, in this case, $(j, s - 4) < (i, r)^+$ is automatically satisfied. Hence the arrows (2) are all the arrows $(i, r) \rightarrow (j, s)$ with $i, j \leq n-1$ in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, and they are also the ones in the quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ except for the arrows between the vertices in $(\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_f$.

Next, we consider the case that j = n. Then,

$$|\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((i,r)) - \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((n,s))| = 1 \text{ and } (n,s) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (i,r) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (n,s-2)$$

if and only if

$$i = n - 1$$
 and $r = s - 1$

by twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[Q^{\flat}]}$. Moreover, in this case, $(n, s - 2) < (i, r)^+$ is automatically satisfied. Hence the arrows (3) are all the arrows of the form $(i, r) \to (n, s)$ in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[Q^{\flat}]}$, and they are also the ones in the quiver $\Upsilon_{[Q^{\flat}]}$ except for the arrows between the vertices in $(\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_{f}$.

Finally, we consider the case that i = n. Then,

$$|\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((n,r)) - \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((j,s))| = 1 \text{ and } (j,s) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (n,r) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (j,s-2r_j)$$

if and only if

$$j = n - 1$$
 and $[r = s - 1 \text{ or } s - 3]$

by twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$. If r = s - 1, then $(n - 1, s) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (n, s - 1) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (n, s - 1)^{+} = (n, s - 3) \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} (n - 1, s - 4)$. Hence there are no arrows from (n, s - 1) to (n - 1, s) in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$. Note that such an arrow exists in $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$. If r = s - 3, then $(n - 1, s - 4) < (n, r)^{+}$ is satisfied. Hence the arrows (4) are all the arrows of the form $(n, r) \rightarrow (n, s)$ in the quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, and they are not arrows in the quiver $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, which completes the proof. \Box

Remark 6.2. It follows from Proposition 6.1 that the opposite quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[Q^{\flat}]}$ is isomorphic to a full subquiver of the quiver G^- for type $B_n^{(1)}$ in [31, section 2], introduced by the first author and Leclerc. Here the overall difference of directions of arrows is not essential. Note that, if we identify the vertex set of the opposite quiver of $\widetilde{B}^{[Q^{\flat}]}$ with $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$, then the labellings of vertices of these two quivers are the same up to shift of second components.

Define $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ as the $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of the quantum torus \mathcal{Y}_t of type B_n generated by $\{\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{\pm 1} \mid (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$. For $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$, we set

(6.1)
$$k(i,r) := \#\{r' \in \mathbb{Z} \mid (i,r') \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}, r' - r \in 2r_i \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\}.$$

The following is our first main theorem.

Theorem 6.3. We regard the vertex set of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ as $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ via $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. There exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \colon \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ given by

$$v^{\pm 1/2} \mapsto t^{\mp 1/2}$$
 $X_{(i,r)} \mapsto \underline{m}_{k(i,r),r}^{(i)} = \underbrace{\prod_{s=1}^{k(i,r)} Y_{i,r+2r_i(s-1)}}_{s=1},$

for $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. Moreover, $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \circ \overline{(\cdot)} = \overline{(\cdot)} \circ \widetilde{\Phi}^T$.

Proof. The equality $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \circ \overline{(\cdot)} = \overline{(\cdot)} \circ \widetilde{\Phi}^T$ follows from direct checks on generators. Indeed, $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \circ \overline{(\cdot)}$ and $\overline{(\cdot)} \circ \widetilde{\Phi}^T$ are algebra anti-homomorphisms. Moreover, if there exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ given by the correspondence in the theorem, then it is easy to show that it is an isomorphism.

We will prove the existence of the \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T$. It follows from the explicit form of $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ given by twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ and Proposition 6.1 that $\widehat{X}_{(i,r)}$ with

$$(i,r) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e$$
 (recall the notation in subsection 5.1) coincides, up to powers of $v^{\pm \frac{1}{2}}$, with

(6.2)
$$\begin{cases} X_{(i,r)} - X_{(i,r-4)}^{-1} \prod_{j;|i-j|=1}^{\overline{\prod}} \left(X_{(j,r-2)} X_{(j,r-2)^{-}}^{-1} \right) & \text{if } i \le n-2\\ X_{(n-1,r)} - X_{(n-1,r-4)}^{-1} X_{(n-2,r-2)} X_{(n-2,r-2)^{-}}^{-1} X_{(n,r-3)} X_{(n,r-1)^{-}}^{-1} & \text{if } i = n-1\\ X_{(n,r)} - X_{(n,r-2)}^{-1} X_{(n-1,r-1)} X_{(n-1,r-1)^{-}}^{-1} & \text{if } i = n. \end{cases}$$

Here we set $X_0 := 1$ (0 stands for 0 in the sense of Notation 5.1) and, when n = 2, $X_{(0,r-2)}X_{(0,r-2)^-}^{-1} := 1$. For $i \in I_A$, define Ξ_i as in Lemma 3.23 and set

$$\Xi'_{i} := \begin{cases} \xi(n-1) + \xi(n) & \text{if } \flat => \text{ and } i = n, \\ 2\Xi_{i} & \text{otherwide,} \end{cases} \quad \Pi_{i} := \begin{cases} (i, \Xi'_{i}) & \text{if } 1 \leq i \leq n, \\ (2n-i, \Xi'_{i}) & \text{if } n+1 \leq i \leq 2n-1. \end{cases}$$

Note that Ξ'_i and Π_i depend only on ξ , and they are independent of the choice of \flat . Let

$$X'_{\Pi_{i}} := \begin{cases} v^{\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{(n,2\Xi_{n}),\Pi_{n}}} X_{(n,2\Xi_{n})}^{-1} X_{\Pi_{n}} & \text{if } \flat => \text{ and } i = n, \\ X_{\Pi_{i}} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

(recall the notation in Proposition 5.3). Then the explicit forms (6.2) imply that the quantum torus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}^{\flat}}$ is generated by

(6.3)
$$\{\hat{X}_{(i,r)}^{\pm 1} \mid (i,r) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e\} \cup \{(X'_{\Pi_i})^{\pm 1} \mid i \in I_{\mathrm{A}}\}.$$

Moreover, because of the explicit forms (6.2) again, it suffices to show that there exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \colon \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^\flat} \to \mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}$ given by

(6.4)
$$\begin{cases} v^{1/2} \mapsto t^{-1/2}, \\ \hat{X}_{(i,r)} \mapsto \widetilde{A}_{i,r-r_i}^{-1} & \text{for } (i,r) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat})_e, \\ X'_{\Pi_i} \mapsto \underline{\widetilde{Y}_{\Pi_i}} & \text{for } i \in I_A. \end{cases}$$

For $i, j \in I$, there exists $\lambda_{i,j} \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that the generators of $\mathcal{T}_{Q^{\flat}}$ satisfy the following relations (recall (5.2) and the notation in Proposition 5.3) :

(6.5)
$$\hat{X}_{(i,r)}\hat{X}_{(j,s)} = v^{2b_{(i,r),(j,s)}}\hat{X}_{(j,s)}\hat{X}_{(i,r)} \text{ for } (i,r), (j,s) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_{e},$$

(6.6)
$$X_{\Pi_{i}}\hat{X}_{(j,s)} = v^{-2\delta(\Pi_{i}=(j,s))}\hat{X}_{(j,s)}X_{\Pi_{i}} \text{ for } i \in I_{\mathcal{A}} \text{ and } (j,s) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_{e},$$

(6.7)
$$X'_{\Pi_n} \hat{X}_{(j,s)} = v^{2\delta((n,2\Xi_n)=(j,s))-2\delta(\Pi_n=(j,s))} \hat{X}_{(j,s)} X'_{\Pi_n} \text{ when } \flat => \text{ and } (j,s) \in (\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat})_e,$$

(6.8)
$$X'_{\Pi_{i}}X'_{\Pi_{j}} = v^{\lambda_{i,j}}X'_{\Pi_{j}}X'_{\Pi_{i}}$$
 for $i, j \in I_{\mathcal{A}}$

Note that the relations of the generators (6.3) of $\mathcal{T}_{Q^{\flat}}$ are exhausted by (6.5), (6.6), (6.7) and (6.8).

Here we compute $\lambda_{i,j}$ explicitly. Define $\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{tw}} = s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_{2n-1}} \in W^{A_{2n-1}}$ by

$$\{i_1, \ldots, i_{2n-1}\} = I_A$$
 with $k < k'$ whenever $\prod_{i_k} \prec_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} \prod_{i_{k'}}$.

By Proposition 3.11 (3), the processes (T1)-(T4) in subsection 3.4 and Proposition 5.3, we have the following :

If $\flat = <$, then

$$\lambda_{i,j} = (\varpi_i, \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j) - (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{tw}} \varpi_i, \varpi_j) = (\varpi_i, \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j - \varpi_j) - (\varpi_i, (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{tw}})^{-1} \varpi_j - \varpi_j)$$

If $\flat =>$, $i \neq n$ and $j \neq n$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_{i,j} &= (\varpi_i, s_n \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_j) - (s_n \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_i, \varpi_j) \\ &= (\varpi_i, \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_j) - (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_i, \varpi_j) \\ &= (\varpi_i, \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_j - \varpi_j) - (\varpi_i, (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}})^{-1} \varpi_j - \varpi_j). \end{aligned}$$

If $\flat =>$, i = n and $j \neq n$, then

$$\lambda_{n,j} = -(\alpha_n, \varpi_j + s_n \phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j) + (\varpi_n, s_n \phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j) - (s_n \phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_n, \varpi_j)$$
$$= (\varpi_n, \phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j) - (\phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_n, \varpi_j)$$
$$= (\varpi_i, \phi_Q^{\text{tw}} \varpi_j - \varpi_j) - (\varpi_i, (\phi_Q^{\text{tw}})^{-1} \varpi_j - \varpi_j).$$

Therefore, for all cases and all $i, j \in I_A$, we have

$$\lambda_{i,j} = (\varpi_i, \phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_j - \varpi_j) - (\varpi_i, (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}})^{-1} \varpi_j - \varpi_j).$$

Let Υ_{Ξ} be the quiver whose vertex set is I_A and whose arrow set is $\{i \to j \mid |i-j| = 1, \Xi'_j > \Xi'_i\}$. (A reduced word of ϕ_Q^{tw} corresponds to a compatible reading of Υ_{Ξ} .) For $j \in I_A$, set

$${}^{j}B := \{j' \mid \text{there is a path from } j \text{ to } j' \text{ in } \Upsilon_{\Xi}\},\ B^{j} := \{j' \mid \text{there is a path from } j' \text{ to } j \text{ in } \Upsilon_{\Xi}\}.$$

Then

$$\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \varpi_{j} - \varpi_{j} = -\sum_{j' \in {}^{j}B} \alpha_{j'}, \qquad (\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mathrm{tw}})^{-1} \varpi_{j} - \varpi_{j} = -\sum_{j' \in B^{j}} \alpha_{j'}.$$

Therefore, for $i, j \in I_A$ with $\Xi'_i \ge \Xi'_j$, we have

(6.9)
$$X'_{\Pi_{i}}X'_{\Pi_{j}} = \begin{cases} v^{-\delta(i\in^{j}B)}X'_{\Pi_{j}}X'_{\Pi_{i}} & \text{if } \Xi'_{i} > \Xi'_{j} \\ X'_{\Pi_{j}}X'_{\Pi_{i}} & \text{if } \Xi'_{i} = \Xi'_{j} \end{cases}$$

It remains to show that the correspondence (6.4) is compatible with the relations (6.5), (6.6), (6.7) and (6.9). The compatibility with (6.5) directly follows from Proposition 6.1 and the relation (4.4):

$$\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{-1}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1} = t^{\alpha(i,r;j,s)}\widetilde{A}_{j,s}^{-1}\widetilde{A}_{i,r}^{-1},$$

where $\alpha(i,r;j,s) = \begin{cases} 2(-\delta_{r-s,2r_i} + \delta_{r-s,-2r_i}) & \text{if } i = j, \\ 2(-\delta_{r-s,-2} + \delta_{r-s,2}) & \text{if } |i-j| = 1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$

The compatibility with (6.6) and (6.7) is a straightforward consequence of the relation (4.5).

Finally, we check the compatibility with (6.9). Recall that, for $i, j \in I_B$ and $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $r \geq s$, we have

$$\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}\widetilde{Y}_{j,s} = t^{\gamma(i,r;j,s)}\widetilde{Y}_{j,s}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r},$$

where

$$\gamma(i,r;j,s) = \begin{cases} \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j-r+s) - \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r_j-r+s) & \text{if } r > s, \\ 0 & \text{if } r = s. \end{cases}$$

(See Remark 4.5). Hence it suffices to show that $\gamma(\Pi_i; \Pi_j) = \delta(i \in {}^{j}B)$ for $i, j \in I_A$ with $\Xi'_i > \Xi'_j$. Consider the following cases :

(a)
$$1 \le i \le n-1$$
, (b) $i = n$, (c) $n+1 \le i \le 2n-1$.

We deal with only the case (a). The cases (b) and (c) can be treated exactly in the similar way. The details are left to the reader.

For $j \in I_A$, set

$$r^{(j)} := \begin{cases} -2|j-i| & \text{if } 1 \le j \le n-1, \\ -2(n-i)+1 & \text{if } j = n, \\ -2(j-i)+2 & \text{if } n+1 \le j \le 2n-1 \end{cases}$$

Then, for $i \in {}^{j}B$, we have

$$-\Xi'_{i} + \Xi'_{j} \begin{cases} = r^{(j)} & \text{if } i \in {}^{j}B, \\ \in r^{(j)} + 4\mathbb{Z}_{>0} & \text{if } i \notin {}^{j}B \text{ and } j \neq n, \\ \in r^{(n)} + 2\mathbb{Z}_{>0} & \text{if } i \notin {}^{j}B \text{ and } j = n. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{c}_{jl}(-2+r^{(j)}+4k) = \delta_{0,k} & \text{if } 1 \le j \le n-1, \\ \widetilde{c}_{2n-j,i}(-2+r^{(j)}+4k) = \delta_{0,k} & \text{if } n+1 \le j \le 2n-1, \\ \widetilde{c}_{n,i}(-1+r^{(n)}+2k) = \delta_{0,k} & \text{if } j = n, \end{cases}$$

by Example 4.3 (or Lemma A.1). Therefore, we have

$$\gamma(\Pi_i,\Pi_j) = \delta(i \in {}^jB)$$

г		
L		

7. QUANTUM GROTHENDIECK RINGS

In this section, we recall the definition of t-deformed q-characters, in other words, a tdeformed Grothendieck ring $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$, following the approach in [23]. We should remark that in the case of type $A_N^{(1)}$, $D_N^{(1)}$ and $E_N^{(1)}$, such a t-deformed Grothendieck ring was also constructed in [54, 60] by another method using quiver varieties (and a slightly different quantum torus).

7.1. Quantum Grothendieck rings. We return to the general setting in section 4. For $i \in I$, let $\mathcal{K}_{i,t}$ be a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -algebra of \mathcal{Y}_t generated by $\{\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}(1 + t\widetilde{A}_{i,r+r_i}^{-1}), \widetilde{Y}_{j,r}^{\pm 1} \mid r \in \mathbb{Z}, j \in I \setminus \{i\}\}.$

 Set

$$\mathcal{K}_t(=K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})):=\bigcap_{i\in I}\mathcal{K}_{i,t}.$$

See [23, section 4, 5] for the background of these algebras. The ring \mathcal{K}_t is called *the quantum Grothendieck ring of* \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} . A priori it is not clear that \mathcal{K}_t contains non-zero elements. However we have the following.

Theorem 7.1 ([23, Theorem 5.11]). For every dominant monomial \widetilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t , there uniquely exists an element $F_t(\widetilde{m})$ of \mathcal{K}_t such that \widetilde{m} is the unique dominant monomial occurring in $F_t(\widetilde{m})$. Moreover, any monomial \widetilde{m}' occurring in $F_t(\widetilde{m}) - \widetilde{m}$ satisfies $\widetilde{m}' < \widetilde{m}$. In particular, the set $\{F_t(\underline{m}) \mid m \text{ is a dominant monomial in } \mathcal{Y}\}$ forms a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -basis of \mathcal{K}_t .

Note that $F_t(\underline{m})$ is $\overline{(\cdot)}$ -invariant for any dominant monomial m.

Remark 7.2. In [23], the first author considered a completion of \mathcal{K}_t to construct the elements $F_t(\tilde{m})$. However, a posteriori, we do not need this completion. See [23, subsection 7.1] and [24, subsection 7.3].

For a dominant monomial \widetilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t , set

$$E_t(\widetilde{m}) = \widetilde{m} \left(\prod_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{i \in I} \widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m})} \right) \right)^{-1} \prod_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{i \in I} F_t(\widetilde{Y}_{i,r})^{u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m})} \right),$$

here $\prod_{i \in I} \widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m})}$ is well-defined by (4.3), and $\prod_{i \in I} F_t(\widetilde{Y}_{i,r})^{u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m})}$ is well-defined by [23,

Lemma 5.12]. Note that
$$\widetilde{m}\left(\prod_{r\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{i\in I} \widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{u_{i,r}}(\widetilde{m})\right)\right) = t^{\beta}$$
 for some $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$.

There is a maximal monomial in $E_t(\tilde{m})$ and it is equal to \tilde{m} . In particular, by Theorem 7.1,

(7.1)
$$E_t(\underline{m}) = F_t(\underline{m}) + \sum_{m' < m} C_{m,m'} F_t(\underline{m}')$$

with $C_{m,m'} \in \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ (in fact, $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1}]$). Note that the set $\{E_t(\underline{m}) \mid m \text{ is a dominant monomial in } \mathcal{Y}\}$ also forms a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -basis of \mathcal{K}_t since

(7.2)
$$\#\{m' \mid m' < m, m' \text{ is a dominant monomial in } \mathcal{Y}\} < \infty$$

for any dominant monomial m [23, subsection 3.4]. For a monomial \tilde{m} in \mathcal{Y}_t , we have

$$\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(E_t(\widetilde{m})) = \chi_q(M(m)) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\mathcal{K}_t) = \chi_q(K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet}))$$

[23, Theorem 6.2], here we set

$$M(m) := \bigotimes_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\bigotimes_{i \in I} L(Y_{i,r})^{\otimes u_{i,r}(\widetilde{m})} \right),$$

called a standard module. Note that, for any fixed $r \in \mathbb{Z}$, the isomorphism class of the tensor product $\bigotimes_{i \in I} L(Y_{i,r})^{\otimes u_{i,r}(\tilde{m})}$ does not depend on the ordering of the factors, and it is in fact simple [13, Proposition 6.15]. The element $E_t(\underline{m})$ is called the (q, t)-character of the standard module M(m).

We consider another kind of elements $L_t(\underline{m})$ which is conjectually a *t*-deformed version of the *q*-character of simple modules. See Conjecture 7.4 below.

Theorem 7.3 ([54, Theorem 8.1], [23, Theorem 6.9]). For a dominant monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , there uniquely exists an element $L_t(\underline{m})$ in \mathcal{K}_t such that

(S1) $L_t(\underline{m}) = L_t(\underline{m})$, and

 $(S2) L_t(\underline{\underline{m}}) = E_t(\underline{\underline{m}}) + \sum_{\underline{m'} < \underline{m}} Q_{\underline{m},\underline{m'}} E_t(\underline{\underline{m'}}) \text{ with } Q_{\underline{m},\underline{m'}} \in t^{-1}\mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}].$

Moreover, the set $\{L_t(\underline{m}) \mid m \text{ is a dominant monomial}\}$ forms a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -basis of \mathcal{K}_t .

The element $L_t(\underline{m})$ is called the (q, t)-character of the simple module L(m). In fact, in the case when $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ is of simply-laced type, Nakajima [54, Theorem 8.1] also proved that

$$\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(L_t(\underline{m})) = \chi_q(L(m)).$$

Its proof is based on a geometric method using quiver varieties, and it is valid only in the simply-laced case. Hence the following is still a conjecture in general :

Conjecture 7.4 ([23, Conjecture 7.3]). For all dominant monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , we have

$$\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(L_t(\underline{m})) = \chi_q(L(m)).$$

In this paper, we will prove Conjecture 7.4 in the case that L(m) is an object of $C_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$, $\flat \in \{>,<\}$ (Corollary 11.8).

Remark 7.5. Let m be a dominant monomial in \mathcal{Y} . By (7.2) and (S2), we have

$$E_t(\underline{m}) = \sum_{m'} P_{m,m'}(t) L_t(\underline{m'})$$

for some $P_{m,m'}(t) \in \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}]$. More precisely, we have

$$P_{m,m'}(t) \begin{cases} = 1 & \text{if } m' = m, \\ \in t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] & \text{if } m' < m, \\ = 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

as (1.1). Hence, if Conjecture 7.4 holds, we obtain

(7.3)
$$[M(m)] = \sum_{m'} P_{m,m'}(1)[L(m')]$$

in $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$. Therefore $P_{m,m'}(t)$ can be considered as an analogue of Kazhdan-Lusztig polynomials. Note that there is an inductive algorithm to compute $P_{m,m'}(t)$ (more precisely, $Q_{m,m'}$ in (S2)), sometimes called *the Kazhdan-Lusztig algorithm* (see, for example, [50, Lemma 24.2.1] and Remark 7.7 below).

Notation 7.6. For a monomial m in \mathcal{Y} , we will write

$$F_t(m) := F_t(\underline{m})$$
 $E_t(m) := E_t(\underline{m})$ $L_t(m) := L_t(\underline{m})$

for simplicity.

Remark 7.7. The unitriangular property of the (q, t)-characters of standard modules with respect to $\overline{(\cdot)}$ is also included in Theorem 7.3. Indeed, by (7.2) and (S2), we have

$$E_t(m) \in L_t(m) + \sum_{m' < m} t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] L_t(m').$$

Hence, by (S1),

$$\overline{E_t(m)} \in L_t(m) + \sum_{m' < m} t\mathbb{Z}[t]L_t(m').$$

By (S2) again, we have

$$\overline{E_t(m)} \in E_t(m) + \sum_{m' < m} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1}] E_t(m').$$

Remark 7.8. The characterization property (S2) can be replaced by the following :

(S2)'
$$L_t(m) - E_t(m) \in \sum_{m'} t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] E_t(m')$$

Indeed, if an element $x \in \mathcal{K}_t$ satisfies (S2)', that is, $x - E_t(m) \in \sum_{m'} t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] E_t(m')$, we have

$$x \in L_t(m) + \sum_{m'} t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] L_t(m'),$$

by (7.2) and (S2) (cf. Remark 7.7). Therefore x is equal to $L_t(m)$ if x also satisfies (S1) because it is the unique $\overline{(\cdot)}$ -invariant element in $L_t(m) + \sum_{m'} t^{-1} \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}] L_t(m')$.

7.2. The quantum Grothendieck ring of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$. Recall the setting and notation in subsection 3.5. Set

$$\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}(=K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})) := \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}] F_t(m) \subset \mathcal{K}_t.$$

Then, we have

$$\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}} = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}] E_t(m) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}] L_t(m)$$

by (7.1), (7.2) and (S2) in Theorem 7.3. Note that it follows from the argument in the proof of Lemma 3.26 that, for dominant monomials m, m' with m' < m, the condition $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$ implies $m' \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Lemma 7.9. The $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -module $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ is a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{Y}_t generated by $\{F_t(Y_{i,r}) \mid (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$.

Proof. It suffices to show that, for $m, m' \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$, the dominant monomials appearing in $F_t(m)F_t(m')$ are contained in $\mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$. We can prove it in the same manner as the proof of Lemma 3.26.

The algebra $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ is called the quantum Grothendieck ring of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$. Recall $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ defined before Theorem 6.3. For $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$, define $E_t(m)^T$ as an element of $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ which is obtained from $E_t(m)$ by discarding the monomials containing the terms $\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}^{\pm 1}$, $(i,r) \notin \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. This is called the truncation of the (q,t)-character $E_t(m)$. By the same argument as in [29, Proposition 6.1], we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 7.10. The assignment $E_t(m) \mapsto E_t(m)^T$ is extended to an injective algebra homomorphism $(\cdot)^T \colon \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat} \to \mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}$.

The image of $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ under the truncation $(\cdot)^T$ will be denoted by $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}^T$. Note that the algebra anti-involution $\overline{(\cdot)}$ on \mathcal{Y}_t restricts to that on $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$, and $(\cdot)^T$ commutes with $\overline{(\cdot)}$.

Remark 7.11. By the injectivity of $(\cdot)^T$, its compatibility with $\overline{(\cdot)}$ and Remark 7.8, the truncation of a (q, t)-character $L_t(m)^T$ is characterized in $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}^T$ by the following properties :

(tr-S1) $\overline{L_t(m)^T} = L_t(m)^T$, and (tr-S2') $L_t(m)^T - E_t(m)^T \in \sum_{m' \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}} t^{-1}\mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}]E_t(m')^T$.

8. QUANTIZED COORDINATE ALGEBRAS

Through our isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T$, the two algebras arising from different contexts are related. The counterpart of $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}$ is actually a quantized coordinate algebra, which is our second main theorem (Theorem 10.1). In this section, we briefly review results about quantized coordinate algebras. See also Appendix C.

We return to the general setting in subsection 2.1. The negative half $\mathcal{U}_v^-(=\mathcal{U}_v^-(\mathbf{X}_N))$ of the quantized enveloping algebra of type \mathbf{X}_N over $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ is the unital associative $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra defined by the generators $\{f_i \mid i \in I\}$ and the relations

$$\sum_{k=0}^{1-c_{ij}} (-1)^k \left[\begin{array}{c} 1-c_{ij} \\ k \end{array} \right]_{v_i} f_i^k f_j f_i^{1-c_{ij}-k} = 0$$

for all $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$.

This is a $-Q_+$ -graded algebra by deg $f_i = -\alpha_i$. For a homogeneous element x of \mathcal{U}_v^- with respect to this grading, we write wt $x := \deg(x) \in -Q_+$, and it is called *the weight of x*.

The quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-](=\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{X}_N}])$ is a specific $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{U}_v^- , which satisfies the properties :

$$\mathbb{Q}(v^{\pm 1/2}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}_v[N_-] \simeq \mathcal{U}_v^- \qquad \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}_v[N_-] \simeq \mathbb{C}[N_-].$$

Here \mathbb{C} is regarded as a $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -module via $v^{\pm 1/2} \mapsto 1$, and $\mathbb{C}[N_-]$ is the coordinate algebra of the complex unipotent algebraic group N_- whose Lie algebra is the negative half of \mathfrak{g} with respect to its triangular decomposition. See Appendix C for the precise definition of $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$, and, for example, [18, subsection 5.1], [45, subsection 4.9] for more details. In particular, $\mathbb{C}[N_-]$ is commutative. We have an obvious \mathbb{Z} -algebra homomorphism

$$\operatorname{ev}_{v=1}\colon \mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}] \to \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}] \simeq \mathbb{C}[N_{-}],$$

called the specialization at v = 1.

For $\lambda \in P_+$ and $w, w' \in W$, we can define a homogeneous element $\widetilde{D}_{w\lambda,w'\lambda}$ of $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$, called a normalized unipotent quantum minor, as in [45, section 6], [19, section 5]. Its precise definition is written in Appendix C. We recall here their properties which are important to this paper.

Remark 8.1. There are several conventions of the definitions of quantized coordinate algebras and (normalized) unipotent quantum minors. For example, in [30], quantized coordinate algebras are defined through the *positive* half of the quantized enveloping algebras. The reference [46, Remark 7.16] may be convenient to consider the relations between several conventions. Note that our convention coincides with the one in [46] by just adding $v^{\pm 1/2}$ in the base ring (see Appendix C.2 for the normalization of unipotent quantum minors).

For $\lambda \in P_+$ and $w, w' \in W$, we have

$$\widetilde{D}_{w\lambda,w'\lambda} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } w\lambda = w'\lambda, \\ 0 & \text{if } w\lambda \not\leq w'\lambda, \end{cases} \quad \text{wt } \widetilde{D}_{w\lambda,w'\lambda} = w\lambda - w'\lambda \text{ if } w\lambda \leq w'\lambda$$

The quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$ has a quantum cluster algebra structure whose initial quantum cluster variables are described by the normalized unipotent quantum minors :

Theorem 8.2 ([19, Theorem 12.3],[21, Theorem 10.1]). Let w_0 be the longest element of W. Fix $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \ldots i_\ell) \in I(w_0)$. Recall the notations in Proposition 5.3. Then there is a $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra isomorphism

$$\operatorname{CL}: \mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{i}, \widetilde{B}^{i}) \to \mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}]$$

given by

$$X_k \mapsto \widetilde{D}_{w_{\leq k} \varpi_{i_k}, \varpi_{i_k}}$$

for all $k \in J = \{1, \ldots, \ell\}$. Moreover, $\operatorname{CL}(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{i}, \widetilde{B}^{i})) \supset \mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}]$.

Remark 8.3. We can easily check that the isomorphism CL is still well-defined even if we identify the quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{i}, \widetilde{B}^{i})$ with the one arising from a different reduced word commutation equivalent to i as in Notation 5.4. Hence we will regard CL as the map from $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]} \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{[i]}, \widetilde{B}^{[i]})$.

Remark 8.4. In the following, through CL^{-1} , we will regard $\mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}]$ as a subalgebra of $\mathcal{T}_{[i]}$.

Fix
$$\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \dots, i_\ell) \in I(w_0)$$
. For $\beta, \gamma \in \Delta_+$ with $\operatorname{res}^{[\mathbf{i}]}(\beta) = \operatorname{res}^{[\mathbf{i}]}(\gamma)(=\mathbf{i})$ and $\gamma \preceq_{[\mathbf{i}]} \beta$, set
 $\widetilde{D}^{[\mathbf{i}]}(\beta, \gamma) := \widetilde{D}_{w_{\leq d}\varpi_i, w_{\leq b}\varpi_i},$

here $\beta = \beta_d^i$ and $\gamma = \beta_b^i$ $(d \ge b)$. It can be checked easily that the right-hand side depends only on the commutation class of i and β, γ , hence this element is well-defined. Moreover, we set $\widetilde{D}^{[i]}(\beta, 0) = \widetilde{D}_{w \le d \varpi_{i_d}, \varpi_{i_d}}$, where $\beta = \beta_d^i$, for $\beta \in \Delta_+$ (0 stands for 0 in the sense of Notation 5.1, and these elements are also well-defined) and $\widetilde{D}^{[i]}(\beta, \beta) := 1$ for $\beta \in \Delta_+$. These elements satisfy a specific system of equalities as follows (recall Notation 5.1 and 5.4) :

Proposition 8.5 (A system of quantum determinantal identities [19, Proposition 5.5]). Let $\mathbf{i} \in I(w_0), \ \beta, \gamma \in \Delta_+ \ with \ \operatorname{res}^{[\mathbf{i}]}(\beta) = \operatorname{res}^{[\mathbf{i}]}(\gamma)(=\mathbf{i}) \ and \ \gamma \prec_{[\mathbf{i}]} \beta$. Then there exist $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$(8.1) \quad \widetilde{D}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta,\gamma)\widetilde{D}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta^{-},\gamma^{-}) = v^{a/2}\widetilde{D}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta,\gamma^{-})\widetilde{D}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta^{-},\gamma) + v^{b/2} \prod_{j\in I\setminus\{i\}} \widetilde{D}^{[\boldsymbol{i}]}(\beta^{-}(j),\gamma^{-}(j))^{-c_{ji}}$$

in $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$.

They are regarded as a quantum analogue of determinantal identities. It is shown in [18, section 13] and [19, section 12] that they are also regarded as specific exchange relations of quantum clusters when we consider the quantum cluster algebra structure given in Theorem 8.2.

Remark 8.6. The explicit powers a/2, b/2 of v in (8.1) can be calculated (see [19, Proposition 5.5]). However we do not need them in this paper.

Let
$$\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \dots i_{\ell(w_0)}) \in I(w_0)$$
. For $j = 1, \dots, \ell(w_0)$, write

$$\widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\beta_k^{\mathbf{i}}, \mathbf{i}) := \widetilde{D}_{w < k \varpi_i, w < k-1 \varpi_i},$$

here $\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{i}} := w_{\leq k-1}(\alpha_{i_k})$. Note that wt $\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{i}}, \boldsymbol{i}) = -\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{i}}$. This is an analogue of the dual function of a root vector corresponding to $-\beta_k^{\boldsymbol{i}}$. For $\boldsymbol{c} = (c_\beta)_{\beta \in \Delta_+} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\Delta_+}$, set

(8.2)
$$\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},\boldsymbol{i}) = v^{-\sum_{s < t} c_s c_t} (\beta_s^{\boldsymbol{i}}, \beta_t^{\boldsymbol{i}})/2} \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}} (\beta_\ell^{\boldsymbol{i}}, \boldsymbol{i})^{c_\ell} \cdots \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}} (\beta_2^{\boldsymbol{i}}, \boldsymbol{i})^{c_2} \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}} (\beta_1^{\boldsymbol{i}}, \boldsymbol{i})^{c_1},$$

here we write $c_s := c_{\beta_s^i}$ for $s = 1, \ldots, \ell$.

Remark 8.7. The element $\widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\boldsymbol{c}, \boldsymbol{i})$ coincides with $*(F^{up}(\boldsymbol{c}, \boldsymbol{i}))$ in [46] up to powers of $v^{\pm 1/2}$. See also [47, Proposition 5.3.5]. The subscript -1 is attached just for this conventional reason, and it originally comes from the one in $T'_{i,-1}$ in [50, Chapter 37].

In fact, for $i' \in [i]$, we have

 $\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\text{up}}}\left(\boldsymbol{c},\boldsymbol{i}\right) = \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\text{up}}}\left(\boldsymbol{c},\boldsymbol{i}'\right)$

for all $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{\Delta_+}$. Therefore, we will write $\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c}, \boldsymbol{i})$ as $\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\boldsymbol{i}])$.

Proposition 8.8 (see, for instance, [50, Chapter 40, 41]). The set $\{\widetilde{F}_{-1}^{up}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\boldsymbol{i}]) \mid \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{\Delta_+}\}$ forms a $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -basis of $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$.

The basis $\{\widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\boldsymbol{i}]) \mid \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\Delta_+}\}$ is called a normalized dual Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt type basis (henceforth, a normalized dual PBW-type basis). In particular, $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$ is generated by $\{\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\beta, [\boldsymbol{i}])\}_{\beta \in \Delta_+} = \{\widetilde{D}^{\boldsymbol{i}}(k, k^-) \mid k = 1, \dots, \ell\}.$ There exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra anti-involution $\sigma' \colon \mathcal{A}_v[N_-] \to \mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$ given by

$$v^{\pm 1/2} \mapsto v^{\mp 1/2} \qquad \qquad \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\beta, [\boldsymbol{i}]) \mapsto \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\beta, [\boldsymbol{i}])$$

for $\beta \in \Delta_+$. We call σ' the twisted dual bar involution. This is compatible with the bar involution in the theory of quantum cluster algebras, that is,

(8.3)
$$\operatorname{CL} \circ (\cdot) = \sigma' \circ \operatorname{CL}.$$

Lusztig [48, 49, 50] and Kashiwara [39] have constructed a specific $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -basis \mathbf{B}^{up} of $\mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}]$, which is called the dual canonical basis. Moreover, we can consider the normalized dual canonical bases $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up}$. Following the usual convention, we write $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up} = \{\widetilde{G^{up}}(b) \mid b \in \mathscr{B}(\infty)\}$. In this paper, $\mathscr{B}(\infty)$ is just an index set of the dual canonical basis. See, for instance, [41] for the additional remarkable structure, called the Kashiwara crystal structure, on $\mathscr{B}(\infty)$ which will not be used in this paper. The normalized dual canonical basis $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up}$ is characterized as follows :

Theorem 8.9 ([45, Theorem 4.29]). Let $i \in I(w_0)$. Then each element $\widetilde{G^{up}}(b)$ of $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up}$ is characterized by the following conditions :

(NDCB1) $\sigma'(\widetilde{G^{up}}(b)) = \widetilde{G^{up}}(b)$, and $\begin{array}{l} \text{(NDCB1)} \ \ b \in (\mathbf{G}^{\mathbf{u}}(b)) = \mathbf{G}^{\mathbf{u}}(b), \ and \\ \text{(NDCB2)} \ \ \widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b) = \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\mathbf{c}, [\mathbf{i}]) + \sum_{\mathbf{c}' < [\mathbf{i}] \mathbf{c}} d_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{c}'}^{[\mathbf{i}]} \widetilde{F_{-1}}(\mathbf{c}', [\mathbf{i}]) \ with \ d_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{c}'}^{[\mathbf{i}]} \in v\mathbb{Z}[v] \ for \ some \ \mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\Delta_+}. \\ \text{Here the condition } \mathbf{c}' = (c_{\beta}')_{\beta \in \Delta_+} <_{[\mathbf{i}]} \mathbf{c} = (c_{\beta})_{\beta \in \Delta_+} \ means \ that, \ for \ all \ \mathbf{i}' \in [\mathbf{i}], \\ \text{there exists } k \in \{1, \dots, \ell(w_0)\} \ such \ that \ c_{\beta_{\mathbf{i}'}}' = c_{\beta_{\mathbf{i}'}}, \dots, c_{\beta_{k-1}'}' = c_{\beta_{k-1}'} \ and \ c_{\beta_{k}'}' < c_{\beta_{k}'}. \end{array}$

Definition 8.10. Theorem 8.9 says that each $F_{-1}^{up}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\boldsymbol{i}])$ determines a unique normalized dual canonical basis element $G^{\rm up}(b)$. We write the corresponding element of $\mathscr{B}(\infty)$ as $b_{-1}(c, [i])$. This is called the Lusztiq parametrization of $\mathscr{B}(\infty)$.

In fact, the non-zero normalized unipotent quantum minors are elements of \mathbf{B}^{up} [40, Proposition 4.1].

Remark 8.11. The unitriangular property of dual PBW-type bases with respect to σ' is also included in Theorem 8.9 in the same manner as in Remark 7.7. That is, we have

$$\sigma'\left(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\boldsymbol{i}])\right) \in \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\boldsymbol{i}]) + \sum_{\boldsymbol{c}' < [\boldsymbol{i}] \boldsymbol{c}} \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1}] \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c}',[\boldsymbol{i}]).$$

9. Quantum T-system for type B

In this section, we prove a *t*-analogue of the specific identities, called *the T-system*, of q-characters for type $B_n^{(1)}$. The corresponding equalities for type $A_n^{(1)}$, $D_n^{(1)}$ and $E_n^{(1)}$ are proved in [30, Proposition 5.6], and in [53] by using other quantum tori. There are some technical differences with these cases as, for example, we do not know a priori certain positivity properties of (q, t)-characters. First we work in the general setting in section 2.

A $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ -module V is said to be *thin* if its all *l*-weight spaces are of dimension 1.

Proposition 9.1 ([27, Proposition 5.14]). Let V be a thin $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ -module. Then every monomial m occurring in $\chi_q(V)$ satisfies

$$\max_{i \in I, s \in \mathbb{Z}} \{ |u_{j,s}(m)| \} \le 1.$$

Notation 9.2. Consider a \mathbb{Z} -linear map $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Y}_t, f \mapsto \underline{f}$ given by $m \mapsto \underline{m}$ for all monomials m in \mathcal{Y} . Note that this map is not an algebra homomorphism. For a module V in \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} , we set

$$[\underline{V}] := \chi_q(V) \in \mathcal{Y}_t.$$

Note that it clearly satisfies $\operatorname{ev}_{t=1}([\underline{V}]) = \chi_q(V)$, but $[\underline{V}] \notin \mathcal{K}_t$ in general.

Proposition 9.3. Let V be a thin $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{Lg})$ -module. Then we have $[\underline{V}] \in \mathcal{K}_t$.

Proof. Let $j \in I$. By our definition of the quantum Grothendieck ring \mathcal{K}_t , we only have to show that $[\underline{V}] \in \mathcal{K}_{j,t}$. Consider the decomposition $\chi_q(V) = \sum_{m'} \lambda_{\{j\}}(m') L_{\{j\}}(m')$ as in [27, Proposition 3.14] for $J = \{j\}$. Then $[\underline{V}] = \sum_{m'} \lambda_{\{j\}}(m') \underline{L}_{\{j\}}(m')$. By Proposition 9.1, each $L_{\{j\}}(m')$ is constructed from the q-characters of thin simple $\mathcal{U}_{q_j}(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g}_j)(\simeq \mathcal{U}_{q_i}(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{sl}_2))$ modules (see [27] for the precise definition). Hence it follows from the well-known explicit formulas of the (q, t)-characters of thin simple $\mathcal{U}_{q_i}(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -modules [23, Lemma 4.13] that $[\underline{V}] = \sum_{m'} \lambda_{\{j\}}(m') L_{\{j\}}(m') \in \mathcal{K}_{j,t}$.

As mentioned in the introduction, one crucial result for our proof is the following.

Theorem 9.4 ([26, Theorem 3.10]). Assume that \mathfrak{g} is of type A_n or B_n . Then every Kirillov-Reshetikhin module $W_{k,r}^{(i)}$ over $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathcal{L}\mathfrak{g})$ is thin.

From now until the end of this section, we assume that \mathfrak{g} is of type B_n .

Proposition 9.5. For $i \in I$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have $[\underline{W_{k,r}^{(i)}}] = F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)}) \in \mathcal{K}_t$.

Proof. By Proposition 9.3 and Theorem 9.4, we have $[\underline{W_{k,r}^{(i)}}] \in \mathcal{K}_t$, which implies that $[\underline{W_{k,r}^{(i)}}] = F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)})$ because $W_{k,r}^{(i)}$ is affine-minuscule (see Theorem 2.9, 7.1).

Now let us establish the quantum T-systems in \mathcal{K}_t . Let us define the product :

$$[\underline{S}_{k,r}^{(i)}] = \begin{cases} [\underline{W}_{k,r+2}^{(i-1)}][\underline{W}_{k,r+2}^{(i+1)}] & \text{if } i \leq n-2, \\ [\underline{W}_{k,r+2}^{(n-2)}][\underline{W}_{2k,r+1}^{(n)}] & \text{if } i = n-1, \\ [\underline{W}_{s,r+1}^{(n-1)}][\underline{W}_{s,r+3}^{(n-1)}] & \text{if } i = n \text{ and } k = 2s \text{ is even}, \\ [\underline{W}_{s+1,r+1}^{(n-1)}][\underline{W}_{s,r+3}^{(n-1)}] & \text{if } i = n \text{ and } k = 2s+1 \text{ is odd}. \end{cases}$$

Here we set $[\underline{W_{a,\ell}^{(0)}}] := 1$ for all $a \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Theorem 9.6 (The quantum *T*-system of type B). For $i \in I$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, there exist $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that the following identity holds in \mathcal{K}_t :

$$[\underline{W_{k,r}^{(i)}}][\underline{W_{k,r+2r_i}^{(i)}}] = t^{\alpha/2}[\underline{W_{k+1,r}^{(i)}}][\underline{W_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)}}] + t^{\beta/2}[\underline{S_{k,r}^{(i)}}]$$

Remark 9.7. The powers α, β can be computed from the *t*-commutation relations in the quantum torus as in [30, Proposition 5.6]. However we do not use these explicit values in this paper.

Remark 9.8. The classical counterpart of the equalities in Theorem 9.6 is proved in [25, Theorem 3.4]. By definition, this classical counterpart is a system of identities in Grothendieck ring $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$, and the corresponding exact sequences are also obtained in [25].

Before proving Theorem 9.6, we recall one lemma in [25].

Lemma 9.9 ([25, Proposition 5.3, Lemma 5.6 and its proof]). Let $i \in I$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$. Set $M := m_{k,r}^{(i)} m_{k,r+2r_i}^{(i)} = m_{k+1,r}^{(i)} m_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)}$.

- (i) The q-character $\chi_q(W_{k,r}^{(i)})$ contains monomials $\{m_{k,r}^{(i)}\prod_{s=0}^{l-1}A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1} | l=0,\ldots,k\}$ with multiplicity 1, and $\{M\prod_{s=0}^{l-1}A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1} | l=0,\ldots,k\}$ are all the dominant monomials occurring in $\chi_q(W_{k,r}^{(i)})\chi_q(W_{k,r+2r_i}^{(i)})$. Moreover, they also occur with multiplicity 1 in $\chi_q(W_{k,r}^{(i)})\chi_q(W_{k,r+2r_i}^{(i)})$.
- (ii) The q-character $\chi_q(W_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)})$ contains monomials $\{m_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)} \prod_{s=0}^{l-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1} | l = 0, \dots, k-1\}$ with multiplicity 1, and $\{M \prod_{s=0}^{l-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1} | l = 0, \dots, k-1\}$ are all the dominant monomials occurring in $\chi_q(W_{k+1,r}^{(i)})\chi_q(W_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)})$. Moreover they also occur with multiplicity 1 in $\chi_q(W_{k+1,r}^{(i)})\chi_q(W_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)})$.
- (iii) The monomial $M \prod_{s=0}^{k-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1}$ is the unique dominant monomial occurring in $\chi_q(S_{k,r}^{(i)})(:= \operatorname{ev}_{t=1}([S_{k,r}^{(i)}])).$

Proof of Theorem 9.6. The monomials occurring in $[\underline{W}_{k,r}^{(i)}][\underline{W}_{k,r+2r_i}^{(i)}], [\underline{W}_{k+1,r}^{(i)}][\underline{W}_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)}]$ and $[\underline{S}_{k,r}^{(i)}]$ are the same as in the corresponding q-characters at t = 1. Hence the dominant monomials occurring in these elements are completely described by Lemma 9.9. Besides, an element in \mathcal{K}_t is characterized by the multiplicities of its dominant monomials (recall the uniqueness of $F_t(m)$ in Theorem 7.1), hence it suffices to show that the dominant monomials occurring in both-hand sides of the equality in the theorem match. More precisely, by Lemma 9.9, we only have to check that there exist $\alpha, \beta' \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$(9.1) \quad \left(\sum_{l=0}^{k} \underline{M_{l}}\right) \underline{m_{k,r+2r_{i}}^{(i)}} = t^{\alpha/2} \underline{m_{k+1,r}^{(i)}} \left(\sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \underline{M_{l}'}\right) + t^{\beta'/2} \underline{m_{k,r}^{(i)} m_{k,r+2r_{i}}^{(i)}} \prod_{s=0}^{k-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_{i}}^{-1},$$

here

$$M_l := m_{k,r}^{(i)} \prod_{s=0}^{l-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1} \text{ and } M'_l := m_{k-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)} \prod_{s=0}^{l-1} A_{i,r+(2k-1-2s)r_i}^{-1}.$$

We can show this equality directly.

Remark 9.10. There is another argument to prove (9.1): the multiplicities of commutative monomials in $(\sum_{l=0}^{k} \underline{M}_{l}) \underline{m}_{k,r+2r_{i}}^{(i)}$ (resp. $\underline{m}_{k+1,r}^{(i)} (\sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \underline{M}_{l}^{\prime})$) are the same as those for the corresponding $\mathcal{L}sl_{2}$ -case up to overall power of $t^{1/2}$. This follows from the fact that, in the quantum torus \mathcal{Y}_{t} , the *t*-commutation relations between $A_{i,s}^{-1}$, $A_{i,s'}^{-1}$ and between $Y_{i,s}, A_{i,s'}^{-1}$ (with the same index *i*) are the same as in the sl_{2} -case (*q* being replaced by q_{i}). See Proposition 4.7. Consequently, as the quantum *T*-system has been established in the $\mathcal{L}sl_{2}$ -case [30, Proposition 5.6], we obtain the desired equality.

10. The isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}$

In this section, we show that the isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T$ in Theorem 6.3 restricts to an isomorphism between the corresponding quantized coordinate algebra and the truncated quantum Grothendieck ring (Theorem 10.1). Recall Remark 8.4. This implies that the quantized coordinate algebra of type A_{2n-1} is isomorphic to the quantum Grothendieck ring of $C_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ (Corollary 10.2). We also show that the elements of the normalized dual canonical basis are sent to the (q, t)-characters of simple modules under this isomorphism.

Recall the settings and notations in subsection 3.5 and section 6, that is, let \mathcal{Q} be a Dynkin quiver of type $A_{2n-2}, \xi: I = \{1, 2, \ldots, 2n-2\} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be an associated height function, $\flat \in \{>, <\}, I_A := \{1, \ldots, 2n-1\}, I_B := \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For $(i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw}, \flat}, k(i, r)$ is defined as (6.1). By Theorem 2.9 and Proposition 9.5, we have

(10.1)
$$F_t(m_{k(i,r),r}^{(i)})^T = [\underline{W_{k(i,r),r}^{(i)}}]^T = \underline{m_{k(i,r),r}^{(i)}}^T$$

for $(i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}$.

Theorem 10.1. The \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \colon \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^\flat} \to \mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}$ restricts to an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}] \to \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}^{T}$$

This isomorphism sends the system of quantum determinantal identities associated with $[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]$ in Proposition 8.5 to (the truncation of) the quantum T-system given in Theorem 9.6. Moreover, this isomorphism induces a bijection between $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up}$ and $\{L_t(m)^T \mid m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}\}$. More precisely, if $\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{G}^{up}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]))) = L_t(m)^T$, then

$$u_{i,r}(m) = c_{(i,r)}$$

for all $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. Here $\mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\Delta_+}$ is regarded as an element $\mathbf{c} = (c_{(i,r)})_{(i,r)\in\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}$ of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}$ via $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$. This monomial m will be denoted by $m_{\mathrm{B}}(\mathbf{c})$.

Proof. Recall the notation in Proposition 8.5, and identify Δ_+ with $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ via $\overline{\Omega}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$. In this proof, we abbreviate $\widetilde{D}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}((i,r),(j,s))$ to $\widetilde{D}((i,r),(j,s))$.

To prove $\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]) = \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}^T$, we only have to show that

(10.2)
$$\widetilde{\Phi}^{T}(\widetilde{D}((i,r),(i,r+2sr_{i}))) = F_{t}(m_{s,r}^{(i)})^{T}$$

for s = 0, 1, ..., k(i, r), where we set $(i, r + 2k(i, r)r_i) := 0$, here 0 stands for 0 in the sense of Notation 5.1 (then we have $(i, r)^- = (i, r + 2r_i)$). Indeed, the equality (10.2) implies that the generators of $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]$ are sent to the generators of $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{O}^\flat}^T$ (see Lemma 7.9 and Proposition 8.8). Denote the equality (10.2) by $T((i,r), (i,r+2sr_i))$, and define T(0,0) as the trivial equality 1 = 1.

Claim. Suppose that

- $T((i, r+2r_i), (i, r+2(s+1)r_i)),$
- $T((i,r), (i,r+2(s+1)r_i)),$
- $T((i, r+2r_i), (i, r+2sr_i))$, and
- $T((i,r)^{-}(j), (i,r+2sr_i)^{-}(j))$ for $j \in I_A \setminus {\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}(i,r)}$

hold for some $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ with $k(i,r) \geq 2$, and some $s \in \{1, 2, \dots, k(i,r) - 1\}$. Then $T((i,r), (i,r+2sr_i))$ holds.

Proof of Claim. It is shown in [18, section 13] and [19, section 12] that the equality (8.1) correspond to a specific exchange relations of quantum clusters in the quantum cluster algebra structure given in Theorem 8.2. In particular,

(QC) $\widetilde{D}((i, r+2r_i), (i, r+2(s+1)r_i)), \widetilde{D}((i, r), (i, r+2(s+1)r_i)), \widetilde{D}((i, r+2r_i), (i, r+2sr_i))$ and non-trivial $\widetilde{D}((i,r)^{-}(j),(i,r+2sr_i)^{-}(j))$ for $j \in I_A \setminus \{\operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}(i,r)\}$ simultaneously belong to a certain quantum cluster (see Appendix B for the definition of quantum clusters).

Let $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$ and $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$ be the skew-field of fractions of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ and $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$, respectively. Note that \mathcal{T}_0 and $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}$ are Ore domains (cf. [4, Appendix A]). We can extend the \mathbb{Z} -algebra antiinvolution (·) on $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$) to the \mathbb{Q} -algebra anti-involution on $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$ (resp. $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$), denoted again by $\overline{(\cdot)}$, and extend the \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}^T$ to the \mathbb{Q} -algebra isomorphim $\widetilde{\Phi}^T : \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^\flat}) \to \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat})$. (They still satisfy $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \circ \overline{(\cdot)} = \overline{(\cdot)} \circ \widetilde{\Phi}^T$.) Note that $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^\flat})$ can be also regarded as the skew-field of fractions of $\mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}^{A_{2n-1}}]$ and the extension of the algebra anti-involution σ' to that on $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}^{\flat}})$ coincides with $\overline{(\cdot)}$.

By (8.1) and (QC) (see also (B.1) in Appendix B), the element $\widetilde{D}((i,r),(i,r+2sr_i))$ is characterized as the (\cdot) -invariant element of the form

$$\left(v^{\alpha/2} \widetilde{D}((i,r), (i,r+2(s+1)r_i)) \widetilde{D}((i,r+2r_i), (i,r+2sr_i)) + v^{\beta/2} \prod_{j:|j-\operatorname{res}^{\lceil \mathcal{Q}^{\flat} \rceil}(i,r)|=1} \widetilde{D}((i,r)^{-}(j), (i,r+2sr_i)^{-}(j)) \right)$$

$$\times \widetilde{D}((i,r+2r_i), (i,r+2(s+1)r_i))^{-1}$$

for some $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ in $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$. (The integers α and β are uniquely determined from the $\overline{(\cdot)}$ invariance property.) Therefore, taking our assumption into the account, we can deduce that the element $\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{D}((i,r),(i,r+2sr_i)))$ is characterized as the $\overline{(\cdot)}$ -invariant element of the form

$$\left(t^{\alpha'/2}F_t(m_{s+1,r}^{(i)})^TF_t(m_{s-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)})^T + t^{\beta'/2}\prod_{j:|j-\operatorname{res}[\mathcal{Q}^b](i,r)|=1}^{\rightarrow}F_t(m_0(j))^T\right)(F_t(m_{s,r+2r_i}^{(i)})^T)^{-1}$$

for some $\alpha', \beta' \in \mathbb{Z}$ in $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{O}^{\flat}})$, here $m_0(j)$ is the monomial such that $\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{D}((i,r)^-(j),(i,r+1)))$ $(2sr_i)^{-}(j)) = F_t(m_0(j))^T.$

On the other hand, by Theorem 9.6, $F_t(m_{s,r}^{(i)})^T (= [W_{s,r}^{(i)}]^T)$ is the $\overline{(\cdot)}$ -invariant element of the form

$$\left(t^{\alpha''/2}F_t(m_{s+1,r}^{(i)})^TF_t(m_{s-1,r+2r_i}^{(i)})^T + t^{\beta''/2}[\underline{S_{s,r}^{(i)}}]^T\right)(F_t(m_{s,r+2r_i}^{(i)})^T)^{-1}$$

for some $\alpha'', \beta'' \in \mathbb{Z}$ in $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Y}_{t,\mathcal{O}^{\flat}})$. Therefore, it remains to show that

(10.3)
$$\{m_0(j) \mid j \in I_{\mathcal{A}}, |j - \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}(i, r)| = 1\}$$
$$= \{m_{s', r'}^{(i')} \mid F_t(m_{s', r'}^{(i')}) \text{ occurs in the product in the definition of } [\underline{S}_{s, r}^{(i)}]\}.$$

Denote the left-hand side of (10.3) by M_0 , and write the set $\{((i,r)^-(j), (i,r+2sr_i)^-(j)) \mid$ $j \in I_{\mathcal{A}}, |j - \operatorname{res}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}(i, r)| = 1$ } as R_0 . If $i \leq n - 2$, then, by twisted convexity of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$, we have

$$R_0 = \{((i-1, r+2), (i-1, r+4s+2)), ((i+1, r+2), (i+1, r+4s+2))\}.$$

(If i = 1, we ignore ((0, r + 2), (0, r + 4s + 2))). Henceforth, we always ignore such undefined terms.) Note that, when $k(i,r) \ge 2$ and $s \in \{1, \ldots, k(i,r) - 1\}$, we have $(i \pm 1, r + 2), (i \pm 1, r + 2), ($ $1, r+4s-2) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ $((i \pm 1, r+4s+2) \text{ may not belong to } \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}).$ Therefore,

$$M_0 = \{m_{s,r+2}^{(i-1)}, m_{s,r+2}^{(i+1)}\},\$$

which satisfies (10.3).

If i = n - 1, then similarly we have

$$R_0 = \{((n-2, r+2), (n-2, r+4s+2)), ((n, r+1), (n, r+4s+1))\}.$$

Note that, when $k(n-1,r) \ge 2$ and $s \in \{1, ..., k(n-1,r) - 1\}$, we have $(n-2, r+2), (n-1, r) \ge 2$. $2, r+4s-2), (n, r+1), (n, r+4s-1) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw,b}}$ ((n-2, r+4s+2) and (n, r+4s+1) may notbelong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$). Therefore,

$$M_0 = \{m_{s,r+2}^{(n-2)}, m_{2s,r+1}^{(n)}\},\$$

which satisfies (10.3).

If i = n and s is even, then similarly we have

$$R_0 = \{((n-1, r+1), (n-1, r+2s+1)), ((n-1, r+3), (n-1, r+2s+3))\}.$$

Note that, when $k(n,r) \ge 3$ and $s \in \{2, \ldots, k(n,r) - 1\}$ (remark that s is even), we have $(n-1, r+1), (n-1, r+2s-3), (n-1, r+3), (n-1, r+2s-1) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ ((n-1, r+2s+3) and (n-1, r+2s+1) may not belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$). Therefore,

$$M_0 = \{m_{s/2,r+1}^{(n-1)}, m_{s/2,r+3}^{(n-1)}\},\$$

which satisfies (10.3).

If i = n and s is odd, then similarly we have

$$R_0 = \{((n-1, r+1), (n-1, r+2s+3)), ((n-1, r+3), (n-1, r+2s+1))\}.$$

Note that, when s = 1, (n - 1, r + 1), $(n - 1, r + 2s - 1) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw},\flat}$ and $\widetilde{D}((n - 1, r + 3), (n - 1, r + 2s + 1)) = 1$ (its corresponding monomial is 1), otherwise, we have $(n - 1, r + 1), (n - 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{+1}$

 $1, r+2s-1), (n-1, r+3), (n-1, r+2s-3) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat} \ ((n-1, r+2s+3) \ \mathrm{and} \ (n-1, r+2s+1)$ may not belong to $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$). Therefore,

$$M_0 = \{m_{(s+1)/2,r+1}^{(n-1)}, m_{(s-1)/2,r+3}^{(n-1)}\}$$

which satisfies (10.3), which completes the proof of Claim.

It follows form Theorem 6.3 and (10.1) that the equality T((i,r),0) holds for all $(i,r) \in$ $\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw,b}}$ (0 stands for 0 in the sense of Notation 5.1). By Claim and the specific mutation sequence in [18, section 13] and [19, section 12], we can obtain $T((i,r), (i,r+2sr_i))$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, k(i, r)$ and all $(i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}$ from the equalities $T((i, r), 0), (i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}$. This proves $\Phi(\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]) = \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^\flat}^T$. Moreover, in the proof of Claim, we prove that our isomorphism sends a system of quantum determinantal identities associated with $[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]$ in Proposition 8.5 to (the truncation of) the quantum T-system given in Theorem 9.6.

Next, we show the bijection between distinguished bases. It follows from (NDCB1) in Theorem 8.9 and the equality $\widetilde{\Phi}^T \circ \overline{(\cdot)} = \overline{(\cdot)} \circ \widetilde{\Phi}^T$ that

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b)) = \widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b)).$$

Hence, by Theorem 7.3 (Remark 7.11) and Theorem 8.9, it remains to show that

(10.4)
$$\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) = E_t(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}))^T$$

for every $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}$. Recall that we have

$$\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{e}_{(i,r)}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]) = \widetilde{D}((i,r), (i,r)^{-})$$

for all $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$, here $\{\boldsymbol{e}_{(i,r)} \mid (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}\}$ is the standard basis of $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}$. Hence, by (10.2),

(10.5)
$$\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{e}_{(i,r)}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) = F_t(Y_{i,r})^T = E_t(Y_{i,r})^T.$$

This proves (10.4) for $c = e_{(i,r)}$. By (8.2),

$$\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]) = v^{\alpha/2} \prod_{r \in \mathbb{Z}}^{\rightarrow} \left(\prod_{i; (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}} \widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{e}_{(i,r)}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])^{c_{(i,r)}} \right)$$

for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note that this ordering of the product matches the compatible reading of $\Upsilon_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$. On the other hand, for $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$,

$$E_t(m) = t^{\beta/2} \prod_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{i; (i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}} F_t(Y_{i,r})^{u_{i,r}(m)} \right).$$

Therefore, by (10.5), we have

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) = t^{\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2} E_t(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}))^T$$

for some $\beta(c) \in \mathbb{Z}$. It suffices to show that $\beta(c) = 0$ for every $c \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\text{tw,b}}}$. By Remark 7.7 and 8.11, we have

$$\overline{E_t(m)} \in E_t(m) + \sum_{\substack{m' < m \\ m' < m}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1}] E_t(m'),$$

$$\sigma'(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) \in \widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]) + \sum_{\boldsymbol{c'} <_{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]} \boldsymbol{c}} \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1}] \widetilde{F_{-1}^{up}}(\boldsymbol{c'}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]).$$

Therefore,

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Phi}^{T}(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]))} = \widetilde{\Phi}^{T}(\sigma'(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]))) \in t^{\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2}E_{t}(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}))^{T} + \sum_{m'\neq m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c})}\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]E_{t}(m')^{T}$$

$$\overline{\widetilde{\Phi}^{T}(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}}(\boldsymbol{c},[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]))} = \overline{t^{\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2}E_{t}(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}))^{T}} \in t^{-\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2}E_{t}(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}))^{T} + \sum_{m'\neq m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c})}\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]E_{t}(m')^{T}.$$

Hence, $\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2 = -\beta(\boldsymbol{c})/2$, which implies $\beta(\boldsymbol{c}) = 0$.

The following is an immediate consequence of Theorem 10.1 obtained from Proposition 7.10.

Corollary 10.2. There exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi} : \mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}] \to \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ such that $(\cdot)^T \circ \widetilde{\Phi} = \widetilde{\Phi}^T$. This isomorphism induces a bijection between $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{up}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}}^{\xi,\flat} := \{L_t(m) \mid m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}\}.$

Remark 10.3. Combining Corollary 10.2 with Theorem 8.2, we can immediately conclude that the quantum Grothendieck ring $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ has a quantum cluster algebra structure. It follows from the observation in Remark 6.2 that the initial matrix $\widetilde{B}^{[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]}$ of this quantum cluster algebra is a submatrix of the infinite matrix introduced in [31] for type $B_n^{(1)}$.

11. Corollaries of the isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}$

In this section, we provide applications of the isomorphism $\tilde{\Phi}$ which is obtained in section 10. In subsection 11.1, we prove several corollaries of the isomorphism $\tilde{\Phi}$, including the positivity properties (P1)–(P3) in the introduction and Conjecture 7.4 for $C_{Q^{\flat}}$, in particular the conjectural formula (7.3) for the multiplicity of simple modules in standard modules. Once Conjecture 7.4 for $C_{Q^{\flat}}$ is proved, we can efficiently use its quantum Grothendieck ring to investigate $C_{Q^{\flat}}$. In subsection 11.2, we provide an example of such calculation.

11.1. Corollaries of the isomorphism $\tilde{\Phi}$.

Corollary 11.1 ((P1) : Positivity of the coefficients of Kazhdan-Lusztig type polynomials). *Recall the notation in Theorem 10.1 and Corollary 10.2. We have the following :*

-tw b

(1)
$$\widetilde{\Phi}(\widetilde{F}_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) = E_{t}(m_{\mathrm{B}}(\boldsymbol{c})) \text{ for all } \boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{I_{\xi}^{\mathrm{up}}}.$$

(2) For $\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}$ and $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$, write
 $\widetilde{F}_{-1}^{\mathrm{up}}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{c}'} p_{\boldsymbol{c},\boldsymbol{c}'}(v) \widetilde{G}^{\mathrm{up}}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}', [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) \qquad E_{t}(m) = \sum_{m'} P_{m,m'}(t) L_{t}(m').$

with
$$p_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{c}'}(v) \in \mathbb{Z}[v]$$
 and $P_{m,m'}(t) \in \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}]$. Then we have
 $p_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{c}'}(t^{-1}) = P_{m_{\mathrm{B}}(\mathbf{c}),m_{\mathrm{B}}(\mathbf{c}')}(t).$

Moreover, $P_{m_{\rm B}(c),m_{\rm B}(c')}(t) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[t^{-1}].$

Proof. The assertion (1) immediately follows from (10.4). The first statement of (2) is a consequence of Theorem 10.1, Corollary 10.1 and (1). The second statement in (2) follows from the known positivity of $p_{c,c'}(v)$, which was proved by Kato [44, Theorem 4.17] and McNamara [52, Theorem 3.1], through the categorification of dual PBW-type bases by using the quiver-Hecke algebras.

Remark 11.2. The positivity of $p_{c,c'}(v)$ for type A_N , D_N and E_N was originally proved by Lusztig in his original paper of canonical bases [48, Corollary 10.7] for *adapted* reduced words of w_0 , through his geometric realization of the elements of the canonical bases and PBW-type bases. However every reduced word in $[\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}]$ is non-adapted (Remark 3.20). In [58, subsection 5.1], the second author provides a method for deducing this positivity for *arbitrary* reduced words of w_0 (when \mathfrak{g} is of type A_N , D_N and E_N) from Lusztig's results.

Corollary 11.3 ((P2) : Positivity of structure constants). For $m_1, m_2 \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi, \flat}$, write

$$L_t(m_1)L_t(m_2) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}} c_{m_1,m_2}^m L_t(m).$$

Then we have

$$c_{m_1,m_2}^m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[t^{\pm 1/2}].$$

Proof. Through $\widetilde{\Phi}$, this assertion follows from the corresponding positivity of structure constants of (dual) canonical bases proved in [49, Theorem 11.5].

Corollary 11.4 ((P3) : Positivity of the coefficients of the truncated (q, t)-characters). For $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$, write

$$L_t(m)^T = \sum_{m': monomial in \mathcal{Y}} a[m;m']\underline{m'}$$

with $a[m;m'] \in \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$. Then,

$$a[m;m'] \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[t^{\pm 1/2}].$$

Proof. By the definition of $\widetilde{\Phi}^T$ in Theorem 6.3, we have

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^T(\widetilde{D}((i,r+2r_i),0)^{-1}\widetilde{D}((i,r),0)) = t^{\alpha(i,r)/2}\widetilde{Y}_{i,r}$$

for some $\alpha(i, r) \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, via $(\widetilde{\Phi}^T)^{-1}$, the truncated (q, t)-characters of simple modules deduce the following expression of the elements of the normalized dual canonical basis :

 \rightarrow

(11.1)
$$\widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{v} = (v_{(i,r)}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}}} \alpha[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \prod_{(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}} \widetilde{D}((i,r), 0)^{v_{(i,r)}}$$

for some $\alpha[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \in \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ by Theorem 10.1, here we consider an arbitrary total ordering on $\overline{I}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{\mathrm{tw}, \boldsymbol{\flat}}$. It suffices to prove that $\alpha[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ for every b and \boldsymbol{v} .

Multiplying an element $\mathcal{D} := \overrightarrow{\prod}_{(i,r)\in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}} \widetilde{D}((i,r),0)^{w_{(i,r)}}$ such that $w_{(i,r)}, w_{(i,r)} + v_{(i,r)} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ for all $(i,r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ by the both-hand sides of (11.1), we obtain

(11.2)
$$\mathcal{D}\widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{v} = (v_{(i,r)}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\overline{I}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}_{\xi}}} \alpha'[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \prod_{(i,r) \in \overline{I}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}_{\xi}} \widetilde{D}((i,r), 0)^{w_{(i,r)} + v_{(i,r)}}$$

for some $\alpha'[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \in \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$. It is known that any products of the elements $\widetilde{D}((i, r), 0), (i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}$ belong to $v^{\mathbb{Z}/2} \widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{up}}$ [45, Theorem 6.26]. Therefore, \mathcal{D} and $\overrightarrow{\prod}_{(i,r)\in\overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw}, \flat}} \widetilde{D}((i, r), 0)^{w_{(i,r)}+v_{(i,r)}}$ belong to $v^{\mathbb{Z}/2} \widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{up}}$. Hence the equality (11.2) is the expansion of $\mathcal{D}\widetilde{G}^{\mathrm{up}}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}, \boldsymbol{i}_0))$ with respect to the normalized dual canonical basis. By the positivity of the structure constants of dual canonical bases proved in [49, Theorem 11.5], we obtain $\alpha'[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ for every b and \boldsymbol{v} , which is equivalent to $\alpha[b; \boldsymbol{v}] \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$.

Corollary 11.5 (The (q, t)-characters of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules). For a Kirillov-Reshetikhin module $W_{k,r}^{(i)}$ in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$, we have

$$L_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)}) = [W_{k,r}^{(i)}].$$

In particular, $ev_{t=1}(L_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)})) = [W_{k,r}^{(i)}].$

Proof. By (10.2), $F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)})$ corresponds to a certain normalized unipotent quantum minor via $\widetilde{\Phi}$, in particular, an element of $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{\text{up}}$. Therefore, by Corollary 10.2, $F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)}) = L_t(m)$ for some $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$. The maximum monomial in $F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)})$ is $\underline{m}_{k,r}^{(i)}$, and that in $L_t(m)$ is \underline{m} . Hence $m = m_{k,r}^{(i)}$. Therefore, by Proposition 9.5,

$$L_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)}) = F_t(m_{k,r}^{(i)}) = [\underline{W_{k,r}^{(i)}}].$$

The following remarkable theorem, due to Kashiwara and Oh, is proved by means of the celebrated *generalized quantum affine Schur-Weyl dualities*, which is developed by Kang, Kashiwara, Kim and Oh [33, 34, 36, 37] (see also [35]) :

Theorem 11.6 ([43, Corollary 6.6, Corollary 6.7]). A Z-algebra isomorphism

$$[\mathscr{F}]: \operatorname{ev}_{v=1}(\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}}]) \to K(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^\flat})$$

given by

$$\operatorname{ev}_{v=1}(\widetilde{F_{-1}^{\operatorname{up}}}(\boldsymbol{e}_{(i,r)}, [\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}])) \mapsto [L(Y_{i,r})],$$

for $(i, r) \in \overline{I}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{tw},\flat}$ (see just before (10.5) for the definition of $\mathbf{e}_{(i,r)}$) maps the dual canonical basis $\mathrm{ev}_{v=1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{up}})$ specialized at v = 1 to the set of classes of simple modules $\{[L(m)] \mid m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}\}$.

Remark 11.7. Kashiwara and Oh also deal with some monoidal subcategories of C_{\bullet} for type $C_n^{(1)}$ in [43] (in this case, the corresponding quantized coordinate algebra is of type D_{n+1}). Their isomorphisms are obtained from generalized quantum affine Schur-Weyl duality functors which are conjectually equivalences of categories [43, Conjecture 6.10]. See also Remark 3.28.

We already knew that $ev_{t=1}(F_t(Y_{i,r})) = \chi_q(L(Y_{i,r}))$. Therefore, by Theorem 11.6, we have the following :

Corollary 11.8. (1) Let $\widetilde{\Phi} \mid_{v=t=1}$ be the \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism $\operatorname{ev}_{v=1}(\mathcal{A}_v[N_-^{A_{2n-1}}]) \to \operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}) \simeq K(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}})$ induced from $\widetilde{\Phi}$. Then we have $\widetilde{\Phi} \mid_{v=t=1} = [\mathscr{F}]$. (2) $\chi_q(L(m)) = \operatorname{ev}_{t=1}(L_t(m))$ for all $m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$.

Corollary 11.8 (2) gives the affirmative answer to Conjecture 7.4 for $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$. Therefore, by Remark 7.5, the multiplicity of the simple module L(m') in the standard module M(m) for $m, m' \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi,\flat}$ can be computed by the Kazhdan-Lusztig algorithm in the quantum Grothendieck ring $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$.

11.2. An example of calculation in quantum Grothendieck rings. By Corollary 11.8, we can use the quantum Grothendieck ring $\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$ to obtain certain results on $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}^{\flat}}$. Let us give an explicit example of such computations. Consider the monomial

$$m = Y_{n,r}Y_{n,r+2p}$$

where $p \ge 0$ in \mathcal{Y} of type $B_n^{(1)}$. We calculate the following :

Proposition 11.9. The module L(m) is affine-minuscule (see just after Theorem 2.9 for the definition). Moreover, the standard module

$$M(m) = L(Y_{n,r}) \otimes L(Y_{n,r+2p})$$

has length at most 2:

If p is odd and $p \leq 2n - 1$, then we have

$$[M(m)] = [L(m)] + [L(m')]$$

in $K(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet})$ (in particular, M(m) is of length 2) with

$$m' = Y_{n-(p+1)/2,r+p}.$$

Otherwise M(m) is simple and $L_t(m) = E_t(m)$.

Remark 11.10. In particular cases of the above proposition, the socle (or head) of M(m) was computed in [10, Theorem 8.1].

Proof. First the q-character of $L(Y_{n,r})$ is explicitly known (see references in [26]) and is equal to

$$\sum_{0 \le k \le n, n > i_1 > \dots > i_k \ge 0} (A_{n,r+1}A_{n-1,r+3} \cdots A_{n-i_1,r+1+2i_1})^{-1} (A_{n,r+5}A_{n-1,r+7} \cdots A_{n-i_2,r+5+2i_2})^{-1}$$

(11.3)
$$\cdots (A_{n,r+4k-3} \cdots A_{n-i_k,r+4k-3+2i_k})^{-1}$$

This can be checked directly as this formula has a unique dominant monomial $Y_{n,r}$ and for each $1 \le j \le n$ it has a decomposition as in [26, Proposition 2.15].

Now consider a dominant monomial M in $\chi_q(L(Y_{n,r}))\chi_q(L(Y_{n,r+2p}))$. Then it is of the form

$$M = M_1 Y_{n,r+2p}$$

where M_1 is a monomial occurring in $\chi_q(L(Y_{n,r}))$ (otherwise M would be right-negative in the sense of [13] and would not be dominant). Hence $M_1 = 1$ or M_1 is of the form described in

Equation (11.3) with $i_k = 0$, $i_{k-1} = 1$, $i_{k-2} = 2$, \cdots , $i_1 = k-1$ and $r+2p = r+4k-3+2i_k+1$ that is p = 2k-1. In this case $M_1 = Y_{n,r+4k-2}^{-1}Y_{n-k,r+2k-1}$ and $M = Y_{n-(p+1)/2,r+p}$.

Suppose that p is even or p > 2n - 1: m is the unique dominant monomial in $\chi_q(M(m))$. Then M(m) is special and so is simple. Hence we obtain the desired result.

Suppose that p is odd and $p \leq 2n-1$: $\chi_q(M(m))$ has two dominant monomials m and m'. A direct computation in the quantum torus gives that the respective multiplicities of <u>m</u> and <u>m'</u> in $L_t(Y_{n,r})L_t(Y_{n,r+2p})$ are $t^{-\alpha}$ and $t^{-\alpha-1}$ for a certain α , here note that, by Proposition 9.5 (or Corollary 11.5),

(11.4)
$$L_t(Y_{i,r}) = [L(Y_{i,r})](=F_t(Y_{i,r}))$$

for any $i \in I$. Hence the respective multiplicities of \underline{m} and \underline{m}' in $E_t(m)$ are 1 and t^{-1} . By Theorem 7.3,

$$E_t(m) = L_t(m) + t^{-1} P'_{m,m'}(t) L_t(m')$$

for some $P'_{m,m'}(t) \in \mathbb{Z}[t^{-1}]$. Let $P_1(t)$ be the multiplicity of \underline{m}' in $L_t(m)$. Then, by the above argument, we have

$$t^{-1} = P_1(t) + t^{-1} P'_{m,m'}(t)$$

Since $L_t(m)$ is invariant by the bar involution, we have $P_1(t^{-1}) = P_1(t)$, hence $P_1(t) = 0$ and $P'_{m,m'}(t) = 1$. Therefore,

$$E_t(m) = L_t(m) + t^{-1}L_t(m')$$

Hence, by Corollary 11.8 (2), we obtain

$$[M(m)] = [L(m)] + [L(m')]$$

and L(m) is affine-minuscule.

Remark 11.11. We can check that this result is "correct": let us prove Proposition 11.9 in a more "representation-theoretic" way without using the (q, t)-characters and the theorems in this paper. Suppose that p is odd and $p \leq 2n - 1$ (this case is the only case where we used (q, t)-characters in the proof). It follows from [27, Theorem 5.1]³ that m' does not occur in $\chi_q(L(m))$. Hence M(m) has two simple special constituents L(m) and L(m'):

$$[M(m)] = [L(m)] + [L(m')].$$

12. Comparison between type A and B

In this section, we combine our results with the results of [30]. In [30], it is shown that the category C_Q for type $A_{2n-1}^{(1)}$ (recall subsection 3.2) is also isomorphic to the quantized coordinate algebra of A_{2n-1} . We recall the precise statement in subsection 12.1. Combining this result with Corollary 10.2, we obtain an isomorphism between quantum Grothendieck rings of distinguished monoidal subcategories of C_{\bullet} of type $A_{2n-1}^{(1)}$ and $B_n^{(1)}$. In subsection 12.2, we give an explicit correspondence of the (q, t)-characters of simple modules under this isomorphism for special quivers (Theorem 12.9). This is computed from the well-known formulas for the change of the Lusztig parametrizations (Definition 8.10) associated with a change of reduced words.

³There is a typo in condition (iv) of Theorem 5.1 of that paper : $m'' \neq M$

12.1. Quantum Grothendieck ring isomorphisms between type A and B. Let Q'_{2n-1} be a Dynkin quiver of type A_{2n-1} , and ξ' an associated height function. Write $I_A := \{1, \ldots, 2n-1\}$ and denote by \mathcal{Y}^A (resp. \mathcal{K}^A_t , $L^A(m)$, $E^A_t(m)$ and $L^A_t(m)$) the Laurent polynomial algebra \mathcal{Y} (resp. the quantum Grothendieck ring \mathcal{K}_t , the simple module L(m) in \mathcal{C}_{\bullet} , the (q, t)-character of M(m) and L(m)) for type $A^{(1)}_{2n-1}$. Recall the labelling $(\widehat{I}_A)_{\xi'}$ of the positive roots Δ_+ of type A_{2n-1} defined just after Proposition 3.1. Recall $\mathbb{B}^{\xi'} \subset \mathcal{Y}^A$ in Definition 3.5. Set

$$\mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}}(=K_t(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}})) := \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi'}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}] E_t^{\mathcal{A}}(m) = \bigoplus_{m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi'}} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}] L_t^{\mathcal{A}}(m) \subset \mathcal{K}_t^{\mathcal{A}}.$$

This is a subalgebra of \mathcal{K}_t^A (cf. subsection 7.2), called the quantum Grothendieck ring of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}}$. The first author and Leclerc proved the following :

Theorem 12.1 ([30, Theorem 1.2, Theorem 6.1]). We identify Δ_+ with its lebelling set $(\widehat{I}_A)_{\xi'}$. Then there exists a \mathbb{Z} -algebra isomorphism

$$\widetilde{\Phi}_{\mathcal{A}} \colon \mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}^{\mathcal{A}_{2n-1}}] \to \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-2}}$$

given by

$$v^{\pm 1/2} \mapsto t^{\mp 1/2} \qquad \qquad \widetilde{D}^{[\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}]}((i,r), (i,r+2s)) \mapsto L^{\mathcal{A}}_t(m^{(i)}_{s,r})$$

for $(i,r) \in (\widehat{I}_{A})_{\xi'}$ (we adopt the convention concerning 0 similar to (10.2)). Moreover, this isomorphism induces a bijection between $\widetilde{\mathbf{B}}^{up}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}}^{\xi'} := \{L_{t}^{A}(m) \mid m \in \mathbb{B}^{\xi'}\}$. More precisely, if $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A}(\widetilde{G^{up}}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}])) = L_{t}^{A}(m)$, then

$$c_{(i,r)} = u_{i,r}(m)$$

for all $(i,r) \in (\widehat{I}_A)_{\xi'}$. This monomial m will be denoted by $m_A(c)$.

Let \mathcal{Q}_{2n-2} be a Dynkin quiver of type A_{2n-2} and ξ an associated height function. Denote by $\widetilde{\Phi}_{\mathrm{B}}$ (resp. $L_t^{\mathrm{B}}(m)$) the isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}$ in Corollary 10.2 for $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}_{2n-2}^{\flat}}$ (resp. the (q, t)-character of $L_t(m)$ for type $\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}$).

By Corollary 10.2 and Theorem 12.1, we obtain the following :

Theorem 12.2. There exists a $\mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm 1/2}]$ -algebra isomorphism $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B} \colon \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}} \to \mathcal{K}_{t,\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-2}}$ given by $\widetilde{\Phi}_B \circ \widetilde{\Phi}_A^{-1}$. Moreover, this restricts to a bijection from $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}}^{\xi'}$ to $\widetilde{\mathbf{S}}^{\xi,b}$.

Remark 12.3. The quiver \mathcal{Q}_{2n-2} is irrelevant to \mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1} . We should also remark that the (q,t)-characters of standard modules in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}}$ are not necessarily sent to those in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-2}}$ by $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$. From the viewpoint of quantized coordinate algebras, this observation corresponds to the fact that there are several choices of normalized dual PBW-type bases depending on the choice of reduced words of the longest element w_0 , unlike the dual canonical basis. In other words, we can deal with two irrelevant objects, the (q, t)-characters of standard modules in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-1}}$ and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}'_{2n-2}}$, in the same framework of normalized dual PBW-type bases by considering the quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_v[N^{A_{2n-1}}_-]$.

The inverse of $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ is denoted by $\widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$.

12.2. The explicit description of $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ and $\widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$. In this subsection, we provide a more explicit description of $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ and $\widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$ under the following assumptions :

Q_{2n-2}(=: Q) is a quiver

2 ← 2 ← 2n - 2
endowed with the associated height function ξ₀ such that ξ₀(1) = 0.

Q'_{2n-1}(=: Q') is a quiver

2 ← 2 ← 2n - 2 ← 2n - 2 ← 2n - 1
endowed with the associated height function such that ξ'₀(1) = 0.

b =<.

In this section, we write $J_{\mathrm{B}} := \widehat{I}_{\xi_0}^{\mathrm{tw},<}$ and $J_{\mathrm{A}} := (\widehat{I}_{\mathrm{A}})_{\xi'_0}$ for short. Let $c_0, c_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{\Delta_+}$. Suppose that

(12.1)
$$\widetilde{\Phi}_{\mathbf{A}\to\mathbf{B}}(L_t^{\mathbf{A}}(m_{\mathbf{A}}(\boldsymbol{c}_1))) = L_t^{\mathbf{B}}(m_{\mathbf{B}}(\boldsymbol{c}_0)).$$

Then

$$\widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}_1, [\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}'])) = \widetilde{G^{\mathrm{up}}}(b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}_0, [\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}^<])).$$

Hence, to describe the correspondence $\tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ and $\tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$, we only have to calculate the change of the Lusztig parametrizations associated with the change of the corresponding commutation classes. Recall the following proposition :

Proposition 12.4 ([50, Chapter 42]). Let $i = (i_1, i_2, ..., i_\ell)$ and $i' = (i'_1, i'_2, ..., i'_\ell)$ be reduced words of $w_0^{A_{2n-1}}$. Suppose that, for some $k \in \{2, 3, ..., \ell - 1\}$ and $i, j \in I_A$ with |i - j| = 1,

(12.2)
$$\begin{cases} (i_{k-1}, i_k, i_{k+1}) = (i, j, i), \\ (i'_{k-1}, i'_k, i'_{k+1}) = (j, i, j), \\ i_s = i'_s \text{ for all } s \text{ with } s \neq k, k \pm 1 \end{cases}$$

Then $b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\boldsymbol{i}]) = b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}', [\boldsymbol{i}'])$ if and only if

$$\begin{cases} c'_{k-1} = c_k + c_{k+1} - \min\{c_{k-1}, c_{k+1}\}, \\ c'_k = \min\{c_{k-1}, c_{k+1}\}, \\ c'_{k+1} = c_{k-1} + c_k - \min\{c_{k-1}, c_{k+1}\}, \\ c'_s = c_s \text{ for all } s \text{ with } s \neq k, k \pm 1, \end{cases}$$

here $c_t := c_{\beta_t^i}$ and $c'_t := c_{\beta_t^{i'}}$ for $t = 1, ..., \ell$.

When two commutation classes of reduced words of $w_0^{A_{2n-1}}$ contain reduced words i and i', respectively, satisfying (12.2), we say that these commutation classes are related via 3-move. If we find explicit 3-moves which connect $[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}']$ and $[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}^<]$, we can describe $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ and $\widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$ explicitly by Proposition 12.4. From now on, we calculate such 3-moves.

Let

$$\widetilde{J} := I_{\mathcal{A}} \times \left([0, -2(2n-3)] \cap \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z} \right).$$

Then $J_{\rm B}$ is considered as a subset of \widetilde{J} . More explicitly, $J_{\rm B}$ is the following set :

$$\{(i, -i+2-2k) \mid k = 0, \dots, 2n-1-i \text{ and } i = n+1, \dots, 2n-1\}$$

$$\cup \{(n, -n+\frac{3}{2}-k) \mid k = 0, \dots, 2n-2\}$$

$$\cup \{(i, -i+1-2k) \mid k = 0, \dots, 2n-2-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1\}.$$

For example, the subset $J_{\rm B}$ for n=5 is visualized as follows :



$$\delta_J(i,r) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } (i,r) \in J', \\ 0 & \text{if } (i,r) \notin J'. \end{cases}$$

We call a map $\delta: \widetilde{J} \to \{0,1\}$ well-arranged if, for every fixed r, the simple reflections $\{s_i \mid i \in I_A, \delta(i, r) = 1\}$ mutually commute.

For a well-arranged map $\delta \colon \widetilde{J} \to \{0, 1\}$, set

(12.3)
$$\boldsymbol{s}(\delta) := \prod_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{i:\delta(i,-r)=1} s_i \right) \in W^{\mathcal{A}_{2n-1}},$$

and let

$$[\mathbf{i}(\delta)] := [(\imath_1^{(0)}, \dots, \imath_{k_0}^{(0)}, \imath_1^{(\frac{1}{2})}, \dots, \imath_{k_{\frac{1}{2}}}^{(\frac{1}{2})}, \dots, \imath_1^{(-2(2n-3))}, \dots, \imath_{k_{-2(2n-3)}}^{(-2(2n-3))})]$$

such that

$$\{i_1^{(s)}, \dots, i_{k_s}^{(s)}\} = \{i \mid \delta(i, s) = 1\}.$$

Note that by the definition of well-arranged property the element $s(\delta)$ and the commutation class $[i(\delta)]$ is well-defined. We call δ reduced if $[i(\delta)]$ is a commutation class of a reduced word of $s(\delta)$.

Let $\delta_{\rm B}: \widetilde{J} \to \{0, 1\}$ be the function associated with $J_{\rm B}$. This map is well-arranged and reduced.

Lemma 12.5. Let $i_0 \in I_A \setminus \{1\}$, r_0 an integer with $0 < r_0 < -2(2n-3)$ and $\delta \colon \widetilde{J} \to \{0,1\}$ a well-arranged map. Suppose that δ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \delta(j, r_0 + \frac{1}{2}) &= \delta(j, r_0 - \frac{1}{2}) = \delta_{i_0 j} \text{ for all } j \in I_A, \\ \delta(i_0 - 1, r_0) &= 1, \ \delta(i_0 + 1, r_0) = 0 \ (\delta(2n, r_0) := 0). \end{split}$$

Set

(12.4)
$$\delta'(i,r) := \delta(i,r) - \delta_{(i,r),(i_0,r_0+\frac{1}{2})} - \delta_{(i,r),(i_0,r_0-\frac{1}{2})} - \delta_{(i,r),(i_0-1,r_0)} + \delta_{(i,r),(i_0-1,r_0+\frac{1}{2})} + \delta_{(i,r),(i_0-1,r_0-\frac{1}{2})} + \delta_{(i,r),(i_0,r_0)}$$

for $(i, r) \in \widetilde{J}$, here we consider the usual addition and subtraction of integers 0, 1. Then δ' is a map from \widetilde{J} to $\{0, 1\}$, and it is well-arranged. Moreover, $s(\delta) = s(\delta')$, and $[i(\delta)]$, $[i(\delta)]$ are related via 3-move. In particular, δ is reduced if and only if δ' is reduced.

Remark 12.6. The difference between the subsets corresponding to δ and δ' is visualized as follows :



Proof. Since δ is well-arranged, we have

$$\delta(i_0, r_0) = \delta(i_0 - 2, r_0) = 0.$$

Therefore the assertions follow from the braid relations in $W^{A_{2n-1}}$.

The map δ' in Lemma 12.5 will be denoted by $\beta(i_0, r_0)(\delta)$. Set

$$J_{\delta} := \{(i,r) \mid \delta(i,r) = 1\} \qquad \qquad J_{\beta(i_0,r_0)(\delta)} := \{(i,r) \mid \beta(i_0,r_0)(\delta)(i,r) = 1\}.$$

Assume that δ is reduced and $s(\delta) = w_0^{A_{2n-1}}$. Then J_{δ} and $J_{\beta(i_0,r_0)(\delta)}$ are naturally considered as the vertex sets of the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers $\Upsilon_{[i(\delta)]}$ and $\Upsilon_{[i(\beta(i_0,r_0)(\delta))]}$, hence they give labellings of Δ_+ .

Let $\boldsymbol{c} = (c_{(i,r)})_{(i,r)\in J_{\delta}} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J_{\delta}}$ and $\boldsymbol{c}' = (c_{(i,r)}')_{(i,r)\in J_{\beta(i_{0},r_{0})(\delta)}} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J_{\beta(i_{0},r_{0})(\delta)}}$. By Proposition 12.4, $b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}, [\boldsymbol{i}(\delta)]) = b_{-1}(\boldsymbol{c}', [\boldsymbol{i}(\beta(i_{0},r_{0})(\delta))])$ if and only if $\begin{cases} c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})} = c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0})} + c_{(i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})} - \min\{c_{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})}, c_{(i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})}\}, \\ c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})} = c_{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})}, c_{(i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})}\}, \\ c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})} = c_{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})} + c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0})} - \min\{c_{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})}, c_{(i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})}\}, \\ c_{(i,r)}' = c_{(i,r)} \text{ for all } (i,r) \in J_{\delta} \setminus \{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2}), (i_{0}-1,r_{0}), (i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})\}. \end{cases}$

Note that

$$J_{\delta} \setminus \{(i_0, r_0 + \frac{1}{2}), (i_0 - 1, r_0), (i_0, r_0 - \frac{1}{2})\} = J_{\beta(i_0, r_0)(\delta)} \setminus \{(i_0 - 1, r_0 + \frac{1}{2}), (i_0, r_0), (i_0 - 1, r_0 - \frac{1}{2})\}.$$

In particular,

$$\text{if}\left(c_{(i_{0},r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})},c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0})},c_{(i_{0},r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})}\right) = \begin{cases} (1,0,0) \\ (0,1,0) \\ (0,0,1) \end{cases}, \text{ then } \left(c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0}+\frac{1}{2})},c_{(i_{0},r_{0})},c_{(i_{0}-1,r_{0}-\frac{1}{2})}\right) = \begin{cases} (0,0,1) \\ (1,0,1) \\ (1,0,0) \end{cases}$$

$$\text{if}\left(c_{(i_0-1,r_0+\frac{1}{2})},c_{(i_0,r_0)}',c_{(i_0-1,r_0-\frac{1}{2})}'\right) = \begin{cases} (1,0,0) \\ (0,1,0) \\ (0,0,1) \end{cases}, \text{ then } \left(c_{(i_0,r_0+\frac{1}{2})},c_{(i_0-1,r_0)},c_{(i_0,r_0-\frac{1}{2})}\right) = \begin{cases} (0,0,1) \\ (1,0,1) \\ (1,0,0) \end{cases}$$

The following proposition provides explicit 3-moves between $[\overleftarrow{Q}]$ and $[\overleftarrow{Q}']$. See also Example 12.8 below.

Proposition 12.7. For i = 2, 3, ..., n, set $\boldsymbol{\beta}_i := \prod_{k=0,1,\dots,i-2}^{\rightarrow} \beta(i, -2n+i-2k).$

Then the following hold :

(1) $\beta_2 \beta_3 \cdots \beta_n (\delta_B)$, denoted by δ_A , is well-defined and the corresponding subset \widehat{J}_A of \widetilde{J} is given by

$$\{(i, -i + 1 - 2k) \mid k = 0, \dots, n - 1 - i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n - 1\}, \\ \cup \{(i, -2n + i + \frac{3}{2}) \mid i = 1, \dots, n\} \\ \cup \{(i, -2n + i - 2k) \mid k = 0, \dots, i - 2 \text{ and } i = 2, \dots, n\} \\ \cup \{(i, -2n - i + \frac{5}{2}) \mid i = 1, \dots, n - 1\} \\ \cup \{(i, -2n - i + 1 - 2k) \mid k = 0, \dots, n - 2 - i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n - 2\} \\ \cup \{(i, -i + 2 - 2k) \mid k = 0, 1, \dots, 2n - 1 - i \text{ and } i = n + 1, \dots, 2n - 1\}.$$

(2) $[\boldsymbol{i}(\delta_{\mathrm{A}})] = [\mathcal{Q}'].$

Proof. Let δ'_{A} be the function $\widetilde{J} \to \{0, 1\}$ which corresponds to the subset explicitly written in the statement (1). For i = 1, 2, ..., n, define $\delta_i : \widetilde{J} \to \{0, 1\}$ by

$$\delta_{i}(j,r) := \begin{cases} \delta'_{A}(j,r) & \text{if } j > i, \\ \sum_{k=0}^{n-i-1} \delta_{r,-i+1-2k} + \sum_{k=0}^{2i-1-\delta_{i,n}} \delta_{r,-2n+i+\frac{3}{2}-k} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-i-2} \delta_{r,-2n-i+1-2k} & \text{if } j = i, \\ \delta_{B}(j,r) & \text{if } j < i. \end{cases}$$

Note that $\delta_n = \delta_B$ and $\delta_1 = \delta'_A$. To prove (1), it remains to show that $\beta_k \delta_k$ is well-defined and is equal to δ_{k-1} . By the explicit description, we can check the assumption of Lemma 12.5 directly and obtain the desired assertion straightforwardly.

Next, by Theorem 3.14, we only have to show that the combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quiver $\Upsilon_{[i(\delta_A)]}$ is isomorphic to $\Upsilon_{[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}']}$ as a quiver by the correspondence preserving residues. Now $\Upsilon_{[\overleftarrow{\mathcal{Q}}']}$ is characterized by the following two properties :

- (a) the number of vertices of residue i is equal to 2n i for $i \in I_A$,
- (b) convexity in the sense of Lemma 3.3.

By the explicit description, the quiver $\Upsilon_{[i(\delta_A)]}$ satisfies (a). The property (b) corresponds to the property that

for any $i, i' \in I_A$ with |i - i'| = 1 and any pair $\{(i, r), (i, r^-)\} \subset \widehat{J}_A$ with $r^- = \min\{s \mid s > r, (i, s) \in \widehat{J}_A\}$, there uniquely exists $(i', r') \in \widehat{J}_A$ such that $r < r' < r^-$.

We can also prove this property straightforwardly by the explicit description.

Example 12.8. The following is an example of the procedure in Proposition 12.7 for n = 5.



By the way, we have

$$J_{A} = \{(i, -i + 1 - 2k) \mid k = 0, 1, \dots, 2n - i - 1 \text{ and } i \in I_{A}\}.$$

By Proposition 12.7 (2), we have a bijection $\widehat{J}_{A} \to J_{A}$ given by

$$(i, r) \mapsto (i, -i + 1 - 2k)$$
 with $k = \#\{r' \mid r' > r, (i, r') \in \widehat{J}_A\}.$

The explicit form of this bijection is given by

$$\begin{aligned} &(i, -i+1-2k) \mapsto (i, -i+1-2k) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-1-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ &(i, -2n+i+\frac{3}{2}) \mapsto (i, -2n+i+1) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n, \\ &(i, -2n+i-2k) \mapsto (i, -2n+i-1-2k) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, i-2 \text{ and } i = 2, \dots, n, \\ &(i, -2n-i+\frac{5}{2}) \mapsto (i, -2n-i+1) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ &(i, -2n-i+1-2k) \mapsto (i, -2n-i-1-2k) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-2-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-2, \\ &(i, -i+2-2k) \mapsto (i, -i+1-2k) \text{ for } k = 0, 1, \dots, 2n-i-1 \text{ and } i = n+1, \dots, 2n-1. \end{aligned}$$

By Proposition 12.7, we already knew an explicit method for obtaining \hat{J}_A from J_B by repeated application of $\beta(i, r)$, and we also already described the explicit bijection between \hat{J}_A and J_A as above. Therefore, we can describe the correspondence between $m_A(c_1)$ and $m_B(c_0)$ in (12.1) by direct calculation (recall also the observation before Proposition 12.7). The detailed calculation is left to the reader :

Theorem 12.9. The following give the explicit images of the (q, t)-characters of fundamental modules under $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ and $\widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}$:

$$\begin{split} &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-i+1-2k})) = L_t(Y_{i,-2i+2-4k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-1-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-2n+i+1})) = L_t(Y_{n,-6n+4i+3}) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n, \\ &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-2n+i-1-2k})) = L_t(Y_{n,-2n+1-4k}Y_{n,-6n+4i-1-4k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, i-2 \text{ and } i = 2, \dots, n, \\ &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-2n-i+1})) = L_t(Y_{n,-2n-4i+5}) \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-2n-i-1-2k})) = L_t(Y_{i,-4n-2i+2-4k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-2-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-2, \\ &\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{i,-i+1-2k})) = L_t(Y_{2n-i,-2i+4-4k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, 2n-1-i \text{ and } i = n+1, \dots, 2n-1. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{i,-2i+2-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{i,-i+1-2k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-1-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{i,-4n+2i+2-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{i-k,-2n+i+1-k}Y_{1+k,-2n-k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, i-1 \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{i,-4n-2i+2-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{i,-2n-i-1-2k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-2-i \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-2, \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{n,-2n+3-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{n-k,-n+1-k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-1, \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{n,-2n+1-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1+k,-2n-k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-2, \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t(Y_{n-i,-2n-2i+4-4k})) &= L_t^A(Y_{n+i,-n-i+1-2k}) \text{ for } k = 0, \dots, n-i-1 \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n-1. \end{split}$$

Remark 12.10. The correspondence given by $\widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}$ in Theorem 12.9 coincides with Kashiwara-Kim-Oh's correspondence [42, section 3] up to shift of spectral parameters when we restrict it to $\mathcal{C}_{\overline{\mathcal{O}}}$. We should note that their approach is based on the generalized quantum affine Schur-Weyl dualities. *Example 12.11.* The following is the explicit correspondence in the case n = 2 (type $A_3^{(1)}/B_2^{(1)}$).

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,0})) &= L_t^B(Y_{1,0}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-2})) = L_t^B(Y_{2,-5}), \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-4})) &= L_t^B(Y_{2,-3}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-1})) = L_t^B(Y_{2,-1}), \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-3})) &= L_t^B(m_{2,-5}^{(2)}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{3,-2})) = L_t^B(Y_{1,-2}). \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,0})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,0}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-4})) = L_t^A(m_{2,-4}^{(1)}), \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-5})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-2}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-3})) = L_t^A(Y_{1,-4}), \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-5})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-2}), & \tilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-2})) = L_t^A(Y_{3,-2}). \end{split}$$

Example 12.12. The following is the explicit correspondence in the case n = 3 (type $A_5^{(1)}/B_3^{(1)}$). Here "not KR" means "not the (q, t)-character of a Kirillov-Reshetikhin module".

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,0})) &= L_t^B(Y_{1,0}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-2})) = L_t^B(Y_{1,-4}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-4})) &= L_t^B(Y_{3,-11}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-6})) = L_t^B(Y_{3,-5}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{1,-8})) &= L_t^B(Y_{1,-12}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-1})) = L_t^B(Y_{2,-2}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-3})) &= L_t^B(Y_{3,-7}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-5})) = L_t^B(Y_{3,-5}Y_{3,-11}), (\text{not KR}) \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{2,-7})) &= L_t^B(Y_{3,-9}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{3,-2})) = L_t^B(Y_{3,-3}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{3,-4})) &= L_t^B(m_{2,-7}^{(3)}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{3,-6})) = L_t^B(m_{2,-11}^{(3)}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{4,-3})) &= L_t^B(Y_{2,-4}), & \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{4,-5})) = L_t^B(Y_{2,-8}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{A\to B}(L_t^A(Y_{5,-4})) &= L_t^B(Y_{1,-6}). \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,0})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,0}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-8})) &= L_t^A(m_{2,-6}^{(1)}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-2})) &= L_t^A(Y_{2,-1}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-10})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-4}Y_{2,-7}), \text{ (not KR)} \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{3,-5})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-6}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{3,-9})) &= L_t^A(Y_{2,-7}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-4})) &= L_t^A(Y_{4,-3}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-6})) &= L_t^A(Y_{5,-4}). \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-4})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-2}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{1,-12})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-8}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-6})) &= L_t^A(Y_{2,-3}Y_{1,-6}), (\text{not KR}) \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{3,-3})) &= L_t^A(Y_{3,-2}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{3,-7})) &= L_t^A(Y_{2,-3}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{3,-11})) &= L_t^A(Y_{1,-4}), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_{B\to A}(L_t^B(Y_{2,-8})) &= L_t^A(Y_{4,-5}), \end{split}$$

Appendix A. The inverse of the quantum Cartan matrix of type B_n

Recall the notation in section 4. Assume that the Cartan matrix C is of type B_n . The following lemma provides the explicit formula of $\widetilde{C}(z)_{ji}$ for $i, j \in I$ as an element of $\mathbb{Z}[\![z^{-1}]\!]$ (see also Example 4.2, 4.3 and Remark A.3). The formula of $\widetilde{C}(z)_{ji}$ in different forms can be also found in [14, Appendix C] and [17, Appendix A].

Lemma A.1. For $j \in I$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, we have

$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k-1) = 0 \text{ for } i \in I \setminus \{n\}, \qquad \widetilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-2) = 0.$$

For $j \in I$ and $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n - 1$, we have

(A.1)
$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = \begin{cases} 1 & if(*), \\ 0 & otherwise, \end{cases} \text{ for } i \in I \setminus \{n\}, \qquad \widetilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-1) = \begin{cases} 1 & if(**) \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

here

$$(*) = \begin{cases} [i+1 \le k+j \le 2n-i-1 \text{ and } 1-i \le k-j \le i-1]\\ with \ (k+j) - (i+1), \ (k-j) - (1-i) \in 2\mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}],\\ or\\ [2n-i \le k+j].\\ (**) = [k+j-n \in 2\mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}]. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for $j \in I$ and $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$, we have

$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-4n+2+2k) \text{ for } i \in I \setminus \{n\}, \quad \widetilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-1) = \widetilde{c}_{jn}(-4n+3+2k).$$

Remark A.2. Note that, when we consider the tables as in Example 4.3 (in particular, fix $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$), the first condition of (*) corresponds to the rectangle whose corners are (j, -2k) = (i, -2), (n-1, -2(n-i)), (1, -2i), (n-i, -2(n-1)). In particular, the points in this rectangle satisfy the condition $1 \le k \le n-1$ and $1 \le j \le n-1$.

Proof of Lemma A.1. By considering the coefficients of z^k with $k \ge 0$ in (4.1), we obtain, for $i, j \in I$,

$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-r_j) = \delta_{ji}$$
 $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(r) = 0 \text{ for } r > -r_j.$

Moreover, by considering the coefficients of z^r with $r \leq -1$ in (4.1), we have

(A.2)
$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(r-2) + \widetilde{c}_{ji}(r+2) - \sum_{|j-k|=1} \widetilde{c}_{ki}(r) = 0 \text{ for } j \in I \setminus \{n\},$$

(A.3)
$$\widetilde{c}_{ni}(r-1) + \widetilde{c}_{ni}(r+1) - \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(r-1) - \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(r+1) = 0.$$

Hence, by induction on k, we have $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k-1) = \tilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-2) = 0$ for every $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$, $j \in I$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

From now, we shall prove (A.1) for $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$. (The proof of (A.1) for $\tilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-1)$ is also given by the similar arguments, and it is simpler. Hence we omit details of this case.) Fix $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$. We already have $\tilde{c}_{ji}(0) = 0$ for $j \in I$ and $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2) = \delta_{ji}$ for $j \in I \setminus \{n\}$. Moreover, by (A.3),

$$\widetilde{c}_{ni}(-2) = -\widetilde{c}_{ni}(0) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(-2) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(0) = \delta_{n-1i}$$

On the other hand, if k = 0, there is no j which satisfies the condition (*). Moreover, if k = 1, the condition (*) is satisfied if and only if

$$j = \begin{cases} i & \text{if } i \neq n-1, \\ n-1, n & \text{if } i = n-1. \end{cases}$$

Hence, when k = 0, 1, (A.1) holds for $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$. Assume that $2 \le k (\le n - 1)$. By (A.2), we have

(A.4)
$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = -\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2(k-2)) + \widetilde{c}_{j+1i}(-2(k-1)) + \widetilde{c}_{j-1i}(-2(k-1)),$$

for $j \in I \setminus \{n\}$, here $c_{-1i}(-2(k-1)) := 0$, and, by (A.3),

(A.5)
$$\widetilde{c}_{ni}(-2k) = -\widetilde{c}_{ni}(-2(k-1)) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(-2k) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(-2(k-1)).$$

We consider the following cases :

- (a) $k+j \le 2n-i-1$ and 1-i > k-j,
- (b) $k+j \le 2n-i-1$ and $1-i \le k-j$,
- (c) $k + j \ge 2n i$.

Case (a) : By (A.4) and (A.5), each $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k)$ is determined by the terms which also satisfy (a). Hence, under the condition (a), we obtain $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = 0$ by induction on k. (When i = n - 1, there are no pairs (j, k) which satisfy (a) and $k \ge 2$.)

Case (b) : Note that in this case $j \leq n-1$. Hence $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k)$'s in this region are determined by (A.4), $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k') = 0$ for $k' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$ and $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2) = \delta_{ji}$.

Write $\widetilde{c}_i(k+j,k-j) := \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k)$. Then the equality (A.4) is the equality of the following form :

(A.6)
$$\widetilde{c}_i(X,Y) = -\widetilde{c}_i(X-2,Y-2) + \widetilde{c}_i(X,Y-2) + \widetilde{c}_i(X-2,Y).$$

Therefore, we can obtain the following by inductive calculation : $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = 1$ if

$$i+1 \le k+j(=X) \le 2n-i-1$$
 and $1-i \le k-j(=Y) \le i-1$
with $(k+j)-(i+1), (k-j)-(1-i) \in 2\mathbb{Z}_{>0}$,

and otherwise $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = 0$ under the condition (b). A picture in Example 4.3 might be helpful for consideration.

Case (c): Consider the case k + j = 2n - i. If j = n, then, by (A.3) (or (A.5)) and the results in the cases (a) and (b), we have

$$\widetilde{c}_{ni}(-2(n-i)) = -\widetilde{c}_{ni}(-2(n-i-1)) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(-2(n-i)) + \widetilde{c}_{n-1i}(-2(n-i-1)) = 0 + 1 + 0 = 1.$$

The remaining argument is similar to the case (b) (here we also use the result in the case (b)). The details are left the reader. Consequently, we obtain that $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k)$ is always equal to 1 in this case.

To prove $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2k) = \tilde{c}_{ji}(-4n+2+2k)$ for $i \in I \setminus \{n\}, j \in I$, and k = 0, 1, ..., n-1, we only have to prove them for k = n - 2, n - 1 because of the form of the recurrence relations (A.2) and (A.3), and they are shown by direct calculation via these recurrence relations and (A.1).

To prove $\widetilde{c}_{jn}(-2k-1) = \widetilde{c}_{ji}(-4n+3+2k)$ for $j \in I$ and $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$, we only have to prove them for k = n - 2 as above, and they are also shown by similar direct calculation. \Box

Remark A.3. If we continue the calculation by using (A.2) and (A.3), we can also prove that

- $\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-4n) = -\delta_{ji}$ for $i \in I \setminus \{n, n-1\}$ and $j \in I$, $\widetilde{c}_{jn-1}(-4n) = -\delta_{jn-1} \delta_{jn}$ for $j \in I$.

Hence the integers $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-4n+2)$, $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-4n)$ coincide with $\tilde{c}_{ji}(0)$, $\tilde{c}_{ji}(-2)$ for $i \in I \setminus \{n\}$ and $j \in I$ modulo overall sign.

Similarly, we can show that

• $\widetilde{c}_{in}(-4n+1) = -\delta_{in}$ and $\widetilde{c}_{in}(-4n-1) = -\delta_{in-1}$ for $j \in I$.

Hence the integers $\tilde{c}_{jn}(-4n+1)$, $\tilde{c}_{jn}(-4n-1)$ coincide with $\tilde{c}_{jn}(-1)$, $\tilde{c}_{jn}(-3)$ for $j \in I$ modulo overall sign. Therefore, by (A.2) and (A.3), we have

$$\widetilde{c}_{ji}(-4n+2+r) = -\widetilde{c}_{ji}(r)$$

for all $i, j \in I$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$. This periodicity deduces the general formulas for $\tilde{c}_{ij}(r)$ from Lemma A.1. We should remark that

$$-4n+2 = -2h^{\vee},$$

here h^{\vee} is the dual Coxeter number for type $B_n^{(1)}$ (see Remark 3.28). See also [30, Corollary 2.3].

APPENDIX **B.** QUANTUM CLUSTER ALGEBRAS

In this appendix, we review the definition of the quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda, \tilde{B})$, following [4]. Recall the notation in subsection 5.1.

Let (Λ, \widetilde{B}) a compatible pair. For $k \in J_e$, define $E^{(k)} = (e_{ij})_{i,j \in J}$ and $F^{(k)} = (f_{ij})_{i,j \in J_e}$ as follows:

$$e_{ij} = \begin{cases} \delta_{ij} & \text{if } j \neq k, \\ -1 & \text{if } i = j = k, \\ \max(0, -b_{ik}) & \text{if } i \neq j = k, \end{cases} \qquad f_{ij} = \begin{cases} \delta_{ij} & \text{if } i \neq k, \\ -1 & \text{if } i = j = k, \\ \max(0, b_{kj}) & \text{if } i = k \neq j. \end{cases}$$

Then the mutation of (Λ, \widetilde{B}) in direction k transforms (Λ, \widetilde{B}) into the pair $\mu_k(\Lambda, \widetilde{B}) := (\mu_k(\widetilde{B}), \mu_k(\Lambda))$ given by

$$\mu_k(\Lambda) = (E^{(k)})^T \Lambda E^{(k)} \qquad \qquad \mu_k(\widetilde{B}) = E^{(k)} \widetilde{B} F^{(k)}$$

Then $\mu_k(\Lambda, \widetilde{B})$ is again compatible [4, Proposition 3.4]. Moreover $\mu_k(\mu_k(\Lambda, \widetilde{B})) = (\Lambda, \widetilde{B})$ [4, Proposition 3.6].

A toric frame in the skew-field $\mathcal{F}(\Lambda)$ of fraction is a map $M: \mathbb{Z}^J \to \mathcal{F} \setminus \{0\}$ of the form :

$$M(\boldsymbol{c}) = \tau(X^{\eta(\boldsymbol{c})}),$$

for $\mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{Z}^J$, here τ is a $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra automorphism of \mathcal{F} , and $\eta \colon \mathbb{Z}^J \to \mathbb{Z}^J$ is an isomorphism of \mathbb{Z} -modules.

For a toric frame M, define a skew-symmetric \mathbb{Z} -bilinear form $\Lambda_M : \mathbb{Z}^J \times \mathbb{Z}^J \to \mathbb{Z}$ by $(\boldsymbol{c}, \boldsymbol{c}') \mapsto \Lambda(\eta(\boldsymbol{c}), \eta(\boldsymbol{c}'))$. Then,

•
$$M(\boldsymbol{c})M(\boldsymbol{c}') = v^{\Lambda_M(\boldsymbol{c},\boldsymbol{c}')}M(\boldsymbol{c}')M(\boldsymbol{c}),$$

•
$$M(0) = 1, M(c)^{-1} = M(-c).$$

A pair (M, \widetilde{B}_M) is called a quantum seed if

- M is a toric frame of \mathcal{F} ,
- $\widetilde{B}_M = (b_{ij}^M)_{i \in J, j \in J_e}$ is a $J \times J_e$ -integer matrix, and
- $(\Lambda_M, \widetilde{B}_M)$ is compatible.

The positive integers $\boldsymbol{d} \in (\mathbb{Z}_{>0})^{J_e}$ corresponding to the compatible pair $(\Lambda_M, \widetilde{B}_M)$ is denoted by $\boldsymbol{d} = (d_i^M)_{i \in J_e}$ (recall the beginning of subsection 5.1). For $k \in J_e$, define $\mu_k(M) \colon \mathbb{Z}^J \to \mathcal{F} \setminus \{0\}$ as

•
$$(\mu_k(M))(\boldsymbol{c}) = \sum_{s=0}^{c_k} \begin{bmatrix} c_k \\ s \end{bmatrix}_{v^{d_k^M/2}} M(E^{(k)}\boldsymbol{c} + s\widetilde{\boldsymbol{b}}^{M,k}), \text{ here } \widetilde{\boldsymbol{b}}^{M,k} := (b_{ik}^M)_{i \in J} \in \mathbb{Z}^J, \text{ if } c_k \ge 0,$$

•
$$(\mu_k(M))(\mathbf{c}) = (\mu_k(M))(-\mathbf{c})^{-1}$$
 if $c_k \le 0$.

Then $\mu_k(M)$ is also a toric frame of \mathcal{F} , and $(\Lambda_{\mu_k(M)}, \mu_k(\widetilde{B}_M)) = \mu_k(\Lambda_M, \widetilde{B}_M)$. Therefore $\mu_k(M, \widetilde{B}_M) := (\mu_k(M), \mu_k(\widetilde{B}_M))$ is also a quantum seed [4, Proposition 4.7]. Moreover, $\mu_k(\mu_k(M, \widetilde{B}_M)) = (M, \widetilde{B}_M)$ [4, Proposition 4.10]. We say that the quantum seed $\mu_k(M, \widetilde{B}_M)$ is obtained from (M, \widetilde{B}_M) by mutation in direction k. If we set $X_i^M := M(e_i)$ and $X_i^M :=$ $(\mu_k(M))(\boldsymbol{e}_i) \ (i \in J), \text{ then}$

- ${}^{\prime}X_i^M = X_i^M$ if $i \neq k$, and ${}^{\prime}X_k^M = M(-\boldsymbol{e}_k \sum_{j:-b_{jk}>0} b_{jk}\boldsymbol{e}_j) + M(-\boldsymbol{e}_k + \sum_{j:b_{jk}>0} b_{jk}\boldsymbol{e}_j).$

Let \mathbb{T}_e be the $\#J_e$ -regular tree whose edges are labelled by J_e so that the $\#J_e$ -edges emanating from each vertex receive different labels. Write $t \stackrel{k}{-} t'$ if $t, t' \in \mathbb{T}_e$ are joined by an edge labelled by $k \in J_e$.

A quantum cluster pattern is an assignment of a quantum seed (M_t, \widetilde{B}_t) to every vertex $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$ such that $\mu_k(M_t, \widetilde{B}_t) = (M_{t'}, \widetilde{B}_{t'})$ whenever $t \stackrel{k}{\longrightarrow} t'$. Quantum seeds $(M, \widetilde{B}_M), (M', \widetilde{B}_{M'})$ are said to be *mutation equivalent* if there is a quantum cluster pattern such that $(M_t, \widetilde{B}_t) =$ (M, \widetilde{B}_M) and $(M_{t'}, \widetilde{B}_{t'}) = (M', \widetilde{B}_{M'})$ for some $t, t' \in \mathbb{T}_e$.

Let $\mathcal{S} := \{(M_t, \widetilde{B}_t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{T}_e}$ be a quantum cluster pattern in \mathcal{F} . For $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$ and $j \in J$, write $X_{j;t} = M_t(e_j)$, and set $\mathcal{X} := \{X_{j;t} \mid t \in \mathbb{T}_e, j \in J_e\}$. The elements of \mathcal{X} are called quantum *cluster variables.* The set $\mathbf{X}_f := \{M_t(e_i) \mid i \in J_f\}$ does not depend on $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$. The elements of \mathbf{X}_f are called *frozen variables*. A set of elements $\{X_{j:t} \mid j \in J\}$ is called the cluster at t (the frozen variables are included in the clusters).

The quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{S})$ is the $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{F} generated by \mathcal{X} and \mathbf{X}_f (unlike [4], we do not add the inverses of the elements of \mathbf{X}_f in generators). If there exists $t_0 \in \mathbb{T}_e$ such that $M_{t_0}(c) = X^c$ and $\widetilde{B}_{t_0} = \widetilde{B}$, then $\Lambda_{M_{t_0}} = \Lambda$ and we write $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{S})$ as $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda, \widetilde{B})$. In this case, we have

(B.1)
$$\overline{M_t(\boldsymbol{c})} = M_t(\boldsymbol{c})$$

for all $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$ and $e \in \mathbb{Z}^J$ [4, Proposition 6.2].

Remark that $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{S})$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda_{M_t}, B_t)$ for any $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$ in general.

Theorem B.1 (The quantum Laurent phenomenon [4, Corollary 5.2]). The quantum cluster algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{S})$ associated with a cluster pattern $\mathcal{S} = \{(M_t, B_t)\}_{t \in \mathbb{T}_e}$ is contained in the quantum torus $\mathcal{T}_{M_t} := \sum_{\boldsymbol{c} \in \mathbb{Z}^J} \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}] M_t(\boldsymbol{c})$ for any $t \in \mathbb{T}_e$.

APPENDIX C. UNIPOTENT QUANTUM MINORS

In this appendix, we review our definitions of the quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$ and unipotent quantum minors. Recall the notation in subsection 2.1. See also Remark 8.1.

C.1. Quantized coordinate algebras $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$.

Definition C.1. The quantized enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}_v(=\mathcal{U}_v(X_N))$ of type X_N over $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ is the unital associative $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra defined by the generators

$$e_i, f_i, t_i^{\pm 1} \ (i \in I),$$

and the relations (i)-(iv) below :

(i)
$$t_i t_i^{-1} = 1 = t_i^{-1} t_i$$
 and $t_i t_j = t_j t_i$ for $i, j \in I$,

(ii)
$$t_i e_j = v_i^{c_{ij}} e_j t_i, \ t_i f_j = v_i^{-c_{ij}} f_j t_i \text{ for } i, j \in I,$$

(iii) $[e_i, f_j] = \delta_{ij} \frac{t_i - t_i^{-1}}{q_i - q_i^{-1}} \text{ for } i, j \in I,$
(iv) $\sum_{k=0}^{1-c_{ij}} (-1)^k \begin{bmatrix} 1 - c_{ij} \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{v_i} x_i^k x_j x_i^{1-c_{ij}-k} = 0 \text{ for } i, j \in I \text{ with } i \neq j, \text{ and } x = e, f.$

The $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{U}_v generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ is denoted by \mathcal{U}_v^- . This is isomorphic to the algebra \mathcal{U}_v^- in section 8 in an obvious way, hence we do not distinguish them.

For $i \in I$, we define the $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -linear maps e'_i and $_ie': \mathcal{U}_v^- \to \mathcal{U}_v^-$ by

$$\begin{aligned} e_{i}^{\prime}\left(xy\right) &= e_{i}^{\prime}\left(x\right)y + v_{i}^{\langle h_{i}, \operatorname{wt} x \rangle} x e_{i}^{\prime}\left(y\right), \qquad e_{i}^{\prime}(f_{j}) = \delta_{ij}, \\ e^{\prime}\left(xy\right) &= v_{i}^{\langle h_{i}, \operatorname{wt} y \rangle} e^{\prime}\left(x\right)y + x \ e^{\prime}\left(y\right), \quad e^{\prime}(f_{j}) = \delta_{ij}, \end{aligned}$$

for homogeneous elements $x, y \in \mathcal{U}_v^-$. There exists a unique symmetric $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -bilinear form $(-,-)_L: \mathcal{U}_v^- \times \mathcal{U}_v^- \to \mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ such that

$$(1,1)_L = 1, \qquad (f_i x, y)_L = \frac{1}{1 - v_i^2} (x, e_i'(y))_L, \qquad (x f_i, y)_L = \frac{1}{1 - v_i^2} (x, i e'(y))_L.$$

Then $(-,-)_L$ is non-degenerate. See [50, Chapter 1] for more properties. Let $\mathcal{U}_{v,\mathbb{Z}}^-$ be the $\mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}]$ -subalgebra of \mathcal{U}_v^- generated by $\{f_i^{(m)} := f_i^m / [m]_{v_i} [m-1]_{v_i} \cdots [1]_{v_i} | i \in I, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\}$. Then the quantized coordinate algebra $\mathcal{A}_v[N_-]$ is defined as

$$\mathcal{A}_{v}[N_{-}] := \{ x \in \mathcal{U}_{v}^{-} \mid (x, \mathcal{U}_{v,\mathbb{Z}}^{-})_{L} \subset \mathbb{Z}[v^{\pm 1/2}] \}.$$

C.2. Unipotent quantum minors. Let V be a \mathcal{U}_v -module. For $\mu \in P$, we set

$$V_{\mu} := \{ u \in V \mid t_i . u = v_i^{\langle h_i, \mu \rangle} u \text{ for all } i \in I \}.$$

This is called the weight space of V of weight μ . A \mathcal{U}_v -module $V = \bigoplus_{\mu \in P} V_{\mu}$ with weight space decomposition is said to be *integrable* if e_i and f_i act locally nilpotently on V for all $i \in I$.

For $\lambda \in P_+$, denote by $V(\lambda)$ the (finite-dimensional) irreducible highest weight \mathcal{U}_v -module generated by a highest weight vector u_{λ} of weight λ . The module $V(\lambda)$ is integrable. There exists a unique $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -bilinear form $(-,-)^{\varphi}_{\lambda} \colon V(\lambda) \times V(\lambda) \to \mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ such that

$$(u_{\lambda}, u_{\lambda})_{\lambda}^{\varphi} = 1 \qquad (x \cdot u_1, u_2)_{\lambda}^{\varphi} = (u_1, \varphi(x) \cdot u_2)_{\lambda}^{\varphi}$$

for $u_1, u_2 \in V(\lambda)$ and $x \in \mathcal{U}_v$, where $\varphi \colon \mathcal{U}_v \to \mathcal{U}_v$ is the $\mathbb{Q}(v^{1/2})$ -algebra anti-involution defined by

$$\varphi(e_i) = f_i,$$
 $\varphi(f_i) = e_i,$ $\varphi(t_i) = t_i$

for $i \in I$. The form $(-, -)^{\varphi}_{\lambda}$ is non-degenerate and symmetric.

For $w \in W$, define the element $u_{w\lambda} \in V(\lambda)$ by

$$u_{w\lambda} = f_{i_1}^{(\langle h_{i_1}, s_{i_2} \cdots s_{i_\ell} \lambda \rangle)} \cdots f_{i_{\ell-1}}^{(\langle h_{i_{\ell-1}}, s_{i_\ell} \lambda \rangle)} f_{i_\ell}^{(\langle h_{i_\ell}, \lambda \rangle)}.u_{\lambda}$$

for $(i_1,\ldots,i_\ell) \in I(w)$. It is known that this element does not depend on the choice of $(i_1,\ldots,i_\ell) \in I(w)$ and $w \in W$ (depends only on $w\lambda$). See, for example, [50, Proposition 39.3.7]. Then $(u_{w\lambda}, u_{w\lambda})^{\varphi}_{\lambda} = 1.$

For $\lambda \in P_+$ and $w, w' \in W$, define an element $D_{w\lambda,w'\lambda} \in \mathcal{U}_v^-$ by the following property :

$$(D_{w\lambda,w'\lambda},x)_L = (u_{w\lambda},x.u_{w'\lambda})_{\lambda}^{\varphi}$$

for $x \in \mathcal{U}_v^-$. By the nondegeneracy of the bilinear form $(-,-)_L$, this element is uniquely determined. An element of this form is called *a unipotent quantum minor*. Moreover, set

$$\widetilde{D}_{w\lambda,w'\lambda} := v^{-(w\lambda - w'\lambda,w\lambda - w'\lambda)/4 + (w\lambda - w'\lambda,\rho)/2} D_{w\lambda,w'\lambda}.$$

This element is called a normalized unipotent quantum minor.

References

- I. Assem, D. Simson and A. Skowroński, *Elements of the representation theory of associative algebras.* Vol. 1, Techniques of representation theory, London Mathematical Society Student Texts 65, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. x+458 pp.
- [2] J. Beck, Braid group action and quantum affine algebras, Comm. Math. Phys. 165 (1994), no. 3, 555–568.
- [3] R. Bédard, On commutation classes of reduced words in Weyl groups, European J. Combin. 20 (1999), no. 6, 483–505.
- [4] A. Berenstein and A. Zelevinsky, Quantum cluster algebras, Adv. Math. 195 (2005), no. 2, 405–455.
- [5] N. Bourbaki, Éléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXIV. Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitre IV-VI, Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, no. 1337 Hermann, Paris, 1968. 288 pp.
- [6] S. Cautis and H. Williams, Cluster theory of the coherent Satake category, arXiv:1801.08111.
- [7] V. Chari and D. Hernandez, Beyond Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules, Quantum affine algebras, extended affine Lie algebras, and their applications, 49–81, Contemp. Math. 506, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010.
- [8] V. Chari and A. Pressley, A guide to quantum groups, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994, xvi+651 pp.
- [9] _____, Quantum affine algebras and their representations, Representations of groups (Banff, AB, 1994), 59–78, CMS Conf. Proc. 16, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995.
- [10] _____, Yangians, integrable quantum systems and Dorey's rule, Comm. Math. Phys. 181 (1996), no. 2, 265–302.
- [11] K. Costello, E. Witten and M. Yamazaki, Gauge Theory and Integrability, I, arXiv:1709.09993.
- [12] V. G. Drinfel'd, A new realization of Yangians and of quantum affine algebras, Soviet Math. Dokl. 36 (1988), no. 2, 212–216.
- [13] E. Frenkel and E. Mukhin, Combinatorics of q-characters of finite-dimensional representations of quantum affine algebras, Comm. Math. Phys. 216 (2001), no. 1, 23–57.
- [14] E. Frenkel and N. Reshetikhin, Deformations of W-algebras associated to simple Lie algebras, Comm. Math. Phys. 197 (1998), no. 1, 1–32.
- [15] _____, The q-characters of representations of quantum affine algebras and deformations of *W*-algebras, Recent developments in quantum affine algebras and related topics (Raleigh, NC, 1998), 163–205, Contemp. Math. 248, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [16] R. Fujita, Affine highest weight categories and quantum affine Schur-Weyl duality of Dynkin quiver types, arXiv:1710.11288.
- [17] S. Gautam and V. Toledano Laredo, Meromorphic tensor equivalence for Yangians and quantum loop algebras, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 125 (2017), 267–337.
- [18] C. Geiß, B. Leclerc and J. Schröer, Kac-Moody groups and cluster algebras, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 1, 329–433.
- [19] _____, Cluster structures on quantum coordinate rings, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 19 (2013), no. 2, 337–397.
- [20] K. Goodearl and M. Yakimov, *The Berenstein-Zelevinsky quantum cluster algebra conjecture*, arXiv:1602.00498. To appear in J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS).
- [21] _____, Quantum cluster algebra structures on quantum nilpotent algebras, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 247 (2017), no. 1169, vii+119 pp.
- [22] D. Happel, Triangulated categories in the representation theory of finite-dimensional algebras, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 119, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988. x+208 pp.
- [23] D. Hernandez, Algebraic approach to q, t-characters, Adv. Math. 187 (2004), no. 1, 1–52.

- [24] _____, Monomials of q and q,t-characters for non simply-laced quantum affinizations, Math. Z. 250 (2005), no. 2, 443–473.
- [25] _____, The Kirillov-Reshetikhin conjecture and solutions of T-systems, J. Reine Angew. Math. 596 (2006), 63–87.
- [26] _____, On minimal affinizations of representations of quantum groups, Comm. Math. Phys. 276 (2007), no. 1, 221–259.
- [27] _____, Smallness problem for quantum affine algebras and quiver varieties, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér.
 (4) 41 (2008), no. 2, 271–306.
- [28] _____, Avancées concernant les R-matrices et leurs applications (d'après Maulik-Okounkov, Kang-Kashiwara-Kim-Oh...), Sém. Bourbaki 69ème année, 2016-2017, no. 1129. To appear in Astérisque.
- [29] D. Hernandez and B. Leclerc, Cluster algebras and quantum affine algebras, Duke Math. J. 154 (2010), no. 2, 265–341.
- [30] _____, Quantum Grothendieck rings and derived Hall algebras, J. Reine Angew. Math. **701** (2015), 77–126.
- [31] _____, A cluster algebra approach to q-characters of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 18 (2016), no. 5, 1113–1159.
- [32] V. Kac, Infinite-dimensional Lie algebras, Third edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990. xxii+400 pp.
- [33] S.-J. Kang, M. Kashiwara and M. Kim, Symmetric quiver Hecke algebras and R-matrices of quantum affine algebras, Invent. Math. 211 (2018), no. 2, 591–685.
- [34] _____, Symmetric quiver Hecke algebras and R-matrices of quantum affine algebras, II, Duke Math. J. **164** (2015), no. 8, 1549–1602.
- [35] S.-J. Kang, M. Kashiwara, M. Kim and S-j. Oh, Simplicity of heads and socles of tensor products, Compos. Math. 151 (2015), no. 2, 377–396.
- [36] _____, Symmetric quiver Hecke algebras and R-matrices of quantum affine algebras III, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 111 (2015), no. 2, 420–444.
- [37] _____, Symmetric quiver Hecke algebras and R-matrices of quantum affine algebras IV, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 22 (2016), no. 4, 1987–2015.
- [38] _____, Monoidal categorification of cluster algebras, J. Amer. Math. Soc. **31** (2018), no. 2, 349–426.
- [39] M. Kashiwara, On crystal bases of the Q-analogue of universal enveloping algebras, Duke Math. J. 63 (1991), no. 2, 465–516.
- [40] _____, The crystal base and Littlemann's refined Demazure character formula, Duke Math. J. 71 (1993), no. 3, 839–858.
- [41] _____, On crystal bases, Representations of groups (Banff, AB, 1994), 155–197, CMS Conf. Proc. 16, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995.
- [42] M. Kashiwara, M. Kim and S.-j. Oh, Monoidal categories of modules over quantum affine algebras of type A and B, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 118 (2019), no. 1, 43–77.
- [43] M. Kashiwara and S.-j. Oh, Categorical relations between Langlands dual quantum affine algebras: doubly laced types, arXiv:1705.07542. To appear in J. Algebraic Combin.
- [44] S. Kato, Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt bases and Khovanov-Lauda-Rouquier algebras, Duke Math. J. 163 (2014), no. 3, 619–663.
- [45] Y. Kimura, Quantum unipotent subgroup and dual canonical basis, Kyoto J. Math. 52 (2012), no. 2, 277–331.
- [46] Y. Kimura and H. Oya, Twist automorphisms on quantum unipotent cells and dual canonical bases, arXiv:1701.02268. To appear in Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN.
- [47] Y. Kimura and F. Qin, Graded quiver varieties, quantum cluster algebras and dual canonical basis, Adv. Math. 262 (2014), 261–312.
- [48] G. Lusztig, Canonical bases arising from quantized enveloping algebras, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1990), no. 2, 447–498.
- [49] _____, Quivers, perverse sheaves, and quantized enveloping algebras, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 4 (1991), no. 2, 365–421.
- [50] _____, Introduction to quantum groups, Reprint of the 1994 edition, Modern Birkhäuser Classics, Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, 2010. xiv+346 pp.
- [51] D. Maulik and A. Okounkov, Quantum Groups and Quantum Cohomology, arXiv:1211.1287. To appear in Astérisque.

- [52] P. J. McNamara, Finite dimensional representations of Khovanov-Lauda-Rouquier algebras I: Finite type, J. Reine Angew. Math. 707 (2015), 103–124.
- [53] H. Nakajima, t-analogs of q-characters of Kirillov-Reshetikhin modules of quantum affine algebras, Represent. Theory 7 (2003), 259–274.
- [54] _____, Quiver varieties and t-analogs of q-characters of quantum affine algebras, Ann. of Math. (2) 160 (2004), no. 3, 1057–1097.
- [55] _____, Extremal weight modules of quantum affine algebras, Representation theory of algebraic groups and quantum groups, 343–369, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 40, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2004.
- [56] S.-j. Oh and U. Suh, Combinatorial Auslander-Reiten quivers and reduced expressions, arXiv:1509.04820.
 To appear in J. Korean Math. Soc.
- [57] _____, Twisted Coxeter elements and folded AR-quivers via Dynkin diagram automorphisms: I, arXiv:1606.00076.
- [58] H. Oya, Representations of quantized coordinate algebras via PBW-type elements, Osaka J. Math. 55 (2018), no. 1, 71–115.
- [59] C. M. Ringel, PBW-bases of quantum groups, J. Reine Angew. Math. 470 (1996), 51-88.
- [60] M. Varagnolo and E. Vasserot, Perverse sheaves and quantum Grothendieck rings, Studies in memory of Issai Schur (Chevaleret/Rehovot, 2000), 345–365, Progr. Math. 210, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2003.

(David HERNANDEZ) UNIVERSITÉ PARIS DIDEROT, SORBONNE UNIVERSITÉ, CNRS, INSTITUT DE MATHÉMATIQUES DE JUSSIEU - PARIS RIVE GAUCHE, IMJ-PRG, F-75013, PARIS, FRANCE Email address: david.hernandez@imj-prg.fr

Eman address: david.nernandezeimj-prg.11

(Hironori OYA) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, SHIBAURA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, 307 FUKASAKU, MINUMA-KU, SAITAMA-SHI, SAITAMA, 337-8570, JAPAN

Email address: hoya@shibaura-it.ac.jp